

Bangor University

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Behavioural and neural mechanisms of motor sequence learning by observation

Apsvalka, Dace

Award date: 2017

Awarding institution: Bangor University

Link to publication

General rights Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



Behavioural and neural mechanisms of motor sequence learning by observation

Dace Apšvalka

Thesis submitted to the School of Psychology, Bangor University, in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Bangor, Wales, United Kingdom 2017





SOCIAL BRAIN IN ACTION

To Peter Wendorff

Acknowledgements

Foremost, I would like to thank my supervisors, **Prof. Emily Cross** and **Dr Richard Ramsey**, for obtaining funding for the project and giving me the opportunity to undertake this PhD. Thank you for your support and guidance!

My acknowledgements to the **UK Ministry of Defence** for the funding and our technical partners **Andrew Green** and **Susan Sidey** for their support with the ethics applications.

Also, I thank my thesis committee chair **Prof. Rob Ward** for the valuable discussions and suggestions on the study designs. Special thanks also to my viva examiners **Dr Stefan Vogt** and **Dr David Carey**, and viva chair **Dr Paloma Mari-Beffa** for the surprisingly enjoyable three hours of in-depth discussion of my work (i.e. my examination) and their invaluable suggestions for further improvement of the study reports.

Moreover, I am grateful to the **Bangor University Psychology Department** staff and fellow students to whom I had a chance to present various stages of my work and who always gave helpful feedback. I am especially thankful to **Dr Paul Mullins** for his help with the fMRI setup and the occasional valuable discussions; to **Joshua Payne** for the tDCS training, and **Dr Kenneth Valyear** and **Dr Cosimo Urgesi** for the TMS training and support; and to **Paul Carter** for his invaluable help with the tedious and intense data collection for the tDCS study.

I also thank the **SoBA lab** members, interns, and undergraduate students for their help with the behavioural study. Especially, **Julie Shrieve** and **Laurel Fish** for the assistance with initial piloting, and **Diana Diaz Del Castillo, Justine Danielle Roscoe, Liam Woodford**, **Rachael Claire Cage**, and **Sara Samedzade-Jagini** for their hard and reliable work on the final data collection.

Huge thanks also to all my **participants**, especially those involved in the multiple-day fMRI and tDCS studies. There were hardly any dropouts, and those few were only due to illness or special circumstances. Thank you so much for your interest, patience, and loyalty!

I am indebted to my friends **Peter** and **Jörg** for the thorough proofreading of the thesis chapters. If there are still any typos left, I made them after they did their job.

The 'nonsense' Skype chats with my **Latvian geocaching friends** kept me sane throughout the most difficult phases of the thesis process. Thank you, guys, for being there and for keeping me in the group!

My family has always respected my desire for freedom and independence, never putting any demands, limitations or expectations on me. It has hugely helped me to become what I am and what I want to be, including getting a PhD in brain research. Thank you for putting up with me and for supporting me in any way possible!

Finally, my deepest gratitude to my partner **Peter** who has been most supportive in any imaginable way. Not only his emotional support and his care for my wellbeing but moreover his interest in my research coupled with an idealistic view of science contributed to the good mix of encouragement and challenge which I enjoyed during my PhD. I devote this thesis to you, Peter!

Cambridge (UK), December 8, 2017.

х

Summary

Learning by observation is a natural way of acquiring new skills. Previous research suggests that physical and observational training share a similar neural basis. However, it remains poorly understood to what extent observational training affects neural representations of the acquired skill and what factors influence the training effect. Employing a keypress sequence learning paradigm and brain imaging, brain stimulation, and behavioural methods we investigated three parallel questions to help to provide a more comprehensive and integrative perspective on motor skill learning through observation and how it compares to previous findings on learning by doing. In Study 1 (Chapter 2) we investigated whether action observation establishes movement-sequence-specific neural representations that become more distinct with observational practice as reported in a previous physical practice study. In Study 2 (Chapter 3) we investigated whether non-invasive brain stimulation could facilitate observational practice effects, as stated for learning through physical practice. Finally, in Study 3 (Chapter 4) we examined whether individual differences in learning through observation could be explained by the same cognitive abilities and personality characteristics as in learning by physical practice. Overall, across the three studies, we found that same as physical practice, the observational practice provides behavioural benefits on motor skill acquisition. Furthermore, same as physical performance, action observation establishes distinct sequence-specific activity patterns in premotor and parietal brain areas. However, unlike following the physical practice, the sequence-specific activity patterns did not become more specialised following observational practice. Moreover, unlike with physical practice, anodal transcranial direct current stimulation over primary motor cortex during observational practice provided no benefits for motor skill acquisition through observation. Also, it appears that cognitive processes play a different role in learning by observation than in learning by doing. Perhaps although deliberate cognitive processes are involved in observational learning, the limited aspect of hypothesis-testing makes observational learning itself more implicit than explicit in its nature.

Contents

CHAPTE	R 1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	BEHAVIOURAL EVIDENCE FOR MOTOR SKILL LEARNING BY OBSERVATION	3
1.2	MECHANISMS UNDERLYING THE ABILITY TO LEARN BY OBSERVATION	5
1.2	2.1 Internal action representations	5
1.2	<i>Building new action representations through practice</i>	8
1.3	OUTSTANDING QUESTIONS AND THESIS OVERVIEW	9
1.3	3.1 Specificity of the 'inner representations' of observed actions (Study 1)	
1.3	<i>Feasibility of brain stimulation to facilitate observational learning (Study 2)</i>	
1.3	8.3 Individual differences in learning by observation (Study 3)	
1.3	8.4 Motor skill learning paradigm	
1.3	8.5 Thesis overview	
CUADTE		
OPSERV		10
OBSERV	ATIONAL PRACTICE EFFECTS ON BRAIN ACTIVITY AND CONNECTIVITY	13
2.1	INTRODUCTION	13
2.2	Метнор	15
2.2	P.1 Participants	15
2.2	2.2 Stimuli	16
	Keypress sequences	16
	Videos	16
	Sequence execution trial	17
	Sequence observation trial	
2.2	2.3 Procedure	17
	Pre- and post-training sessions	
	Observational training sessions	
	Scanning sessions.	
2.2	2.4 Scan acquisition	20
	Functional scans	20
2 3		21
2.2	Observational training effect on sequence-specific learning	21
	Rehavioural performance	21
	Imaging data	
	Univariate analysis	23
	Region of interest (ROI) definition	23
	Psycho-physiological interaction analysis	25
	Multi-voxel-pattern analysis	25

	2.2.6	Data sharing	8
2.3	B RESUL	TS	8
	2.3.1	Performance improvement	8
	2.3.2	Frontoparietal activation during action observation	9
	2.3.3	Frontoparietal activity decrease	1
	2.3.4	PPI results: Strengthened coupling with a contralateral parietal operculum	1
	2.3.5	MVPA results: Sequence-specific representations of observed actions	2
	ROI re	sults	2
	Surfac	e-based searchlight results	3
2.4	Discu	SSION	7
	2.4.1	Observational practice facilitates motor skill learning	7
	2.4.2	Practice-related brain activity decrease and functional connectivity increase imply more efficient	-
	neural p	rocessing3	7
	2.4.3	Movement-sequence-specific representations of observed actions	9
	2.4.4	Conclusions	2
	TED 2 AN		
мот			E
WOI	JK JEQU		2
3.1	INTRO	DUCTION	5
3.2	2 Meth	OD	7
	3.2.1	Participants	7
	3.2.2	Stimuli and procedure	7
	Testin	g sessions4	8
	Obser	vational training sessions4	9
	3.2.3	Motor cortex stimulation	9
	Right	M1 localisation4	9
	Stimu	lation parameters5	D
	Sensa	tions questionnaire5	1
	3.2.4	Data analysis	1
3.3	B RESUL	тѕ 5	2
	3.3.1	Group characteristics and sensations during training sessions	2
	3.3.2	Accuracy during training sessions	5
	3.3.3	Observational training effects on sequence-specific learning	7
	3.3.4	tDCS effects on sequence-specific learning by observation5	7
	Prima	ry analysis5	7
	Secon	dary analysis: accounting for error detection accuracy5	8
3.4	Discu	SSION	Э
	3.4.1	M1 may not be critically involved in motor sequence learning by observation	0
	3.4.2	Inter- and intra-subject variability in cortical excitability	1

	3.4.3	Not the right measure of effect	. 62
	3.4.4	Not an optimal stimulation protocol	. 62
	3.4.5	Stimulation-related sensation and perception differences	. 62
	3.4.6	Stimulation-related interference on untrained sequence initiation time	. 63
	3.4.7	Conclusions	. 63
CHAI	PTER 4 FL	UID INTELLIGENCE AND WORKING MEMORY SUPPORT LEARNING BY PHYSICAL BUT NOT BY	
OBSE	RVATIO	NAL PRACTICE	.65
Л	1 INITRC		65
ч. Л	2 Меть		. 65
4.	л о 1	Particinants	. 00
	4.2.1	Magguras of individual differences	.00 60
	4.2.2	intelligence and working memory	. 00
	Perso		08
	423	Stimuli and procedure	
	424	Analysis	70
	Meas	ure of the training effect on sequence-specific learning	70
	Data	cleaning	70
	Нуро	thesis testing	71
	Explo	ratory analysis	71
4.	3 Resu		. 72
	4.3.1	Group characteristics	. 72
	4.3.2	Training effect on sequence-specific learning	. 73
	4.3.3	Fluid intelligence and working memory as predictors of the training effects	. 74
	Prima	ry analysis: sequence-specific learning	74
	Secor	ndary analysis: general skill learning	75
	4.3.4	Personality measures as additional predictors of the training effects	. 76
	Prima	ry analysis: sequence-specific learning	76
	Secor	ndary analysis: general skill learning	77
	4.3.5	Working memory predicts general skill learning but not sequence-specific learning in the PP	
	group	79	
	4.3.6	Fluid intelligence and working memory as predictors of perceptual improvements	. 79
4.	4 Discu	ISSION	.81
	4.4.1	Individual differences in physical practice effects on skill acquisition	. 81
	4.4.2	Individual differences in observational practice effects on skill acquisition	. 83
	4.4.3	Conclusions	. 85
СНАІ	PTER 5 G	ENERAL DISCUSSION	.87
E	1 <u>Acus</u>		۶Q
э.	1 ASUN	Specificity of internal action representations	.0/ 07
	J. I. I	specificity of internal action representations	.0/

5.	.1.2	Feasibility of non-invasive brain stimulation to facilitate observational practice effects	88
5.	.1.3	Individual differences in learning through observation	89
5.2	OBSE	RVATIONAL PRACTICE FACILITATES MOTOR SKILL ACQUISITION	89
5.3	Role	OF COGNITIVE PROCESSES IN LEARNING THROUGH OBSERVATION	91
5.4	LIMIT	ATIONS	93
5.	.4.1	Lack of physical practice groups/conditions in Study 1 and Study 2	93
5.	.4.2	Differences between physical and observational practice conditions	94
	Perfo	rmance feedback during physical practice	.94
	An ad	ditional task during observational practice	.95
5.	.4.3	Model's performance speed	95
5.5	CONC	LUSIONS	96
REFERE	NCES.		97
REFERE	NCES.	1	97 25
REFERE APPENI	NCES.		97 25
REFERE APPENI Appe	NCES. DICES. NDIX 3.	1 Experimental procedure	97 25 26
REFERE APPENI Appe Appe	NCES. DICES. NDIX 3. NDIX 3.	1 Experimental procedure	97 25 26
REFERE APPENI APPE APPE APPE	NCES. DICES. NDIX 3. NDIX 3. NDIX 3.	1 Experimental procedure	97 25 26 27 28
REFERE АРРЕМІ АРРЕ АРРЕ АРРЕ	NCES. DICES. NDIX 3. NDIX 3. NDIX 3. NDIX 4.	1 Experimental procedure	97 25 26 27 28 29
REFERE APPENI APPE APPE APPE APPE APPE	NCES. DICES. NDIX 3. NDIX 3. NDIX 3. NDIX 4.	1 Experimental procedure 1 2 Results without and with the nine non-TMS localised participants 1 3 TDCS sensations questionnaire 1 1 Model rankings 1 2 Fluid intelligence and working memory as predictors of perceptual improvements (from run 1 to	97 25 26 27 28 29
REFERE APPENI APPE APPE APPE APPE RUN 4	NCES. DICES. NDIX 3. NDIX 3. NDIX 3. NDIX 4. NDIX 4. 4)	1 Experimental procedure 1 2 Results without and with the nine non-TMS localised participants 1 3 TDCS sensations questionnaire 1 1 Model rankings 1 2 Fluid intelligence and working memory as predictors of perceptual improvements (from run 1 to 1	 97 25 26 27 28 29 30
REFERE APPENI APPE APPE APPE APPE RUN 4 APPE	NCES. DICES. NDIX 3. NDIX 3. NDIX 3. NDIX 4. NDIX 4. NDIX 4.	1 Experimental procedure 1 2 Results without and with the nine non-TMS localised participants 1 3 TDCS sensations questionnaire 1 1 Model rankings 1 2 Fluid intelligence and working memory as predictors of perceptual improvements (from run 1 to 1 3 Raw scatter plots of sequence-specific learning versus fluid intelligence/working memory for OP	97 25 26 27 28 29 30

List of Tables

Table 2.1. Activated brain regions when watching sequences before the training
Table 2.2. Brain regions showing lower activity for trained compared to untrained sequences post-training31
Table 2.3. Brain regions showing increased functional connectivity 32
Table 2.4. Sequence-specific coding in ROIs 33
Table 2.5. Brain regions showing sequence-specific coding for post-Trained + post-Untrained conditions34
Table 3.1 Group characteristics and self-reported sensations during training sessions.
Table 3.2 Frequencies of self-reported sensations during the training sessions.
Table 3.3. Observational practice effects and tDCS effects on sequence-specific learning.
Table 4.1 Group characteristics 73
Table 4.2. Regression analysis summary of sequence-specific training effects.
Table 4.3. Regression analysis summary of general skill learning
Table 4.4. The winning models for sequence-specific learning
Table 4.5. The winning models for general skill learning. 77
Table 4.6. OP group perceptual improvement (from run 2 to run 4) regression analysis summary

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Experimental paradigm20
Figure 2.2. ROI definition procedure
Figure 2.3. Behavioural results
Figure 2.4. Univariate results
Figure 2.5. Surface-based searchlight results
Figure 2.6. ROI analysis results
Figure 3.1 Experimental procedure
Figure 3.2. The 4-day average values of self-reported sensations during the training sessions
Figure 3.3. Performance results
Figure 4.1 Training effect on sequence-specific learning73
Figure 4.2. An integrated visualisation of relationships among the involved measures
Figure 4.3. Simple correlations between the variables78
Figure 4.4. Error detection accuracy and perceptual improvement predictors81
Figure 5.1 Observational training effect on sequence-specific learning across the three studies91

List of Abbreviations

aIPL	anterior inferior parietal lobule
ANCOVA	analysis of covariance
BIC	Bayesian information criterion
BOLD	blood-oxygenation-level-dependent
CI	confidence interval
ET	execution time
fMRI	functional magnetic resonance imaging
FWE	familywise error
FWHM	full width at half maximum
GLM	general linear model
HRF	haemodynamic response function
IRI	Interpersonal reactivity index questionnaire
LDA	linear discriminant analysis
LDC	linear discriminant contrast
LTP	long-term potentiation
M1	primary motor cortex
MNI	Montreal Neurological Institute
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
MVPA	multivariate pattern analysis
NPI	Narcissistic personality inventory
ОР	observational practice
PP	physical practice
PPI	psycho-physiological interaction
ROI	region of interest
SPM	statistical parametric mapping
tDCS	transcranial direct current stimulation
TMS	transcranial magnetic stimulation

CHAPTER 1

General introduction

If you happen to be in Cambridge on a lovely sunny day, what could be better than punting¹ on the river Cam? So I thought, and for the first time hired a punt to take my visiting family on a punting tour. This cannot be difficult, I thought and grabbed the long punting pole, just to discover how heavy and difficult to handle it is, and that I am utterly unable to navigate the boat in a straight line. Seeing another novice punter fall into the river ended my illusion that this would be an easy task. *"Punting is not as easy as it looks . . . it takes long practice before you can do this with dignity"*, wrote Jerome K. Jerome in his novel *Three Men in a Boat* (1889). I could not agree more. Slightly ashamed, I was determined to put in some serious practice before leading a punting tour again.

A good way to start was to watch expert punters: how smoothly they handle the pole and navigate the boat with ease. I had watched punters before, prior to my own embarrassing punting attempt. However, now that I had first-hand experience and understanding of the basic movements and challenges involved in this deceptively difficult task, I could much better relate to the actions I watched the expert punters perform. And, importantly, now my intention was not just to appreciate the experts' skill, but to watch and learn the skill myself. Instead of watching expert punters, I surely could have just carried on with a trial and error approach to improve my boat navigation skills. However, although it was clear I would not



¹ A punt is a flat-bottomed boat used in shallow waters. The punter propels the punt by pushing against the river bed with a 4-5 m long and about 5 kg heavy pole. Originally used as cargo boats, nowadays pleasure punting is one of the most popular tourist attractions in Cambridge.

reach an expert level of punting performance by watching alone, this observational experience definitely accelerated my learning. With an action plan in mind and knowing what to expect if, for example, I put the pole too far from the boat or push it too hard into the riverbed, I was well prepared for my next punting tour.

What this example illustrates, and what human beings have discovered on their own terms throughout history is that throughout our lives, we learn by watching others. Without this ability, skill development would be vastly tedious and often harmful. Learning by observation is a natural and powerful way of knowledge transfer (Bandura, 2004). It provides more effective and efficient means of skill acquisition than learning by doing alone (Gog, Paas, Marcus, Ayres, & Sweller, 2008; van Merriënboer & Sweller, 2005; Paas, Renkl, & Sweller, 2003) and works better than verbal instructions only (Al-Abood, Davids, & Bennett, 2001; Annett, 1996), as words cannot describe precisely enough essential aspects of human behaviour. Overall, observation accelerates skill learning, reducing the time needed to learn by doing.

Although extensively studied, the exact mechanisms of the ability to learn by observation are still to be established. In the context of motor skill learning, prior research suggests that action observation generates internal representations of the motor programs required to perform the action (for reviews, see Gentsch, Weber, Synofzik, Vosgerau, & Schütz-Bosbach, 2016; Rizzolatti & Sinigaglia, 2010). Such representations enable us to learn new motor skills by just watching others, without overt physical practice (Mattar & Gribble, 2005). However, it remains poorly understood how specialised the established representations are and what factors influence observational practice effects.

This thesis aims to investigate the behavioural and neural mechanisms of motor skill learning by observation, specifically focusing on motor sequence acquisition. The thesis examines three parallel questions: how specialised the internal representations of the observed actions are and how they change with observational practice (Chapter 2), what the potential is to use non-invasive brain stimulation to facilitate observational practice effects (Chapter 3), and whether individual differences in learning by observation are explained by the same cognitive abilities and personality characteristics as in learning by physical practice (Chapter 4). Answering these questions will help to provide a more comprehensive and integrative view on motor skill learning by observation and how it compares to learning by doing.

Before moving on to the main research questions, the rest of this chapter will provide an overview of the evidence for positive effects of motor skill learning by observation, summarise the current understanding of the mechanisms underlying the ability to learn by observation, detail the motor sequence learning paradigm employed in the thesis, and conclude with a thesis outline.

1.1 Behavioural evidence for motor skill learning by observation

Performance benefits of motor skill learning by observation have been reported in a wide variety of areas, such as sports (for reviews, see Lago-Rodríguez & Cheeran, 2014; Maslovat, Hayes, Horn, & Hodges, 2010a), guitar playing (Gardner, Aglinskas, & Cross, 2017; Higuchi, Holle, Roberts, Eickhoff, & Vogt, 2012), dancing (Kirsch & Cross, 2015; Kirsch, Drommelschmidt, & Cross, 2013), medicine (for a review see, Cordovani & Cordovani, 2015), and physical rehabilitation (for reviews, see Buccino, 2014; Caligiore, Mustile, Spalletta, & Baldassarre, 2017; Nakano & Kodama, 2017; Yutaka, 2013). Furthermore, various aspects of motor skills can be learned by observation, including temporal (Blandin, Lhuisset, & Proteau, 1999; Rohbanfard & Proteau, 2013) and spatio-temporal (Vogt, 1995) dynamics, force dynamics (Mattar & Gribble, 2005), coordination (Hayes, Hodges, Scott, Horn, & Williams, 2006; Maslovat, Hodges, Krigolson, & Handy, 2010b), and sequencing (Bird & Heyes, 2005; Boutin, Fries, Panzer, Shea, & Blandin, 2010; Frey & Gerry, 2006; Heyes & Foster, 2002).

In a meta-analysis study Ashford, Bennett, and Davids (2006) concluded that learning by observation is the most beneficial for skills that involve serial movements, but less so for skills with continuous or discrete movements. According to skill classification (Schmidt & Lee, 2011), discrete movements have a defined beginning and end (e.g., kicking a ball), continuous movements continue until stopped arbitrarily (e.g., swimming), serial movements contain a series of different discrete movements chained together in a defined order (and sometimes timing; e.g., gymnastics routine). Serial movement skills involve both performance of a single movement and coordination between multiple movements and are more complex and novel for a novice learner compared to discrete or continuous movements. Consequently, observing a model performer improves the familiarity with the serial task providing considerable improvements in skill performance, especially at early stages of learning (Ashford et al., 2006).

The early stage of learning corresponds to the cognitive stage of skill acquisition, according to the classic three-stage model by Fitts and Postner (1967). Within this stage, task goals are established, and an appropriate sequence of actions for meeting these goals is determined. As learning progresses, reliance on conscious cognitive processes transits through an associative, partly cognitive, stage to an autonomous stage which relies on automatic motor processing with little cognitive involvement. It is suggested that learning by observation primarily supports the cognitive stage of learning and therefore is more efficient for tasks involving strategic knowledge (Blandin & Proteau, 2000; Blandin et al., 1999; Hodges, 2017), explaining the more beneficial effects for serial movement tasks. Nevertheless, although likely to a smaller extent, evidence shows that learning by observation engages not only cognitive, but also motor processes of the observer and skill learning can extend beyond just the cognitive stage.

For example, in three observational training studies, observers showed a positive effect of a keypress sequence learning only if in the post-training test they performed the sequence with the same fingers as they had seen the model performing it (Bird & Heyes, 2005; Heyes & Foster, 2002; Osman, Bird, & Heyes, 2005). This effect indicates that observers did not merely learn the sequence structure, but learning was effector-specific. Effector-specific learning is regarded as evidence for motor process involvement and true motor learning (as opposed to cognitive learning; Hikosaka, Nakamura, Sakai, & Nakahara, 2002). More evidence of motor learning by observation was provided by Mattar and Gribble (2005). In their study participants performed a mental arithmetic task and simultaneously observed another person learning accurate arm movements in a novel force environment. Observers successfully learned to move in the novel environment despite their attention being engaged with the cognitively demanding arithmetic task during observational practice. The authors argued that the positive effect of observation was not due to the conscious formation of movement strategies, but due to implicit engagement of motor systems during observational practice. These studies suggest that learning by observation engages (or can engage) not only cognitive but also motor processes leading to true motor learning.

Overall, there is ample evidence for positive effects of motor skill learning by observation (for reviews, see also Hodges, 2017; Lago-Rodríguez & Cheeran, 2014; Vogt & Thomaschke, 2007), however exact mechanisms underlying these effects are still to be established. The next section provides an overview of some of the current theories aiming to explain the mechanisms that make learning by observation possible.

1.2 Mechanisms underlying the ability to learn by observation

An idea of an intrinsic link between perception and action dates back already to the very first psychology textbook. There William James, describing his ideomotor theory of action wrote: *"every mental representation of a movement awakens to some degree the actual movement which is its object"* (James, 1890, p. 526). Then speculation, nowadays the notion of shared mechanisms between perception and action is receiving increasing empirical support. While there is an ongoing debate about the exact nature of the perception-action link and which aspects of the motor hierarchy action perception involves (Giese & Rizzolatti, 2015; Grafton & Hamilton, 2007; Rizzolatti, Cattaneo, Fabbri-Destro, & Rozzi, 2014), a general consensus is that perception and action are intrinsically related (Gentsch et al., 2016). When perceiving an action (e.g., by observing, imagining, or hearing), an internal representation of the action is formed similar to the one instrumental in its execution (Jeannerod, 1994; Prinz, 1997). It is believed that because of such representations, new motor skills can be learned just by watching others, without overt physical practice (Mattar & Gribble, 2005). Various theories have been proposed to explain the nature of the internal action representations and how they support motor skill learning.

1.2.1 Internal action representations

Early explanations of how the observed visual information transforms into motor behaviour (visuo-motor transformation) were based on the ideas of cognitive representations (Carroll & Bandura, 1982; Sheffield, 1961). It was suggested that the perceived information is mentally rehearsed providing a "blueprint" to guide novel behaviour and that the formed cognitive representation serves as a mediator between perception and action. The cognitive representation theories, specifically Albert Bandura's social learning theory and social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1977, 1986), dominated the observational learning literature from the 1970s through to the 1990s. However, these theories were more focused on the aspects of social learning and lacked specificity in their attempts to explain how the observed movement features are encoded in the brain to support motor skill learning.

In the 1990s, a discovery of so-called "mirror neurons" started a new era in theories of the perception-action link. The name "mirror neurons" was used to describe a newly discovered class of neurons that fire both when an action is performed and when the same or similar action is observed. They were first discovered in the ventral premotor (area F5) and inferior parietal (area PFG) brain areas of macaque monkeys (Gallese, Fadiga, Fogassi, & Rizzolatti,

1996; di Pellegrino, Fadiga, Fogassi, Gallese, & Rizzolatti, 1992; Rizzolatti, Fadiga, Gallese, & Fogassi, 1996). Mirror neurons, for the first time, provided direct evidence of shared neural mechanisms between action perception and performance.

Similar perception-action mirroring mechanisms have also been confirmed in humans, however mainly by indirect measures. To our knowledge, only one study has reported direct evidence of human mirror neurons. Single-neuron responses were recorded in patients undergoing surgical treatment of epilepsy (Mukamel, Ekstrom, Kaplan, Iacoboni, & Fried, 2010). Neuronal extracellular activity was acquired from medial frontal, anterior cingulate, amygdala, and medial temporal lobe regions (defined by clinical criteria) while patients watched or performed grasping actions and facial expressions. Populations of neurons in the supplementary motor area and medial temporal lobe regions responded both during action observation and execution conditions, likely reflecting mirroring mechanisms related to movement planning and memory of the action.

Nevertheless, in human studies, there is growing indirect evidence from neurophysiology and brain imaging studies that action perception and performance share common neural networks and mechanisms (for reviews, see Iacoboni & Dapretto, 2006; Kilner & Lemon, 2013; Rizzolatti & Craighero, 2004; Rizzolatti & Sinigaglia, 2010). A meta-analysis of brain imaging studies have uncovered widespread brain areas that are activated both during action perception and performance (Hardwick, Caspers, Eickhoff, & Swinnen, 2017; Molenberghs, Cunnington, & Mattingley, 2012), including inferior frontal gyrus and inferior parietal lobule (likely homologous to macaque areas F5 and PFG where the mirror neurons were first discovered; Rizzolatti & Craighero, 2004).

The discovery of mirror neurons encouraged ideas of a direct motor system activation during action observation. The so-called "direct matching hypothesis" (Iacoboni et al., 1999) suggested that motor representations of perceived actions can be formed directly, without a cognitive representation as a mediator. In other words, it was proposed that action observation evoke direct internal simulation (motor resonance) of the observed action without conceptual reasoning about it (Gallese, Keysers, & Rizzolatti, 2004). However, although, motor systems are indeed activated during action observation, their activations are likely not as direct as initially thought. It is postulated that action, perception, and cognition are closely interrelated processes that work together to form action-perception circuits (Pulvermüller, Moseley, Egorova, Shebani, & Boulenger, 2013). Furthermore, the internal representations of perceived actions span across different levels of the motor hierarchy, from a highly abstract level of action intentions to action kinematics (Grafton & Hamilton, 2007; Preston & de Waal, 2001).

Importantly, motor representations of the perceived actions are evoked only if the particular action is in the observer's own motor repertoire (Giese & Rizzolatti, 2015). Brain imaging studies support this view showing that activity in the sensorimotor brain regions is positively related to the familiarity with the observed action (Buccino et al., 2004; Calvo-Merino, Glaser, Grèzes, Passingham, & Haggard, 2005; Cross, Hamilton, & Grafton, 2006; Gardner, Goulden, & Cross, 2015; Kirsch & Cross, 2015). Related to this is the idea that mirror neurons (and mirroring mechanisms more generally) are the product of learned sensorimotor associations (Burgess, Lum, Hohwy, & Enticott, 2017; Catmur, Press, & Heyes, 2016; Cook, Bird, Catmur, Press, & Heyes, 2014; Heyes, 2010; Keysers & Gazzola, 2014; Press, Heyes, & Kilner, 2011). Such associations are developed, for example, when we see our own actions or when we are imitated. Subsequently, the correlated activation of sensory and motor neurons bind them together through a Hebbian-like learning mechanism (stronger synaptic connection between neurons that fire at approximately the same time) producing a mirror neuron system in the brain (Keysers & Perrett, 2004).

The learned sensory-motor associations enable us to understand the actions of others (Press et al., 2011). Specifically, when perceiving an action, the prior action experience generates a prediction of the action goals, the subsequent movement patterns and their sensory consequences (predictive coding account; Friston, Mattout, & Kilner, 2011; Kilner, Friston, & Frith, 2007; for reviews on other theories see Gentsch et al., 2016; Giese & Rizzolatti, 2015). Thus, the motor representations of the observed actions (the mirroring mechanisms) reflect the hypothesised (predicted) proprioceptive and exteroceptive consequences of those actions. Such predictions are a natural way of preventing surprising events, understanding others' intentions, and being prepared for adequate responses to the changing environment.

The internal representations of the observed actions enable us to relate to other persons' actions not just through conceptual reasoning but also through sensorimotor resonance which is based on our own motor experience. Moreover, the internal action representations (both cognitive and motor) may support new motor skill acquisition by observation in a similar way as when learning by physical practice.

1.2.2 Building new action representations through practice

A popular view is that the central nervous system uses internal inverse (sensory-to-motor) and forward (motor-to-sensory) models for motor planning, control, and learning (Wolpert, Ghahramani, & Jordan, 1995; Wolpert, Ghahramani, & Flanagan, 2001). The inverse model (the controller) creates a motor plan for achieving a desired sensory state (e.g., ride a bike), while the forward model (the predictor) predicts potential sensory consequences of the actual motor behaviour (e.g., falling off the bike). The actual sensory consequences are then compared with the predicted ones, as a form of hypothesis testing, and the prediction error is used to update the motor commands for the next sensory-motor-sensory feedback loop. As learning progresses, less corrective action is necessary resulting in more accurate, smoother and faster movements.

Brain imaging studies demonstrate that motor-skill learning lead to changes in brain activity both regarding the expansion and the strength of cortical activation (for reviews, see Dayan & Cohen, 2011; Hardwick, Rottschy, Miall, & Eickhoff, 2013; Kelly & Garavan, 2005; Penhune & Steele, 2012; Poldrack, 2000). Depending on the task domain, the involvement of cognitive processes, learning stage and number of other factors, studies report both increase and decrease in brain activity. A general consensus is that motor skill acquisition leads to more specialised and more efficient neural processing (Bassett, Yang, Wymbs, & Grafton, 2015; Diedrichsen & Kornysheva, 2015; Kelly & Garavan, 2005) with individual movement elements bound together in a unified representation (Diedrichsen & Kornysheva, 2015; Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013). Processing individual action elements as a single action unit (chunk) reduces the cognitive demand and facilitates fast action initiation and smooth execution (Diedrichsen & Kornysheva, 2015; Rhodes, Bullock, Verwey, Averbeck, & Page, 2004; Sakai, Hikosaka, & Nakamura, 2004; Solopchuk, Alamia, Olivier, & Zénon, 2016; Verwey & Abrahamse, 2012).

It is proposed that motor skill learning by observation is similarly supported by the internal inverse and forward models like learning through physical practice (Flanagan, Vetter, Johansson, & Wolpert, 2003; Friston et al., 2011; Iacoboni, 2005; Oztop, Kawato, & Arbib, 2006). If none of the movements that constitute the observed action is in the observer's motor repertoire, then action perception would be based solely on visual analysis of the action elements (Buccino et al., 2004). However, in many cases, new motor skills are a novel combination of some basic movements that already are in an observer's motor repertoire but

require novel sequencing, timing, and coordination. If the basic movements are in the observer's motor repertoire, then action observation can evoke motor resonance thus activating processes based on internal inverse and forward models of motor learning (Flanagan & Johansson, 2003). The internal action representations provide a 'raw material' for higher order supervisory processes needed for the development of new action representations through observation (Hamilton, 2015; Sakreida et al., 2017).

When observing a novel action performed by an actor, the observer's internal inverse model generates representations of the motor commands that would be used to perform the observed action (the motor resonance of the observed action). The internal forward model then is used to predict the forthcoming movements of the actor. Subsequently, the predicted movements are compared with the actual movements of the actor, updating the corresponding motor representations of the seen action (Oztop et al., 2006).

It is plausible to think that, learning by observation would generate increasingly accurate and specialised neural representation of the action like in learning through physical practice. To our knowledge, no reports yet exist of more specialised action representations following observational practice (we address this question in Study 1). Nevertheless, brain imaging studies show that as in motor skill learning through physical practice, observational practice too leads to similar changes in brain activity (e.g., Cross, Kraemer, Hamilton, Kelley, & Grafton, 2009; Frey & Gerry, 2006; Higuchi et al., 2012) and connectivity (e.g., van der Helden, van Schie, & Rombouts, 2010; Higuchi et al., 2012) indicating higher neural efficiency following observational practice.

Overall, previous research shows that mechanisms that underlie the ability to learn by observation are supposedly similar to the mechanisms of learning through physical practice. Action observation and action execution share common neural representations both at the cognitive and at the motor levels. Internal representations of the observed actions enable us to learn by watching as if we were doing the action ourselves, by continuously updating the motor plans to meet the desired sensory states.

1.3 Outstanding questions and thesis overview

The presumption that learning through observation and physical practice involves similar mechanisms and processes raises several unexplored questions. This thesis addresses three of them attempting to provide a more comprehensive and integrative perspective on motor skill learning through observation and how it compares to learning by doing.

1.3.1 Specificity of the 'inner representations' of observed actions (Study 1)

An essential aspect of many motor skills is movement sequencing, and skilled performance is characterised by a smooth execution of distinct actions. Think of a piano performance, for example. As learning progresses, initial distinct key-presses transform into a smooth well-coordinated melody. Evidence shows that, at a neuronal level, sequential movements group into unified action representations that become more specialised with physical practice (Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013). The emergence of such skilled action representations enables more efficient neuronal processing and production of the desired behaviour (Diedrichsen & Kornysheva, 2015).

Regarding representations of observed actions, previous studies have discriminated between various action features. There are reports of effector-specific representations (with actions involving different body parts, e.g., hand, leg, mouth, showing roughly somatotopic activation; see, for a review, Fernandino & Iacoboni, 2010); goal-specific representations (e.g., lifting or punching an object; Jastorff et al., 2010; Oosterhof et al., 2010, 2012); viewpoint-specific representations (first-person or third-person; Oosterhof et al., 2012); action-specific representations (rock, paper, or scissors; Dinstein et al., 2008); motor hierarchy-specific representations (showing different representations for kinematic, goal and outcome features, as summarised in Grafton & Hamilton, 2007). However, to our knowledge, no reports yet exist on whether observing actions that involve sequential movements evoke sequence-specific neuronal representations of the actions and whether the representations become more specialised with observational practice. We address this question in the Study 1 (Chapter 2). Specifically, we investigate whether keypress sequence observation establishes sequence-specific representations that become more specialised with observational practice, similar to physically performed and practised actions reported before (Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013).

1.3.2 Feasibility of brain stimulation to facilitate observational learning (Study 2)

It is acknowledged that motor learning increases excitability of the primary motor cortex (M1) and strengthens synaptic connections within M1 through long-term potentiation (LTP)like mechanisms (Rioult-Pedotti, Friedman, & Donoghue, 2000; Sanes & Donoghue, 2000; Spampinato & Celnik, 2017). Non-invasive anodal transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) of the M1 is thought to induce similar effects on neuronal excitability (Nitsche & Paulus, 2000; Nitsche et al., 2008) and may facilitate motor practice effects. Indeed, several previous studies show that anodal tDCS of the M1 during physical practice promotes motor skill acquisition (for reviews, see Ammann, Spampinato, & Márquez-Ruiz, 2016; Buch et al., 2016; Hashemirad, Zoghi, Fitzgerald, & Jaberzadeh, 2016; Reis & Fritsch, 2011). Previous studies show that M1 is also engaged during action observation (Celnik et al., 2006; Stefan, 2005). However, an unexplored question is whether anodal tDCS of the M1 could promote motor skill acquisition through observation. Thus, in the thesis Study 2 (Chapter 3) we investigate whether anodal tDCS over M1 facilitates motor skill acquisition by observation, as previously reported for learning through physical practice.

1.3.3 Individual differences in learning by observation (Study 3)

People vary greatly in their ability to acquire new motor skills. For example, extensive evidence shows that motor skill acquisition through physical practice is related to working memory and fluid intelligence (Bo & Seidler, 2009; Christou, Miall, McNab, & Galea, 2016; Gebauer & Mackintosh, 2007; Janacsek & Nemeth, 2013; Maxwell, Masters, & Eves, 2003; Reber, Walkenfeld, & Hernstadt, 1991; Unsworth & Engle, 2005). However, little is known about individual differences in motor skill acquisition through observation. The involvement of shared mechanisms and processes in learning through physical or observational practice raises the question whether the same cognitive abilities can explain individual differences in both types of skill acquisition. We examine this question in the thesis Study 3 (Chapter 4) asking whether the same cognitive abilities and personality characteristics may explain individual differences in learning by observation and learning by doing.

1.3.4 Motor skill learning paradigm

Keypress sequencing is a commonly used task to study motor skill learning in experimental settings, and it is also used in the present thesis. In the three studies included in the thesis, we use a keypress sequence learning paradigm adapted from the physical practice study by Wiestler and Diedrichsen (2013). The paradigm requires participants to learn five-element continuous keypress sequences performed with a left (non-dominant) hand. Within each sequence, the five fingers of the left hand are pressed once but in a different order. Thus, the paradigm involves multi-finger movements and entails learning not only the sequence order but also transitions between sequential finger presses dynamically linking distinct movements into one continuous action.

Details of the paradigm used in the current work are described in Section 2.2. Overall, the physical performance (pre-test and post-test phases in all studies) and physical practice (in

Study 3) phases in our studies correspond closely to the original Wiestler and Diedrichsen paradigm. However, the observational practice phase (in all studies) differs from the physical practice in several aspects. First, during observational practice participants do not perform the sequences themselves, but watch videos of a model's hand performing them. Second, while during physical practice participants continuously receive feedback on their performance speed and accuracy, such feedback is not provided during observational practice. Third, during observational practice participants had to engage in an additional task – spotting errors in the model's performance.

1.3.5 Thesis overview

Employing a keypress sequence learning paradigm and brain imaging, brain stimulation, and behavioural methods we investigate three parallel questions to help to provide a more comprehensive and integrative perspective on motor skill learning through observation and how it compares to previous findings on learning by doing.

In the Study 1 (Chapter 2) we investigate how specialised the 'inner representations' of the observed actions are and how they change with observational practice.

In the Study 2 (Chapter 3) we examine the feasibility of non-invasive brain stimulation to facilitate observational practice effects.

In the Study 3 (Chapter 4) we ask whether individual differences in learning by observation can be explained by the same cognitive abilities and personality characteristics as in learning through physical practice.

Finally (Chapter 5) we summarise and integrate the findings from all three studies to provide an integrative perspective on motor skill learning by observation and how it compares to learning by doing.

CHAPTER 2

Movement-sequence-specific representations of observed actions and observational practice effects on brain activity and connectivity

2.1 Introduction

When learning a motor skill, we benefit from watching a skilled performer. Several theories suggest that action observation engages an observer's own motor system by establishing internal representations of the motor programs required to perform the action (for reviews, see Gentsch et al., 2016; Rizzolatti & Sinigaglia, 2010). Because of such representations, we can learn new motor skills by just watching others, without overt physical practice (Mattar & Gribble, 2005). Evidence shows that observational practice modulates brain activity, likely indicating increased neural efficiency that facilitates subsequent skill performance (Cross et al., 2009; Frey & Gerry, 2006; Higuchi et al., 2012). However, brain activity changes alone tell little about the internal representations of the observed actions. It remains poorly understood how specialised the action representations are and how they change with observational practice to further facilitate skilled performance.

More research has investigated representations of physically performed and practised actions. Skilled actions, in general, are characterised by multiple movements linked into precise spatiotemporal arrangements to enable fast and fluent performance (Abrahamse, Ruitenberg, de Kleine, & Verwey, 2013; Lashley, 1951). Internal representations of the performed movement sequences involve multiple levels of motor hierarchy, from intentions to movement sequencing, to muscle commands (Diedrichsen & Kornysheva, 2015; Keele, Jennings, Jones, Caulton, & Cohen, 1995; Rizzolatti et al., 2014). Such representations are distributed throughout cortical and subcortical brain regions (Gallivan, Johnsrude, &

Flanagan, 2016; Grafton, Hazeltine, & Ivry, 1998; Kornysheva & Diedrichsen, 2014; Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013; Wiestler, Waters-Metenier, & Diedrichsen, 2014). Furthermore, internal representations of skilled actions are highly specialised. For example, execution of kinematically matched keypress sequences is associated with distinguishable, sequence-specific brain activity patterns in multiple frontoparietal brain areas (Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013). Moreover, the patterns become more distinct with physical practice, implying a more specialised neural representation of the learned sequence that enables its fast execution. To our knowledge, no reports yet exist of such highly specialised movementsequence-specific representations of observed actions.

Thus, the main aims of the present study were to investigate whether a mere observation of kinematically matched actions evokes movement-sequence-specific neural representations and whether they become more distinct with observational practice. In addition, to provide a more comprehensive view of the observational learning effects, we investigated behavioural improvement, and brain activity and functional connectivity changes following observational practice. We seek to better understand the specificity of neural representations of observed actions and the neural processes underlying motor skill learning by observation.

The investigation was based on the physical practice study by Wiestler and Diedrichsen (2013). For four days, participants watched videos of a hand performing four different keypress sequences. Before and after the four-day training, participants were tested on their behavioural performance and underwent functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). In the behavioural tests, participants performed the four trained (or to-be-trained) and four untrained sequences. During the fMRI sessions, participants watched videos of all eight (trained and untrained) sequences.

First, we assessed observational practice effects on behavioural performance, expecting better performance for the trained than for the untrained sequences. There is considerable evidence that motor skills can be learned by observation (for reviews, see Lago-Rodríguez & Cheeran, 2014; Vogt & Thomaschke, 2007). Second, we investigated differences in brain activity when watching trained compared to untrained sequences. The differences may indicate additional (activity increase) or more efficient (activity decrease) neural processing following practice (Poldrack, 2000). Processes underlying practice-related changes in brain activity further could be explained by interactions with functionally related regions, especially if the involved regions are subserving multiple functions (McIntosh, 1998). Thus, third, we used psycho-physiological interaction (PPI) analysis (Friston et al., 1997) to explore

functional connectivity within the involved networks when watching trained compared to untrained sequences. For example, functional connectivity analysis could help explain the brain activity differences in relation to perceptual, attentional, and motor processes. Finally, and most importantly, we used multi-voxel-pattern analysis (MVPA; Kriegeskorte, Mur, & Bandettini, 2008; Nili et al., 2014), to investigate whether action observation evokes distinguishable movement-sequence-specific neural representations that become more distinct with observational practice, similar to physically performed and practiced actions reported before (Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013). Highly specialised representations of observed actions could further explain the practice-related brain activity and connectivity changes and the subsequent skill learning by observation.

To summarise, in the present study for four days participants learned four keypress sequences by watching videos of others perform them. Participants' behavioural performance was measured before and after the observational practice. In addition, during pre- and post-training fMRI sessions, participants watched the four observationally trained and four untrained sequences. The aims of the study were (1) to assess whether observational practice facilitates sequence acquisition; (2) to assess the brain activity changes following observational practice; (3) to explore whether the brain activity changes could be related to changes in functional connectivity within task-specific brain regions following observational practice; (4) to investigate whether action observation evokes distinguishable movement-sequence-specific neural representations; (5) and, most importantly, to investigate whether movement-sequence-specific neural representations become more distinct with observational practice potentially explaining the practice-related brain activity and connectivity changes and the subsequent skill learning by observation.

2.2 Method

2.2.1 Participants

Eighteen right-handed (based on self-report) Bangor University student volunteers participated in the study. Two participants were not included in the final sample: a pilot participant, who did not have the same testing parameters, and a participant who made excessive head movements (> 4 mm) in one of the scanning sessions. The final sample comprised 16 participants (8 males and 8 females), 20 to 40 years old (M = 24.31 years, SD = 5.06). All participants had normal or corrected-to-normal vision and no history of neurological disorders. Participants gave their written informed consent and were paid £45 for their participation. All procedures were approved by the Ethics Committee of the School of Psychology at Bangor University (approval number: 2014-11824) and the UK Ministry of Defence Research Ethics Committee.

2.2.2 Stimuli

A keypress sequence learning paradigm was implemented, based on the task used by Wiestler and Diedrichsen (2013). We used a standard QWERTY black computer keyboard with the Q 3 4 5 and Y keys covered with red tape and all surrounding keys removed. In pre- and posttraining sessions, participants were required to press the red keys with the five fingers of their left hand in a specified order. During the observational training and fMRI sessions, participants watched videos of the experimenter performing the keypress task. For the video recordings, we used a similar keyboard with the only difference that the sides of the five keys were covered in yellow to improve the visibility of the key being pressed. Stimuli presentations and response recordings were performed using MATLAB 8.3.0 (The MathWorks, MA, USA) and Psychophysics Toolbox 3.0.12 (Brainard, 1997).

Keypress sequences

We used the same set of 12 five-element keypress sequences as previously by Wiestler and Diedrichsen (2013). Each sequence required the five fingers of the left hand to press once, but in a different order and with no more than three adjacent finger-presses in a row. All sequences were matched for difficulty, based on a pilot experiment (Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013). For each participant, from the set of 12 sequences, four sequences were randomly allocated to the Trained condition, and four others to the Untrained condition. The remaining four sequences were not used.

Videos

For observational training and both scanning sessions, 13-second videos were created showing the experimenter's left hand from a first-person perspective, slightly tilted to the right (see Figure 2.1A and <u>http://ej.uz/gitHubE2stimuli</u>). Each video showed the experimenter executing one sequence five times, with naturally varying breaks between each sequence repetition, to ensure a more authentic presentation of the performance. For the same reason, for each sequence, five different video versions were recorded, to allow closer to natural performance variation of the same sequence. An additional video version for each

sequence was created where one of the five sequence executions was incorrect. This resulted in 72 videos in total.

Sequences were executed at an intermediate baseline performance level, determined by behavioural pilot test results, where the average correct sequence execution at baseline was 2.29 seconds (N = 17, M = 2.29 s, SE = 0.14). Each original video, showing five repetitions of the same sequence, was slightly speeded up or slowed down (\pm 10%) to make it exactly 13 seconds long. Consequently, some authenticity was lost; however, the relative variability within the video remained intact, and the average single sequence execution in the videos was 2.3 seconds. The videos were presented on a computer monitor in full colour on a black background. The frame rate was 29 frames per second with a resolution of 600 x 526 pixels, showing approximately natural hand size.

Sequence execution trial

A sequence execution trial involved five continuous repetitions of the same sequence. Each trial started with a 5-digit cue (for 2.7 s), indicating the sequence of keypresses. The cue was then replaced with a cross, serving as a "go" signal to execute the given sequence five times as quickly and accurately as possible. After five executions of the same sequence, the trial ended, and the next sequence was cued.

Sequence observation trial

A sequence observation trial involved watching a video clip of an actor's left hand performing five continuous repetitions of the same sequence. A trial started with a 5-digit cue (for 2.6 s), indicating the sequence to be executed, followed by a video (13 s) showing five executions of the cued sequence. Participants were instructed to watch whether the hand executed the correct (cued) sequence all five times. After some of the trials, participants were asked whether there was an error in any of the five executions – the error question.

2.2.3 Procedure

Participants underwent six testing days over a seven-day period (six testing days and one day off in between; Figure 2.1A). On the first day of testing, participants received task instructions and completed three single sequence execution trials to ensure they understood the task. The familiarisation procedure was followed by a pre-training session, which was immediately followed by the first scanning session. The next two consecutive days were observational training sessions, which were followed by a day off (usually Sunday). After the rest day came another two consecutive days of observational training sessions. The last day (day 6) started with the second scanning session, immediately followed by a post-training session. Each session is described in more detail below.

Pre- and post-training sessions

In the pre- and post-training sessions participants performed four Trained and four Untrained sequence execution trials in a random order with their left hand. Each trial consisted of five repetitions of the same sequence (Figure 2.1B). All trial-related information was presented centrally at the bottom of the screen against a grey background. A trial started with a black fixation cross (0.2 s), followed by the sequence cue presented as five digits (2.7 s) that indicated from right to left which key to press: "1" – the right-most key pressed with the thumb; "5" – the left-most key pressed with the little finger. After the cue, the digits were replaced by the fixation cross and five black asterisks above it. This served as a "go" signal to execute the memorised sequence five times as quickly and accurately as possible. If the correct key was pressed, the corresponding asterisk on the screen turned green, if a wrong key was pressed, the asterisk turned red.

After executing a single sequence, the central fixation cross changed colour giving feedback on the performance (0.8 s): green – correct sequence execution; red – incorrect sequence execution; blue – correct, but executed 20% slower than the median execution time (ET) in the previous trials; three green asterisks – correct and executed 20% faster than the median ET in the previous trials. After this short feedback, all asterisks turned black signalling the start of the next execution trial. After five executions of the same sequence, the trial ended, and the next sequence was cued.

Observational training sessions

In the observational training sessions, participants watched videos of the four Trained sequence executions. Participants were instructed to watch the videos and to pay close attention to whether the sequences were performed correctly. Occasionally they would be asked whether the performer in the video made an error in any of the five repetitions – the error question. They would respond by pressing a 'b' key (marked red) on a keyboard for 'yes' and an 'm' key (marked blue) for 'no'. This task was included to ensure that participants paid attention to the videos. Participants were also informed that they will need to perform the watched sequences again at the end of the experiment.

All trial-related information was presented in the middle of the screen against a black background with a light grey font (Figure 2.1C). A trial started with a fixation cross (0.4 s), followed by the sequence cue presented as five digits (2.6 s), followed by the sequence video (13 s). After some of the trials, the error question was asked and participants had 2.6 seconds to respond.

A training session was divided into four blocks, separated by a rest period. Within each block, 20 videos were presented in a random order: each sequence video four times (randomly choosing one of the five video versions, described in *2.2.2 Stimuli-Videos*), and one 'error video' for each sequence (where at least one of the five repetitions of the sequence execution was incorrect). The error question was asked randomly 5-7 times per block. At the end of each block, participants received feedback on how accurately they spotted the incorrect sequence executions. The whole training session lasted approximately 25 minutes, and participants saw a correct execution of each sequence at least 80 times (4 blocks, 4 videos per block, 5 repetitions per video, plus some correct repetitions in the 'error video').

Scanning sessions

During identical pre- (day 1) and post-training (day 6) fMRI sessions, participants observed the four Trained and four Untrained sequence videos in a random order. The observation trials occurred in the same way as in the observational training sessions (see above and Figure 2.1C). In each scanning session participants completed 10 runs. Each run had 17 trials presented in a random order: eight sequence videos presented twice each, and one 'error video'. Same as in the observational training session, participants were instructed to watch whether all sequences are correctly executed and answer the error question when asked. The error question was asked twice within a run – always after the 'error video' and randomly after one of the correct videos. Each run also had five rest phases, one at the beginning of the run and four randomly interspersed, but not twice in a row. The rest phase was 13 seconds long and showed a fixation cross in the middle of the screen. Each run lasted approximately 6 minutes (2.6 s per whole-brain acquisition, with 138 acquisitions per run).

Stimuli were presented onto a screen located behind the magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scanner and displayed to the participant via a mirror placed above the participants' eyes. The response to the error question was recorded using a scanner-safe fibre optic fourbutton response pad system (Current Designs, Philadelphia, PA) connected to the stimulus PC.



Figure 2.1. Experimental paradigm (adapted from Wiestler and Diedrichsen (2013)). **A.** Experimental procedure. The experiment involved pre-test and post-test, separated by four training days and two scanning (fMRI) sessions. In the pre- and post-test, participants performed eight keypress sequences (four of them to be trained, the other four untrained). In the scanning sessions, participants watched videos of a hand performing the same eight sequences. In the training sessions, participants watched videos of a hand performing four of the eight sequences. B. Execution trial example. A cued sequence had to be memorised and then executed five times while receiving performance feedback. **C.** Observation trial example. A sequence cue was followed by a video showing a hand executing the sequence five times, either correctly or incorrectly. Occasionally a question was asked whether there was an error in any of the five repetitions, and a response had to be made. **D.** The brain area coverage for fMRI analysis focused on premotor and parietal brain regions and did not include the cerebellum, occipital lobes, or inferior temporal lobes.

2.2.4 Scan acquisition

MRI data were acquired using a 3 Tesla Phillips Achieva MRI scanner (Philips Health Care, Eindhoven, Netherlands) fitted with a sensitivity-encoded (SENSE) 32-channel phased-array head coil.

Functional scans

Both scanning sessions consisted of 10 functional runs of the blood-oxygenation-leveldependent (BOLD) signal acquisitions (Ogawa et al., 1992), with two dummy scans and 136 whole-brain scans per run. Volumes were collected using a T2*-weighted single-shot gradient echo planar imaging sequence with the following parameters: TE = 30 ms, TR = 2.6 s, flip angle = 90°, 41 ascending slices with 2.3 mm thickness, 0.15 mm gap, and 2 x 2 mm² in-plane resolution (matrix size 96 x 96). The slice acquisition was focused on premotor and parietal brain regions; thus, the group average brain area coverage did not include the cerebellum, occipital lobes, or inferior temporal lobes (see Figure 2.1D).

Anatomical scan

The last scanning session (day 6) ended with a high-resolution whole-brain 3D anatomical scan acquired as a T1-weighted image (MP-RAGE, TE = 3.5 ms, TR = 12 ms, voxel resolution = 1 mm^3 , slice thickness = 2 mm, flip angle= 8°), which was used as an anatomical reference for each participant.

2.2.5 Data analysis

Observational training effect on sequence-specific learning

Participants were tested and scanned before and after the four days of observational training. In similarly designed physical training studies, both general skill learning (significant pre- to post-training performance improvement of both trained and untrained sequences) and sequence-specific learning (greater post-training performance for trained than untrained sequences) have been reported (Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013; Wiestler et al., 2014). In the present study, participants physically performed all eight sequences (four to-be-trained and four untrained) before the four days of observational training. Thus, the post-training performance improvement, at least partly, could be driven by the consolidation of the initial physical performance (Censor, Sagi, & Cohen, 2012). Here we were interested solely in the observational training effects. Therefore, the sequence-specific learning, driven by observational training, was assessed as the post-training difference between trained and untrained sequences. To correct for possible pre-training differences, we followed Wiestler and Diedrichsen's (2013) approach and calculated a linear regression between the pre-training difference (predictor) and the post-training difference (outcome). The intercept of the regression line was used as a measure of the post-training difference between Trained and Untrained conditions, correcting for possible pre-training differences. The linear regression approach was used in all subsequent analyses when comparing Trained and Untrained conditions post-training.
Behavioural performance

Participants' physical performance was assessed pre- and post-training, measuring the average sequence initiation time, ET, and error rate of the four trained (to-be-trained) and the four untrained sequences.

The sequence initiation time was measured as the duration between the "go" signal and the first keypress. The sequence ET was measured as the duration between the first and fifth keypresses. The error rate was measured as the percentage of incorrect sequence executions. Incorrectly executed trials were excluded from further analysis. Attention to the task during the observational training and scanning sessions was assessed as a percentage of accurate responses to the error question.

Imaging data

Imaging data were analysed using statistical parametric mapping (SPM) v12 (Wellcome Trust Centre for Neuroimaging, London), and custom-written MATLAB scripts. To correct for head motion, all images from a single scanning session (10 x 136 volumes) were spatially realigned to the first image of the session and slice-time corrected. The anatomical T1-weighted image was co-registered to the session-mean functional image and segmented to obtain parameters for spatial normalisation. The time series of each voxel were high-pass filtered with a cut-off frequency of 1/52 Hz, to remove low-frequency trends, and modelled for temporal autocorrelation across scans with the first-order autoregressive (AR(1)) process.

For the voxel-wise univariate and functional connectivity analysis, the normalisation parameters, obtained in the segmentation step, were used to normalise pre-processed functional images to the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) template brain with a resolution of 2 mm³. Normalised images were then spatially smoothed with a 3D Gaussian kernel of 8 mm full width at half maximum (FWHM). MVPA was performed without normalisation and smoothing, to preserve high spatial resolution.

All statistical maps were thresholded at a single voxel level with a significance value of p < 0.001 and a minimum cluster size of 10 voxels. To control for false positive results, only brain regions reaching cluster familywise error (FWE) corrected significance at p < 0.05 are reported. For anatomical and cytoarchitectonic localisation, we used SPM Anatomy toolbox v2.0 (Eickhoff et al., 2005).

Univariate analysis

Normalised and smoothed data were analysed using a General Linear Model (GLM). A random-effects model was implemented at two levels. At the first level, single participant data were modelled by a single design matrix for all runs within each session. The design matrix contained 6 regressors of the following events: Trained videos, Untrained videos, an 'error' video, error questions/responses, Trained cues, and Untrained cues. Trained and Untrained video regressors (further named, 'Trained' and 'Untrained') represented the 13-second video duration (showing five repetitions of a single sequence execution). All regressors were modelled as boxcar functions, convolved with a haemodynamic response function (HRF).

The following contrasts of interest were created at the first level for both pre- and posttraining scanning sessions: Trained > implicit baseline; Untrained > implicit baseline; Trained U Untrained > implicit baseline. In addition, the estimated beta weights for each condition within each run were used to calculate the intercept of the linear regression line between pre-training (predictor) and post-training (outcome) difference between Trained and Untrained beta weights for each session. The intercept was used as a measure of the posttraining difference in brain activity between Trained and Untrained conditions, controlling for possible pre-training differences.

The second level group analyses were designed to achieve two main objectives:

- Identify brain regions engaged in action observation. Here the pre-Trained U pre-Untrained > implicit baseline contrast images for each participant were entered into a one-sample t-test analysis to obtain group average results of brain areas engaged when watching keypress sequences in general, pre-training.
- 2) Identify brain regions sensitive to observational training. Here the pre- postdifference intercept images for each participant were entered into a one-sample t-test analysis to obtain group average results of brain areas showing the post-training difference in brain activity between Trained and Untrained conditions, accounting for pre-training differences.

Region of interest (ROI) definition

Practice-related brain activity changes have been linked to changes in interactions with functionally related brain regions (McIntosh, 1998) and to more specialised skill representations in the brain (Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013). Thus, following from the

univariate analysis, the peak voxels of significant clusters showing the post-training difference between Trained and Untrained conditions (independent of the direction) were selected for further ROI based functional connectivity and MVPA analyses (see the next two sections for the analyses details). We note that our analysis approach is not circular (Kriegeskorte, Simmons, Bellgowan, & Baker, 2009) because the univariate analysis of post-training difference is statistically independent to all subsequent analyses.

The ROIs were defined for each participant as follows (illustrated in Figure 2.2). First, 15 mm radius spheres centred on the group level voxels with the highest t-value of the post-training difference were created in the MNI space. Second, at a participant level, voxels with the highest post-training difference value within the 15 mm radius spheres were selected as the individual's peak voxels. This approach was taken to account for anatomical and functional variability in the areas responsive to the task across participants. Third, 10 mm radius spheres centred on the individuals' identified peak voxels were created for beta weight extraction (for visualisation purposes only) and functional connectivity analysis. Fourth, the 10 mm radius spheres were mapped from the MNI space onto individual subject anatomies for MVPA analysis.



Figure 2.2. ROI definition procedure. The peak voxels of significant clusters showing the training-related brain activity changes were selected for ROI based functional connectivity and MVPA analyses. **First**, 15 mm radius spheres were created in the MNI space, centred on the group level voxels with the highest t-value of the post-training difference between Trained and Untrained conditions (independent of the direction). **Second**, at a participant level, each individual's peak voxels were identified within the group level 15 mm radius spheres. **Third**, 10 mm radius spheres centred on the identified individuals' peak voxels were created for beta weight extraction and functional connectivity analysis. **Fourth**, the 10 mm radius spheres were mapped from the MNI space onto individual subject anatomies for MVPA analysis.

Psycho-physiological interaction analysis

To identify how brain regions that are sensitive to observational training interact with other regions when watching Trained and Untrained sequences, we used a whole-brain Psycho-Physiological Interaction (PPI) analysis (Friston et al., 1997). The analysis was employed using the SPM toolbox gPPI (McLaren, Ries, Xu, & Johnson, 2012).

Subject-specific seed regions were areas that showed a significant post-training difference between Trained and Untrained conditions (see *Region of interest (ROI) definition* above). PPI models were specified at the subject-level using normalised and smoothed imaging data. First, the BOLD signal from the seed region was extracted and deconvolved to obtain an estimate of the neural activity time course in this region (Gitelman, Penny, Ashburner, & Friston, 2003). This step formed the physiological regressor. Second, each condition's onset times were convolved with an HRF, creating psychological regressors. Third, each condition's onset times were multiplied with the physiological regressor and then convolved with an HRF, which formed PPI regressors, representing the interaction between physiological activity and psychological context.

The regressors were then entered in a whole-brain GLM for each participant, to obtain the maps of connectivity estimates for each condition (PPI pre-Trained, PPI pre-Untrained, PPI post-Trained, and PPI post-Untrained). PPI estimates for each condition within each run were further used to obtain the post-training difference (intercept) between the Trained and Untrained conditions, correcting for possible pre-training differences.

In a second-level/group analysis, a random-effect one-sample t-test of the obtained intercept images was performed, to identify whether and where in the brain there was a stronger relationship with a seed region when watching post-Trained compared to post-Untrained (and vice versa) sequences.

Multi-voxel-pattern analysis

To test whether sequence observation is associated with sequence-specific representations, we used MVPA to analyse brain activity patterns that occur when watching the four sequences within each condition (Trained and Untrained). Note that our aim was not to discriminate between the Trained and Untrained sequences. Instead, as in the previous physical training study (Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013), we examined sequence-specific patterns within each condition separately and then compared the results across conditions, to determine whether the patterns are more distinct for the observationally trained sequences.

The dissimilarity between activity patterns was measured using cross-validated Mahalanobis distance (Diedrichsen, Provost, & Zareamoghaddam, 2016), which is closely related to linear discriminant analysis (LDA), and therefore termed linear discriminant contrast (LDC). In a recent study, LDC proved to be the most reliable MVPA measure, outperforming other more popular measures, such as pattern classification (LDA and support vector machine) and Pearson correlation (Walther et al., 2016).

LDC is a continuous dissimilarity measure, which includes multivariate noise normalisation (pre-whitening), cross-validation, and does not depend on activity baseline. Similar to LDA, LDC compares two conditions using a linear discriminant that has been estimated with independent data. However, instead of a binary decision, which is then converted into classification accuracy, LDC computes the mean difference between the two conditions measured along the linear discriminant. Cross-validation ensures that the measured dissimilarities are not due to the noisy data, but represent the true difference with a meaningful zero point (Diedrichsen et al., 2016; Walther et al., 2016). If the brain region differentiates between the two types of stimuli, the average cross-validated dissimilarity measure of the activity patterns should be above zero.

Here the LDC analysis was implemented using the RSA Toolbox (Nili et al., 2014) and custom-written MATLAB scripts. To obtain activity patterns for LDC analysis, a first-level GLM was estimated for each participant using the spatially realigned and slice-time corrected images, without normalisation and smoothing. A unique regressor for each of the eight sequences (four Trained, four Untrained) within each of the 10 runs was modelled as a boxcar function and convolved with an HRF. Each regressor averaged the brain activity across the two occurrences of the 13-second videos of each sequence within each run. The LDC analysis of the activity patterns was performed for each condition (Trained and Untrained) and each participant separately. The estimated beta weights of the voxels in each region (ROI or searchlight) were extracted and pre-whitened (Diedrichsen et al., 2016; Walther et al., 2016) to construct noise normalised activity patterns for each sequences, 10 runs) activation estimates for a set of 160 neighbouring voxels, selected by the ROI or searchlight approach (see below). Leave-one-run-out cross-validated LDC analysis was performed, and dissimilarity estimates averaged across the ten possible cross-validation folds.

Within each condition, we compared six pairs of activity patterns and averaged the resulting six measures to obtain the average dissimilarity estimate between the four

sequences. An above zero dissimilarity estimate indicates that the examined region (ROI or searchlight) codes sequence-specific information.

ROI analysis

For ROI analysis, we used a random subspace approach (Diedrichsen, Wiestler, & Ejaz, 2013) to increase the reliability of LDC measures. From each ROI (see *Region of interest (ROI) definition* above), subsets of 160 voxels were randomly selected 1000 times. LDC analysis was performed on each subset, and dissimilarity estimates from all 1000 subsets were averaged to obtain the final LDC measure for each ROI and each condition: LDC pre-Trained, LDC pre-Untrained, LDC post-Trained, and LDC post-Untrained. Results were then subjected to statistical analyses. First, we estimated the average sequence-specific coding post-training. To do so, we averaged the results of LDC post-Trained and LDC post-Untrained and used a one-tailed t-test to test whether the average LDC value is above zero (indicating sequence-specific coding). Next, we assessed the post-training difference (intercept) between the conditions, correcting for the possible pre-training differences. All tests were Bonferroni-corrected for four comparisons.

Surface-based searchlight analysis

To identify brain regions coding sequence-specific information across the whole cortical surface (Kriegeskorte, Goebel, & Bandettini, 2006), we performed a surface-based searchlight analysis (Oosterhof, Wiestler, Downing, & Diedrichsen, 2011). Cortical surfaces were reconstructed from individual T1-weighted images using FreeSurfer (Dale, Fischl, & Sereno, 1999). Around each surface node, spheres of searchlights were defined and all voxels between pial and white-grey matter surface selected for analysis. The radius of each sphere was adjusted such that each searchlight contained exactly 160 voxels. The average searchlight radius was 10.37 mm.

For each searchlight, LDC analysis was performed for the four sequences within each condition as described in *ROI analysis* above. The dissimilarity estimate of each searchlight was assigned to the central voxel, constructing a surface map of dissimilarity estimates. The acquired individual subject maps (LDC pre-Trained, LDC pre-Untrained, LDC post-Trained, and LDC post-Untrained) were then normalised to the MNI template, with a resolution of 2 mm³, and spatially smoothed, with a 3D Gaussian kernel of 4 mm FWHM.

The normalised and smoothed maps were then entered into a second-level random-effect analysis to obtain group average results of brain areas that code sequence-specific information when watching sequences pre-training and post-training (one-sample t-test of LDC pre-Trained U LDC pre-Untrained and of LDC post-Trained U LDC post-Untrained), and post-training difference (intercept) between the Trained and Untrained conditions, correcting for possible pre-training differences.

2.2.6 Data sharing

Stimuli, behavioural and ROI analysis data, and code written by authors for this study are freely available at <u>https://github.com/dcdace/E2fMRI_MVPA_PPI/</u>. Unthresholded fMRI maps, LDC maps and group ROIs are uploaded at <u>http://neurovault.org/collections/1892/</u>.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Performance improvement

After the four days of observational practice, the trained sequences were initiated and performed faster than the untrained sequences. Hence, it is plausible to assume that the acquired skill was sequence-specific and acquired through the observational practice, not just an effect of the sequence execution at pre-test when both trained and untrained sequences were physically performed.

Post-training, sequence initiation time for the trained sequences (M = 600 ms, withinsubject (Cousineau, 2005) 95% CI (2.13 x SE for df = 15) [526 ms, 674 ms]) was significantly faster than for the untrained sequences (M = 684 ms, within-subject 95% CI [612, 756]), $t_{14} = 2.238$, p = 0.042, $d_z = 0.56$, $B_0 = -84$ ms, 95% CI [-165, -4] (Figure 2.3A). ET for the trained sequences (M = 1338 ms, within-subject 95% CI [1215 ms, 1461 ms]) was significantly faster than for the untrained sequences (M = 1464 ms, within-subject 95% CI [1365, 1562]), $t_{14} = 3.495$, p = 0.004, $d_z = 0.87$, $B_0 = -115$ ms, 95% CI [-185, -45] (Figure 2.3B). Error rate did not differ between the two conditions (post-Trained M = 12%, withinsubject 95% CI [7, 18]; post-Untrained M = 13%, within-subject 95% CI [9, 18]), $t_{14} = 0.319$, p = 0.754, $d_z = 0.08$, $B_0 = -0.6\%$, 95% CI [-5, 4] (Figure 2.3C).

During the observational practice and scanning sessions, attention to the task was assessed by accurate responses to the error question. The mean accuracy across the four training days was 87%, 95% CI [81%, 93%]. On average, accuracy improved across the four training days (Figure 2.3D), but the difference was not significant, as measured by a 4-way repeatedmeasures analysis of variance, $F_{3,42} = 1.076$, p = 0.370. The average accuracy during the scanning sessions was 69%, 95% CI [58%, 80%], with no significant difference between the two sessions, $t_{15} = 0.786$, p = 0.444, $d_z = 0.20$. The difference between the accuracy of trained and untrained conditions in the scanning sessions was not measured.



Figure 2.3. Behavioural results. A., B. and **C.** Pre- and post-training difference in initiation time, ET and error rate between trained and untrained sequences. The training effect was measured as the intercept of the regression line between the pre-training difference (predictor) and the post-training difference (outcome). The intercept represents the predicted post-training difference if the pre-training difference is zero. This method reduces the noise of unwanted differences in the difficulty of trained and untrained sequences and thus allows a more accurate measurement of the training effect. Error bars represent 95% CI (2.13 x SE for df = 15) of the intercept. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, n.s.: non-significant at p < 0.05. **D.** Group-averaged accuracy in response to the error question during observational training. Error bars represent within-subject (Cousineau, 2005) 95% CI (2.13 x SE for df = 15).

2.3.2 Frontoparietal activation during action observation

To identify brain regions engaged when watching sequences in general, we assessed a group average of pre-Trained U pre-Untrained > implicit baseline contrast. Brain regions emerging from this contrast included bilateral superior and inferior parietal lobules, intraparietal sulci, dorsal premotor cortices (including supplementary motor area), hippocampi, and left ventral premotor cortex. A list of the major peaks of activated clusters is given in Table 2.1 and all activated areas visualised in Figure 2.4A. Brain activity maps of Trained and Untrained conditions pre- and post-training are visualised in Figure 2.4B.

Apart from no activation in the primary motor areas, the activated areas were closely similar to those reported in the physical practice study by Wiestler and Diedrichsen (2013) on which our study was based. Overall, the activated frontoparietal regions correspond to the

largely bilateral action observation network (Caspers, Zilles, Laird, & Eickhoff, 2010; Cross et al., 2009).



Figure 2.4. Univariate results, reported at p < 0.001 (uncorrected), k = 10. White dotted lines mark central and postcentral sulci. **A.** Activated brain regions when watching sequences before the training (pre-Trained U pre-Untrained > implicit baseline). Statistical map overlaid on inflated standard MNI cortical surface (SPM12) and a group-average T1-weighted image in MNI template space. Clusters with cluster FWE-corrected significance at p < 0.05 reported in Table 2.1. **B.** Brain activity maps of Trained (red) and Untrained (blue) conditions pre- and post-training. Statistical maps overlaid on inflated standard MNI cortical surface (SPM12).

	Cytoarchitectonic	Peak MNI coordinates	Cluster	level	Voxel-level		
Anatomical location	location	x y z	voxels	P FWE-corr	P _{FWE-corr}	t15	
L Superior parietal lobule	7PC	-30 -56 60	1845	< 0.001	0.001	11.48	
L Superior parietal lobule	7A	-20 -70 56			0.010	9.21	
L Intraparietal sulcus	hIP3	-36 -50 54			0.014	8.98	
R Inferior parietal lobule	Area 2	40 - 40 54	1702	< 0.001	0.002	10.61	
R Superior parietal lobule	7A	24 -64 58			0.003	10.19	
R Intraparietal sulcus	hIP3	26 - 56 58			0.010	9.17	
L dPM, Superior frontal gyrus		-20 -6 54	1261	< 0.010	0.008	9.38	
L vPM, Precentral gyrus		-32 -8 48			0.051	7.90	
L vPM, Precentral gyrus	Area 44	-48 4 38			0.117	7.19	
R dPM, Middle frontal gyrus		34 -4 54	759	< 0.001	0.013	9.00	
R Hippocampus		22 - 32 0	179	0.010	0.000	12.50	
L Hippocampus		-22 -34 0	123	0.046	0.002	10.58	
Results thresholded at a single voz	xel level, $p < 0.001$, $k = 10$	voxels. Only clust	ters with cl	uster FWE-c	corrected		
significance at $p < 0.05$ are shown	, and up to three local max	ima when a cluste	r has multi	ple peaks mo	ore than 8 mr	n	
apart.							

Table 2.1. Activated brain regions when watching sequences before the training (pre-Trained U pre-Untrained > implicit baseline), as shown in Figure 2.4A.

L, left; R, right; IPS, intraparietal sulcus; dPM, dorsal premotor cortex; vPM, ventral premotor cortex.

2.3.3 Frontoparietal activity decrease

After the four days of observational practice, multiple brain regions showed reduced brain activity when watching trained compared to untrained sequences. No regions with higher activity for trained compared to untrained were found (as in Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013). Reduced activity when watching trained sequences included clusters in the right superior parietal lobule (extending across right precuneus and left superior and inferior parietal lobules), bilateral dorsal premotor cortices, and left ventral premotor cortex (see Table 2.2 and Figure 2.6A).

Decreased activity may indicate more efficient neural recruitment resulting from a strengthened functional coupling with other involved brain areas and/or more specialised representations of the trained sequences. To investigate this further, we selected the four peak regions (see Table 2.2) for PPI and MVPA analyses.

Table 2.2. Brain regions showing lower activity for trained compared to untrained sequences posttraining, as shown in Figure 2.6A. The opposite (post-Trained > post-Untrained) did not result in any significant areas.

		Peak MNI	Cluster level	Voxel-level	
	Cytoarchitectonic	coordinates			
Anatomical location	location	x y z	voxels P _{FWE-corr}	PFWE-corr	t14
R Superior parietal lobule	7A	22 -68 56	1710 < 0.001	0.007	9.43
R Precuneus		10 -58 48		0.068	7.86
L Intraparietal sulcus	hIP3	-28 -50 40		0.210	7.16
R dPM, Superior frontal gyrus		30 - 4 58	610 < 0.001	0.049	8.07
R dPM, Precentral gyrus		28 -6 50		0.066	7.88
R dPM, Posterior-medial frontal cortex		16 -4 62		0.979	5.09
L vPM, Inferior frontal gyrus (opercularis)	Area 44	-44 2 24	372 < 0.001	0.708	5.94
L vPM, Inferior frontal gyrus (opercularis)	Area 44	-56 8 10		0.891	5.50
L vPM, Precentral gyrus	Area 44	-50 6 20		0.958	5.24
L dPM, Superior frontal gyrus		-24 -4 60	321 < 0.001	0.044	8.14
L dPM, Middle frontal gyrus		-24 -6 50		0.814	5.71
L dPM, Middle frontal gyrus		-12 -4 58		0.994	4.88
Results thresholded at a single voxel level, p	0 < 0.001, k = 10 voxe	ls. Only cluster	rs with cluster FWE-c	orrected	
significance at $p < 0.05$ are shown, and up to	o three local maxima v	vhen a cluster l	has multiple peaks mo	re than 8 mm	
apart.					
L left: R right: IPS intraparietal sulcus: dP	M dorsal premotor cc	ntex vPM vei	ntral premotor cortex		

2.3.4 PPI results: Strengthened coupling with a contralateral parietal operculum

We used PPI analysis to investigate how the four ROIs that showed lower brain activity for trained compared to untrained sequences (see Table 2.2, Figure 2.6A and 2.2.5 Data analysis-Region of interest (ROI) definition) interact with other brain regions when watching trained versus untrained (and vice versa) sequences post-training.

No regions showed higher functional connectivity with any of the four ROIs when watching post-Untrained compared to post-Trained sequences. When watching post-Trained compared to post-Untrained sequences, right superior parietal lobule, right dorsal premotor cortex, and left ventral premotor cortex showed increased functional connectivity with a contralateral parietal operculum (OP4; see Table 2.3 and Figure 2.6C).

		Peak MNI	Cluster	level	Voxel-level	
	Cytoarchitectonic	coordinates				
Anatomical location	location	x y z	voxels	PFWE-corr	PFWE-corr	t 14
Seed region: R SPL	-	-	-	-	-	-
L Parietal operculum	OP4	-48 -16 12	83	0.002	0.994	5.20
L Parietal operculum	OP4	-58 -14 10			1	4.61
Seed region: R dPM						
L Parietal operculum	OP4	-48 -16 10	105	0.001	0.849	5.93
L Parietal operculum	OP1	-46 -24 10			1	4.63
L Parietal operculum	OP1	-54 -24 6			1	4.33
Seed region: L vPM						
R Parietal operculum	OP4	48 -6 16	68	0.004	0.468	6.68
R Parietal operculum	3a	44 -12 26			1	4.45
R Parietal operculum		52 -14 20			1	3.97
Seed region: L dPM						
-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Results thresholded at a single voxe	el level, p < 0.001, k =	10 voxels. Only clu	usters wit	h cluster FWE	-corrected	
significance at $n < 0.05$ are shown	and up to three local r	novimo whon o olu	tor has m	ultipla paaka r	nora than 8 m	-

Table 2.3. Brain regions showing increased functional connectivity	with right SPL, right dPM, left vPM,
and left dPM when watching post-Trained vs post-Untrained seque	ences (visualised in Figure 2.6C).

significance at p < 0.05 are shown, and up to three local maxima when a cluster has multiple peaks more than 8 apart. L, left; R, right; SPL, Superior parietal lobule; dPM, dorsal premotor cortex; vPM, ventral premotor cortex.

2.3.5 MVPA results: Sequence-specific representations of observed actions

LDC analysis was used to test whether a particular brain region (ROI or searchlight) codes sequence-specific information and whether the coding is more specialised for trained compared to untrained conditions. The average dissimilarity (LDC value) of activity patterns between the four sequences within each condition was used as a measure of sequencespecific representations.

ROI results

To test whether changes in brain activity could indicate more efficient neural recruitment resulting from more specialised sequence-specific representations of the trained sequences, we evaluated the four ROIs, that showed lower brain activity for trained compared to untrained sequence (see Table 2.2, Figure 2.6A and 2.2.5 *Data analysis-Region of interest (ROI) definition*). Each ROI contained approximately 325 (SD = 48.83) voxels.

On average across Trained and Untrained conditions post-training, sequence-specific coding was found in the right superior parietal lobule, left ventral premotor cortex, and left dorsal premotor cortex, but not in the right dorsal premotor cortex. None of the ROIs showed a difference between the Trained and Untrained conditions. Detailed results are presented in Table 2.4 and plotted in Figure 2.6B.

ROI	Mean LDC [95% CI], One-sample, one-tailed t-test	Post-Trained > Post-Untrained					
R SPL	Pre: 0.68 [0.15, 1.21], $t_{(15)} = 2.7$, $p = 0.033$, $d_z = 0.68$ Post: 0.42 [0.17, 0.66], $t_{(15)} = 3.08$, $p = 0.015$, $d_z = 0.77$	B ₀ = 0.41, 95% CI [-0.22, 1.05], n.s.					
R dPM	Pre: 0.35 [0.1, 0.6], $t_{(15)} = 2.91$, $p = 0.021$, $d_z = 0.73$ Post: 0.04 [-0.16, 0.25], n.s.	B ₀ = -0.04, 95% CI [-0.64, 0.57], n.s.					
L vPM	Pre: -0.05 [-0.3, 0.2], n.s. Post: 0.29 [0.11, 0.48], t(15) = 2.59, p = 0.041, dz = 0.65	B ₀ = 0.22, 95% CI [-0.26, 0.70], n.s.					
L dPM	Pre: 0.24 [-0.1, 0.58], n.s. Post: 0.35 [0.10, 0.63], $t_{(15)} = 2.69$, $p = 0.034$, $d_z = 0.67$	B ₀ = -0.14, 95% CI [-0.66, 0.39], n.s.					
LDC, Linear discriminant contrast; L, left; R, right; SPL, Superior parietal lobule; dPM, dorsal premotor cortex; vPM, ventral premotor cortex; n.s., non-significant.							

Table 2.4. Sequence-specific coding in ROIs (visualised in Figure 2.6B).

Surface-based searchlight results

To further explore sequence-specific coding across the whole cortical surface, we ran surface-based searchlight analysis for each condition (the resulting t-maps, are shown in Figure 2.5A&B, right panel).

First, we were interested where in the brain keypress sequence observation is associated with sequence-specific representations. Pre-training (averaged across pre-Trained and pre-Untrained conditions), sequence-specific representations were found in the right anterior intraparietal sulcus and posterior superior parietal lobule (see Table 2.5 and Figure 2.5A). Post-training (averaged across post-Trained and post-Untrained conditions), sequence-specific representations were found in bilateral supramarginal gyri, anterior intraparietal sulci (homologous to macaque AIP; Culham, Cavina-Pratesi, & Singhal, 2006), left anterior superior parietal lobule, left primary motor and somatosensory cortices, and right parietal operculum (see Table 2.5 and Figure 2.5B).

Next, we investigated observational practice effects on sequence-specific representations by a map-wise analysis of a post-training difference (intercept) between the Trained and Untrained conditions, correcting for possible pre-training differences. No regions showed difference between the two conditions at a cluster FWE-corrected threshold of p < 0.05.

Finally, we inspected the sequence-specific representations globally averaging over all involved cortical regions. The average LDC measure of the post-Trained sequences was higher than of the post-Untrained sequences, however the difference was not significant, $t_{14} = 1.128$, p = 0.278, $d_z = 0.28$, $B_0 = 0.155$, 95% CI [-0.139, 0.449] (Figure 2.5C). Similarly, the average cortical surface area coding sequence-specific representations of the post-Trained sequences was larger than of the post-Untrained, but the difference was not significant, $t_{14} = 1.935$, p = 0.073, $d_z = 0.48$, $B_0 = 0.34$ cm², 95% CI [-0.035, 0.715] (Figure 2.5D).

Although the present study focused on observational practice effects on sequence-specific, not general skill, learning, here we thought to explore how the sequence-specific representations change from pre- to post-training, by assessing a Day (pre-training, post-training) * Type (Trained, Untrained) interaction of the average LDC and cortical surface area coding sequence-specific representations (Figure 2.5C&D). There was no significant Day*Type interaction for the LDC ($F_{1,15} = 1.435$, p = 0.250), but there was a significant Day*Type interaction for the average cortical surface area coding sequence-specific representations ($F_{1,15} = 4.874$, p = 0.043). A post hoc paired sample t-test revealed a significant increase in the cortical area coding sequence-specific representations from pre- to post-training for the Trained sequences ($M = 0.54 \text{ cm}^2 95\%$ CI [0.05, 1.03], $t_{15} = 2.36$, p = 0.032, $d_z = 0.59$).

Table 2.5.	Brain regions sh	owing sequence-sp	ecific coding	for post-Trained + p	post-Untrained co	onditions,
shown in l	Figure 2.5A.					

		Peak MNI coordinates	Cluster level		Voxel-level		
A notomical location	Cytoarchitectonic	X X <i>A</i>	vovola	D	D	t	Average
Anatomical location	location	XYZ	VUXEIS	F FWE-corr	FFWE-corr	t 15	LDC
Pre-training	1 102	22 62 58	452	.0.001	0.542	5.00	0.05
R Intraparietal sulcus	hIP3	22 -62 58	453	< 0.001	0.543	5.88	0.95
R Superior parietal lobule	7A	20 -68 50			0.590	5.79	1.02
R Superior parietal lobule		20 - 56 48			0.914	5.04	0.52
Post-training							
L Supramarginal gyrus	PFop	-56 -26 22	269	0.001	0.377	6.32	0.82
L Supramarginal gyrus	PFt	-56 -24 32			0.949	4.96	0.74
L Supramarginal gyrus	PFt	-66 -26 38			0.995	4.53	0.30
L M1, Precentral gyrus	4a	-50 -10 42	157	0.020	0.170	7.04	0.77
L M1, Postcentral gyrus	4p	-42 -8 34			0.849	5.29	0.32
L S1, Postcentral gyrus	3b	-46 -16 48			0.994	4.57	0.88
R Intraparietal sulcus	hIP2	48 - 38 42	145	0.029	0.971	4.83	0.96
R Supramarginal gyrus	PF	58 -40 30			0.997	4.46	0.74
R Inferior parietal lobule	Area 2	48 - 36 52			1.000	4.24	0.71
L Intraparietal sulcus	hIP2	-46 -48 54	143	0.030	0.907	5.12	0.92
L Superior parietal lobule	5L	-32 -42 46			0.970	4.48	0.55
R Parietal operculum	OP4	58 - 8 12	134	0.039	0.874	5.22	0.70
Results thresholded at a single significance at p < 0.05 are s	le voxel level, $p < 0.00$ hown, and up to three)1, k = 10 voxel local maxima v	ls. Only cl vhen a clu	lusters with cluster has multi	uster FWE-co ple peaks mor	rrected e than {	8 mm

L, left; R, right; M1, Primary motor cortex; S1, Primary somatosensory cortex; S2, Secondary somatosensory cortex; IPL, Inferior parietal lobule; IPS, Intraparietal sulcus; SPL, Superior parietal lobule.



Figure 2.5. Surface-based searchlight results, reported at p < 0.001 (uncorrected), k = 10. Clusters with cluster FWE-corrected significance at p < 0.05 reported in Table 2.5. Statistical maps overlaid on inflated standard MNI cortical surface (SPM12). White dotted lines mark central and postcentral sulci. **A.** Pre-training sequence-specific representations. **C.** and **D.** Specificity (the average LDC measure) of sequence-specific representations and the cortical surface area coding sequence-specific representations averaged over all involved cortical regions per condition (left; Error bars represent within-subject 95% confidence intervals (Cousineau, 2005); * p < 0.05) and pre- and post-training difference (right; Error bars represent 95% CI of the intercept n.s.: non-significant at p < 0.05).



Figure 2.6. ROI analysis results. L, left; R, right; vPM, ventral premotor cortex; dPM, dorsal premotor cortex; SPL; superior parietal lobule. **A.** Univariate results of post-training difference (intercept) between Trained and Untrained conditions. Statistical map overlaid on inflated standard MNI cortical surface (SPM12) and reported at p < 0.001 (uncorrected), k = 10; clusters with cluster FWE-corrected significance at p < 0.05 reported in Table 2.2. Plots illustrate pre- and post-training difference in beta weights between Trained and Untrained conditions in the four significant regions selected for further ROI analyses (see 2.2.5 Data analysis-Region of *interest (ROI) definition*). Error bars represent 95% CI of the intercept. **B.** Top panel: MVPA results of sequence-specific coding pre- and post-training in the four ROIs, showing dissimilarity estimate (average LDC value) between the sequences within the Trained and Untrained conditions and across both conditions on average (reported in Table 2.4). Error bars represent within-subject 95% confidence intervals (Cousineau, 2005); * p < 0.05. Bottom panel: Pre- and post-training difference between Trained and Untrained LDC. Error bars represent 95% CI of the intercept; n.s. – non-significant. **C.** PPI results, showing the four seed regions and regions with increased functional connectivity with the particular seed region when watching Trained compared to Untrained sequences post-training (reported in Table 2.3).

2.4 Discussion

The results of this study show practice-related behavioural performance improvement (Aim 1, see 2.1 Introduction), brain activity decrease (Aim 2), and functional connectivity increase (Aim 3). Furthermore, for the first time, our results demonstrate that neural representations of observed actions are highly specialised (Aim 4). A mere observation of kinematically matched keypresses evokes distinguishable keypress-sequence-specific activity patterns in frontoparietal brain regions. While it would be plausible to explain practice-related results by more specialised representations of the observationally trained actions (Aim 5), our study does not support this reasoning. We discuss our results in the light of previous literature and present possible explanations of why we did not find more distinct representations of the trained actions.

2.4.1 Observational practice facilitates motor skill learning

Our results showed that after the four days of observational practice, the trained sequences were initiated and performed faster than the untrained sequences. This finding contributes to the evidence that motor skills, including keypress sequences, can be learned by observation without overt physical practice (Bird & Heyes, 2005; Heyes & Foster, 2002; Lago-Rodríguez & Cheeran, 2014; Vogt & Thomaschke, 2007). Although not controlled for in the present study, previous reports show that motor sequence performance improvement cannot be explained solely by memorising the digit sequence or by the familiarity with the spatiotemporal pattern of the sequence obtained by stimulus observation. Instead, observing the actual action contributes to performance improvement (Boutin et al., 2010; Van Der Werf, Van Der Helm, Schoonheim, Ridderikhoff, & Van Someren, 2009). Substantial evidence suggests that the shared neural mechanisms between action perception and execution (Gentsch et al., 2016; Rizzolatti et al., 2014) make the motor skill learning by observation possible (Brass & Heyes, 2005; Jeannerod, 1994; Mattar & Gribble, 2005; Vogt, 1996).

2.4.2 Practice-related brain activity decrease and functional connectivity increase imply more efficient neural processing

We found that keypress sequence observation engaged premotor and parietal brain regions (occipital cortex was not included in the analysis). Furthermore, brain activity (BOLD response) in these regions reduced when watching trained compared to untrained sequences.

Reduced activity was specifically found in the right superior parietal lobule, left ventral premotor cortex, and bilateral dorsal premotor cortices. These regions are part of a frontoparietal network involved in a wide range of processes, including working memory, attention, and mental imagery (Ikkai & Curtis, 2011; Lückmann, Jacobs, & Sack, 2014; Rottschy et al., 2012), as well as action observation and execution (Caspers et al., 2010; Gazzola & Keysers, 2009; Molenberghs et al., 2012; Oosterhof, Tipper, & Downing, 2013; Rizzolatti & Sinigaglia, 2010).

Reduced activity in frontoparietal brain regions may reflect lower cognitive demand (Culham, Cavanagh, & Kanwisher, 2001; Lu et al., 2016; Maximo, Neupane, Saxena, Joseph, & Kana, 2016) when watching the trained sequences. Reduced cognitive demand is a typical consequence of skill learning when initial effortful performance shifts towards automaticity (Fitts & Postner, 1967; Kelly & Garavan, 2005). The transition to automaticity coincides with decreased brain activity in attention-related regions and more efficient neural processing in task-specific regions (Floyer-Lea & Matthews, 2004; Kelly & Garavan, 2005; Poldrack et al., 2005). Such changes are reported for both cognitive and motor skill learning and have been suggested as a marker of training-related gains (Patel, Spreng, & Turner, 2013).

In our study, the task during the scanning sessions involved holding in working memory the five-digit sequence, visual discrimination (was the correct sequence executed?), and motor learning of the observed sequence. Consequently, lower cognitive demand, due to practice, should lead to increased neural efficiency in the task-specific (visual discrimination and motor processing) regions and thus improve task performance. We did not compare the accuracy of responses to the error question between trained and untrained conditions during the scanning sessions. However, improved action discrimination, following observational practice, has been reported before (Black & Wright, 2000; Lago-Rodriguez, Lopez-Alonso, & Fernández-del-Olmo, 2013; Maslovat et al., 2010b). It is acknowledged that observational practice facilitates both action discrimination and motor learning (for a review, see Lago-Rodríguez & Cheeran, 2014). Our behavioural results confirmed the motor performance improvement.

Moreover, three of the four brain regions that showed practice-related activity decrease also showed stronger coupling with a contralateral parietal operculum when watching trained compared to untrained sequences. Decreased activity and strengthened connectivity with the parietal operculum may indicate enhanced higher-order sensory-motor processing during sequence observation and possibly contribute to the motor learning. Several studies have reported an association between decreased activity and increased connectivity within task-specific brain regions following practice (Büchel, Coull, & Friston, 1999; Keller & Just, 2016; McIntosh, Rajah, & Lobaugh, 1999; Wu, Chan, & Hallett, 2008). It is interpreted as a more efficient neural processing to achieve the task (Kelly & Garavan, 2005). Parietal operculum, the location of the secondary somatosensory area, is a highly heterogeneous brain region that plays an important role in sensory-motor integration and motor control (Cattaneo, Maule, Tabarelli, Brochier, & Barchiesi, 2015; Eickhoff et al., 2010; Maule, Barchiesi, Brochier, & Cattaneo, 2015). It stores high-level (often, goal-related and modality independent) action information that is transferred to lower-level motor areas once the action is implemented (Cattaneo et al., 2015; Dijkerman & de Haan, 2007; Fiehler, Engel, & Rösler, 2007; Maule et al., 2015; Taoka, Tanaka, Hihara, Ojima, & Iriki, 2013). Furthermore, it contains neurons with bilateral receptive fields and connections (Ruben et al., 2001; Taoka et al., 2013), which might explain why we see strengthened coupling with the contralateral area.

Overall, the performance improvement, frontoparietal activity decrease, and strengthened coupling with the secondary somatosensory area indicate greater neural efficiency for the trained sequences. Increased neural efficiency could be related to more established internal representations of the trained sequences, as reported in the previous physical practice study by Wiestler and Diedrichsen (2013). The specialised representations would reduce the planning and preparation time required to initiate and execute the action (Diedrichsen & Kornysheva, 2015), as was demonstrated by our post-training performance results.

2.4.3 Movement-sequence-specific representations of observed actions

Here, for the first time, we investigated whether neural representations of observed actions discriminate between the sequential order of movements and whether the representations become more specialised with observational practice. Our results revealed multiple, predominantly parietal, brain regions that were sensitive to the sequential order of observed keypresses. Before the training, sequence-specific representations were found in the right superior parietal area, the region involved in spatial encoding (Fogassi & Luppino, 2005; Gallivan & Culham, 2015). After the four days of practice, sequence-specific representations (averaged across trained and untrained sequences) were found in the anterior inferior parietal lobule (aIPL), including bilateral supramarginal gyri and anterior intraparietal sulci, as well as right parietal operculum, and left primary motor and sensorimotor cortices. To a lesser

extent (revealed by ROI, but not searchlight analysis) sequence-specific representations were also found in the left ventral and dorsal premotor cortices and right superior parietal lobule. The brain areas with sequence-specific representations in the present observational practice study largely overlap with the areas reported in the physical practice study by Wiestler and Diedrichsen (20013). However, in addition to the premotor and parietal areas, Wiestler and Diedrichsen also reported sequence-specific representations in the right primary motor cortex and supplementary and pre-supplementary motor areas.

In terms of sequential processing in general, it is recognised that behavioural sequences are controlled by central plans that combine multiple discrete movements into single action units or chunks (Dehaene, Meyniel, Wacongne, Wang, & Pallier, 2015; Lashley, 1951; Rhodes et al., 2004; Rosenbaum, Cohen, Jax, Weiss, & van der Wel, 2007). The unified structure of a movement sequence is pre-programmed before the execution to ensure that movements are carried out without interruptions as coherent, fluent behaviour (Abrahamse et al., 2013; Averbeck, Chafee, Crowe, & Georgopoulos, 2002; Baldauf, 2011; Baldauf, Wolf, & Deubel, 2006; Baldauf, Cui, & Andersen, 2008; Halford, Wilson, & Phillips, 1998; Keele et al., 1995; Sakai et al., 2004). The aIPL plays a crucial role in chunking and encoding the abstract unified spatiotemporal structures of performed movement sequences (Grafton et al., 1998; Jubault, Ody, & Koechlin, 2007; Wymbs, Bassett, Mucha, Porter, & Grafton, 2012). Furthermore, the aIPL encodes overarching action plans or goals of planned and performed (Fogassi et al., 2005; Gallivan, McLean, Valyear, & Culham, 2013; Króliczak, Piper, & Frey, 2016; Valyear & Frey, 2015), as well as observed (Dinstein et al., 2008; Grafton & Hamilton, 2007; Jastorff et al., 2010; Oosterhof et al., 2010; Peeters et al., 2009; Ramsey & Hamilton, 2010) actions. Such an overarching representation of an abstract unified action structure is kept active throughout the action duration to monitor its correct implementation (Bonini et al., 2011; Hamilton & Grafton, 2006; Jubault et al., 2007; Rizzolatti et al., 2014). Damage in the aIPL impairs the ability to produce coherent, purposeful actions (apraxia; Bieńkiewicz, Brandi, Goldenberg, Hughes, & Hermsdörfer, 2014), as well as recognising actions produced by others (Buxbaum, Kyle, & Menon, 2005; Rothi, Heilman, & Watson, 1985), and action imagination (Sirigu et al., 1996).

The ventral premotor cortex has strong connections with the aIPL (Rizzolatti et al., 2014) and is also involved in sequence chunking and encoding (Alamia et al., 2016; Koechlin & Jubault, 2006; Wymbs et al., 2012). However, it may encode more concrete, lower-level action features (Cook & Bird, 2013; Wurm & Lingnau, 2015), and the hierarchical rather

than temporal structure of sequences (Koechlin & Jubault, 2006; but see Kornysheva & Diedrichsen, 2014). Likewise, dorsal premotor regions encode goal-related abstract action representations (Cisek, Crammond, & Kalaska, 2003; Gallivan et al., 2013; Shen & Alexander, 1997; Wiestler et al., 2014).

In line with the above reports, sequence-specific activity patterns in the aIPL and premotor regions suggest that the observed keypress sequences were encoded as abstract spatiotemporal structures of unified actions. Noteworthy, the sequence-specific representations in the aIPL were not found before the training. There are at least three complementary explanations for this finding.

First, it is possible that before the training, when participants had the first visual experience with the presented keypress videos, sequence-specific representations mainly reflected spatial processing of movement features. Perhaps general familiarity with the task was necessary to perceive the movements as more meaningful, unified actions. This reasoning is in agreement with the view that motor representations of the perceived actions are evoked only if the particular action is in the observer's own motor repertoire (Giese & Rizzolatti, 2015), otherwise action perception is based on visual analysis of the action elements (Buccino et al., 2004). Second, it is possible that the average of trained and untrained post-training sequence-specific representations reported here was mainly driven by the trained sequences and reflect practice-related effect. Third, a generalisation of learning to the untrained sequences is probable, particularly as many movement pairs were shared between trained and untrained sequences. These explanations also apply to the post-training, but not pre-training, sequence-specific representations found in the right parietal operculum. The right parietal operculum has been implicated in the memory storage and retrieval of movement sequence representations and planned actions (Jubault et al., 2007; Valyear & Frey, 2015). This corresponds to our results that some experience with the sequences was needed to form the sequence-specific and likely memory-related representations in this area.

Post-training, but not pre-training, sequence-specific representations were also found in the left (ipsilateral to the model's hand) primary motor and sensorimotor cortices, lateral from the traditional hand area (Yousry et al., 1997). The sequential representations in this area may reflect subvocal rehearsal of number strings. This possibility was also recognised in the previous studies on sequence-specific representations of performed actions (Kornysheva & Diedrichsen, 2014; Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013; Wiestler et al., 2014). However, it is not clear why such representations would not also be encoded during the first scanning session. Overall, post-training the average cortical area that showed sequence-specific activity patterns was larger than pre-training, and the difference was significant for the trained sequences. Likewise, the average dissimilarity between sequence activity patterns increased from pre- to post-training; however, the increase was not significant. As said before, pre- to post-training differences may reflect general familiarity with the task or training effects that generalise to untrained sequences. Future studies should investigate these possibilities more thoroughly. Though, the focus of the present study was not the general skill learning (pre- to post-training difference), but the sequence-specific learning. Specifically, we were interested whether at post-training the representations of the trained sequences are more specialised than for the untrained sequences. Previous action execution studies have associated more specialised movement sequence representations with better performance (Averbeck et al., 2002; Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013).

However, our results did not show any significant differences between the specificity of trained and untrained sequence representations at post-training. Several complementary explanations are possible. First, possibly there was not enough statistical power to detect subtle differences in the specificity of trained compared to untrained sequence representations. Perhaps, the internal representations of observed, compared to executed sequences, are less distinct in general and differences between trained and untrained sequence representations are subtler and more difficult to detect. Second, the more specialised representations of the trained sequences might emerge when performing the action. Thus, future studies should investigate the observational practice effects on sequence-specific representations of performed actions. Third, it is possible that brain areas with more specialised representations of observed sequences were not covered with our analysis. For example, cerebellum and basal ganglia play an important role in motor learning both by physical (Doyon et al., 2009) and observational (Frey & Gerry, 2006; Torriero et al., 2011) practice.

2.4.4 Conclusions

To our knowledge, the present study is the first to report highly specialised, movementsequence-specific neural representations of observed actions. Such representations are particularly encoded at an abstract level of motor hierarchy which is likely shared with planning one's own actions (Prinz, 1997). The highly specialised neural representations of observed actions highlight the effectiveness of observers' own motor program engagement during action observation. The present study confirms that observational practice facilitates motor skill learning. As with physical practice, observational practice leads to decreased activity and increased connectivity within task-specific brain regions, implying more efficient neural processing to accomplish the task. It would be plausible to explain the practice-related performance and neural processing improvement by more specialised neural representations of the observationally practised actions; however, the present study did not confirm this reasoning.

CHAPTER 3

Anodal tDCS over the primary motor cortex provides no advantage to learning motor sequences through observation

3.1 Introduction

Learning a new motor skill is a time-consuming and effortful process. A number of previous studies show that motor skill learning can be facilitated by anodal transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) of the primary motor cortex (M1) during skill acquisition (for reviews, see Ammann et al., 2016; Buch et al., 2016; Hashemirad et al., 2016; Reis & Fritsch, 2011). It is well established that motor learning increases excitability of M1 and strengthens synaptic connections within M1 through long-term potentiation (LTP)-like mechanisms (Rioult-Pedotti et al., 2000; Sanes & Donoghue, 2000; Spampinato & Celnik, 2017). Similarly, applying an anodal current through the scalp over M1 via tDCS increases excitability of cortical neurons under the surface area of the electrode (Nitsche & Paulus, 2000; Nitsche et al., 2008). The stimulation aftereffects last for more than an hour after a single stimulation session (Nitsche & Paulus, 2001) and are related to LTP-like changes in synaptic plasticity (Stagg & Nitsche, 2011). Thus, anodal tDCS modulates cortical excitability and synaptic plasticity in a similar manner as motor learning. Simultaneous motor task performance and anodal tDCS application (so-called "online" stimulation) likely induces additive effects of the synaptic modification and facilitates motor learning (Stagg & Nitsche, 2011). In addition, compared to single stimulation sessions, consecutive multiple day sessions generally produce higher tDCS effects (Hashemirad et al., 2016), showing a cumulative increase in cortical excitability (Alonzo, Brassil, Taylor, Martin, & Loo, 2012) and a positive effect on motor skill consolidation and retention (Reis et al., 2009; Saucedo Marquez, Zhang, Swinnen, Meesen, & Wenderoth, 2013).

To some extent, motor skills can also be learned by watching others, without overt physical practice. Several theories suggest that action observation engages an observer's own motor system by establishing internal representations of the motor programs required to perform the action (for a review, see Gentsch et al., 2016). Premotor and parietal brain regions are consistently reported as engaged during both action execution and observation and are the core regions of a so-called human mirror system (Jacoboni, Molnar-Szakacs, Gallese, Buccino, & Mazziotta, 2005; Rizzolatti & Sinigaglia, 2010). Although M1 is not typically considered as part of the mirror system, there is growing evidence that it plays an important role in learning by observation. Electrophysiological recordings in monkeys show M1 cells with mirror-like properties and cells engaged in a mental rehearsal of observed actions (Dushanova & Donoghue, 2010; Tkach, Reimer, & Hatsopoulos, 2007; Wahnoun, He, & Tillery, 2006). A number of human transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) studies have reported M1 involvement during action observation (Alaerts, Swinnen, & Wenderoth, 2009; Alaerts, de Beukelaar, Swinnen, & Wenderoth, 2012; de Beukelaar, Alaerts, Swinnen, & Wenderoth, 2016; Fadiga, Fogassi, Pavesi, & Rizzolatti, 1995; Koch et al., 2010; Naish, Barnes, & Obhi, 2016) and motor memory formation in M1 during observational learning (Celnik et al., 2006; Stefan, 2005). Moreover, repetitive TMS (inducing a temporary "virtual lesion") of M1 reduces the benefits of motor learning by observation (Brown, Wilson, & Gribble, 2009) and disrupts action perception (Palmer, Bunday, Davare, & Kilner, 2016). Beneficial effects of anodal tDCS over M1 are reported for learning through motor imagery (Foerster et al., 2013; Saimpont et al., 2016), which shares common mechanisms of observational learning (Jeannerod, 2001; Vogt, Rienzo, Collet, Collins, & Guillot, 2013). Crucially, M1 activity during observation might be a critical factor for the success of motor skill learning via observation (Aridan & Mukamel, 2016). If this is indeed the case, then it is possible that increasing M1 excitability during observational learning would facilitate learning success in a similar manner as that reported for learning by physical practice.

Here, for the first time, we investigate whether applying anodal tDCS over M1 during multiple-day observational practice of keypress sequences facilitates practice effects on sequence-specific skill acquisition and retention. We hypothesise that observational practice coupled with the anodal tDCS should have beneficial effects compared to observational practice alone, as reported for learning by physical practice.

3.2 Method

3.2.1 Participants

Fifty-five participants consented to participate in the study. Five participants did not finish all sessions and were excluded from the analysis. The final sample comprised 50 participants: 14 males and 36 females, 18 to 30 years old (M = 20.60 years, SD = 2.40). All participants were right-handed (based on self-report) Bangor University student volunteers with normal or corrected-to-normal vision, no history of neurological or psychiatric disorders, no contraindications to TMS or tDCS (personal/family history of epilepsy or seizures, metal or implants in the body, frequent headaches, history of serious head injury, heart disease, possibility of being pregnant), and not taking any medication that affects brain function (e.g., anti-epileptic medication, tranquilizers, anti-depressants). Prior to the first stimulation session, participants were assigned to the sham (N = 24) or active stimulation (N = 26) group (see section 3.2.3 for assignment procedure). There were no significant differences between the groups regarding demographics and baseline performance (summarised in Table 3.1). Participants provided their written informed consent prior to beginning all experimental procedures and either received eight course credits or were paid £30 for their participation following completion. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and all procedures were approved by the Ethics Committee of the School of Psychology at Bangor University (approval number: 2016-15675) and the UK Ministry of Defence Research Ethics Committee.

3.2.2 Stimuli and procedure

The same keypress sequence learning paradigm was used as in the previous chapter with the same set of stimuli and the same sequence execution and observation trials (see 2.2.2 *Stimuli*). The motor task required learning four keypress sequences with the left (non-dominant) hand by watching videos of an actor executing the sequences. Experimental procedure and all scripts are available at https://github.com/dcdace/E3tDCS.

Participants underwent six testing sessions (Figure 3.1; Appendix 3.1). On the first day of testing (day 1), participants' left-hand motor area was localised with TMS (see *3.2.3 Motor cortex stimulation-Right M1 localisation* for details). After the localisation procedure, participants received task instructions and completed three single sequence execution trials to ensure they understand the task. The familiarisation procedure was followed by a pre-test, which was immediately followed by the first observational practice session. The

observational practice sessions continued the next three consecutive days (day 2 to day 4). For most participants, sessions were arranged at the same time of the day as the first practice session (with a 1.5 to 2.5-hour difference for three participants in the sham group, and a 0.5 to 1.5-hour difference for four participants in the active stimulation group). The day after completing the last observational practice session, participants performed a post-test (day 5), and a week later they returned to the lab one final time to perform a retention-test (day 12).



Figure 3.1 Experimental procedure. The experiment involved pre-test, four 20-minute-long training sessions coupled with tDCS, post-test, and retention-test. In the pre-, post- and retention-tests, participants executed eight keypress sequences (four of them to be trained, the other four untrained) with the left (non-dominant) hand. In the training sessions, participants watched videos of a model's left hand executing four of the eight sequences. During the training, participants received either sham or active (1 mA) 20-minute stimulation of the right motor cortex (35cm² large area centred on the left-hand motor area M1).

Testing sessions

The pre-, post-, and retention-test sessions were identical to the pre- and post-training sessions described in the previous chapter (see *2.2.3 Procedure*). Briefly, participants executed four trained (or to-be-trained) and four untrained sequences in a random order with their left (non-dominant) hand. Each sequence execution trial started with a 5-digit cue (for 2.7 s), indicating the sequence of keypresses. The cue was then replaced with a cross, serving as a "go" signal to execute the given sequence five times as quickly and accurately as possible. After five executions of the same sequence, the trial ended, and the next sequence was cued.

Participants' performance was assessed as the average sequence initiation time, execution time and error rate for the four trained (to-be-trained) and the four untrained sequences. The error rate was measured as the percentage of incorrect sequence executions. Incorrectly

executed trials were excluded from initiation time and execution time measurements. The initiation time was measured as the duration between the "go" signal and the first keypress. The execution time was measured as the duration between the first and fifth keypresses.

Observational training sessions

During the observational training sessions, participants received either sham or active brain stimulation while watching videos of the model's left hand executing four sequences. Each video showed five repetitions of the same sequence. A trial started with a 5-digit cue (for 2.6 s), indicating the sequence to be executed, followed by a video (13 s) showing five executions of the cued sequence. Participants were instructed to watch whether the hand executed the correct sequence all five times. Occasionally participants were asked whether there was an error in any of the five executions – the error question.

Each practice session was divided into three blocks, separated by a one-minute rest period. Within each block, 20 videos were presented in a random order: each sequence video four times, and one 'error video' (with at least one incorrect sequence execution) for each sequence. The error question was asked randomly 5-7 times per block. At the end of each block, participants received feedback on how accurately they spotted the incorrect sequence executions. During each session, participants saw a correct execution of each sequence at least 60 times (3 blocks, 4 videos per block, 5 repetitions per video, plus some correct repetitions in the 'error video'). The whole training session lasted approximately 20 minutes and was coupled with 20-minutes of sham/active tDCS.

3.2.3 Motor cortex stimulation

Right M1 localisation

Single-pulse TMS was used to localise the left-hand motor area. The TMS coil was positioned on the right hemisphere, slightly anterior and ventral to the vertex of the skull to induce a muscle twitch in the relaxed fingers of the left-hand. The stimulator output was started at 45% and increased in steps of 2-5% until a visible twitch was observed. The stimulator output never exceeded 80%, and participants received no more than 20 pulses in total, with an inter-pulse interval kept to at least 5 seconds. The optimal location at which TMS evoked a just-noticeable finger twitch was marked on the participant's scalp with a surgical marker. For nine participants, a visible twitch was not observed following this procedure, and the motor hand area was instead marked per position C4 of the EEG 10-20

system (Jasper, 1958). The localisation procedure was performed only on the first testing session, and the marked M1 location was renewed with the surgical marker before each stimulation session.

The nine participants whose M1 area could not be localised using TMS were assigned to the sham group as the precise location of the stimulated area was not critical for sham stimulation. We acknowledge that random assignment, independent of localisation procedure, would have been a better approach. The reasons why we could not evoke a visible twitch in some participants may include the extent of representation of the hand area and/or its accessibility via the cortical surface. To our knowledge, no evidence suggests that these factors could affect participants' ability to learn the motor task, and thus should not disadvantage the performance results of the sham group. However, to ensure that the observed group differences are not driven by the non-random assignment to groups, we repeated the analysis of observational training and stimulation effects with the nine non-TMS localised participants excluded. The results of this analysis (see Appendix 3.2) showed no meaningful differences from the results with all participants included. This suggests that the non-random group assignment did not systematically bias our findings. Nevertheless, in the present study, any conclusions about the tDCS effects can only be generalised to a population with relatively easily excitable motor cortex as TMS threshold is an important consideration for the tDCS stimulation (Labruna et al., 2016).

Stimulation parameters

We performed a single-blinded protocol. Participants were semi-randomly assigned to the sham or active stimulation group, keeping gender balanced between the groups and ensuring that the motor hand area of the active group was localised using the TMS procedure described above. Participants were told that they would receive stimulation for up to 20 minutes, not specifying the exact length of the stimulation and not revealing the existence of two stimulation groups. During each practice session, the sham group received 30 seconds, and the active group received 20 minutes of tDCS.

A 1 mA constant current was delivered using a battery-driven DC-stimulator Plus (NeuroConn GmbH, Ilmenau, Germany) via a pair of conductive-rubber electrodes placed into saline-soaked sponges (7 x 5 cm; 0.029 mA/cm^2 current density). The electrodes were secured with elastic bands. The contact impedance was monitored throughout the session to ensure it stayed below 15 k Ω .

The anode was centred over the previously marked right M1. Due to the electrode size, the stimulation likely extended into premotor and anterior parietal cortices as well. The cathode was placed on the left supraorbital ridge (see Figure 3.1). The current was ramped up to 1 mA over 10 seconds, held constant for either 30 seconds (sham) or 20 minutes (active), and then ramped down over 10 seconds. This method is recommended to reliably blind participants to stimulation condition and ensure similar sensations for sham and active stimulation groups (Woods et al., 2015).

The observational training task started one minute after stimulation onset, to allow time for participants to adapt to the stimulation sensations and to ensure they felt comfortable with carrying on with the task. The stimulation ended about one minute before the end of the task.

Sensations questionnaire

After each training session, participants provided information on the intensity of experienced sensations (itching, pain, burning, heat, pinching, metallic taste, fatigue), the timing of any discomfort (when did the discomfort begin and how long did it last?), and the perceived impact of the stimulation on their performance (adapted from Fertonani, Ferrari, & Miniussi, 2015; see Appendix 3.3). At the end of the experiment (day 12) participants were debriefed and asked whether they think they received sham or active stimulation.

3.2.4 Data analysis

All statistical analysis was performed using R (v3.3.2, 2016-10-31) in RStudio (v1.0.136, 2016-12-21, RStudio, Inc, Boston, MA). Graphs were produced in MS Excel 2016 (Microsoft, Redmond, WA, USA). The Excel files, raw data and scripts with all analysis procedures and for reproducing results are available at <u>https://github.com/dcdace/E3tDCS</u>.

Although we had a directional a priori hypothesis, all p-values are reported two-tailed following recommended criteria for appropriate use of one-tailed tests (Kimmel, 1957; Lombardi & Hurlbert, 2009; Ruxton & Neuhäuser, 2010). Specifically, unpredicted results in the opposite direction (M1 stimulation having a negative effect on learning by observation) would not be meaningless and would motivate further investigation.

Given the total sample size of 50, the study had 80% power to detect effects of tDCS that are conventionally considered large (Cohen's d = 0.81; the effect size was estimated with a *power.t.test* function in R for a two-sample, two-sided t-test with 25 observations per group). Three previous multiple stimulation session (3-5 consecutive days, 20-25 min per day, 1-2

mA, ~12.5 participants per group) M1 anodal-tDCS physical training studies reported large tDCS effects ranging from 0.95 to 1.33 Cohen's d (Reis et al., 2009; Saucedo Marquez et al., 2013; Waters-Metenier, Husain, Wiestler, & Diedrichsen, 2014).

For the assessment of tDCS effects, we complemented null hypothesis testing with a Bayesian analysis to provide evidence for or against a null result. We used the *generalTestBF* function of the R package BayesFactor v0.9.12-2 (Morey, Rouder, Love, & Marwick, 2015) with its default parameters. The Bayesian test produced a Bayes factor to allow quantification of evidence in favour of either the alternative (BF₁₀) or null (BF₀₁) hypothesis based on prior beliefs and the present data. To describe the Bayes factor results we used Jeffreys (1961) classification scheme and reported both BF₁₀ and BF₀₁. Jeffreys proposed benchmarks for evaluating the strength of evidence as anecdotal (BF₁₀ 0-3), substantial (BF₁₀ 3-10), strong (BF₁₀ 10-30), very strong (BF₁₀ 30-100), and decisive (BF₁₀ 100- ∞). These Bayes Factors can be readily interpreted as a ratio of evidence in favour of the experimental effect is three times more likely than the null (substantial evidence for the effect), given the data.

The significance threshold for all statistical comparisons was p < 0.05. If not specified otherwise, all sample means are reported with their 95% confidence intervals in squared brackets. Confidence intervals were calculated as SE*2.10, for simplicity rounding the critical t-values 2.07 (for df 23 in the sham group) and 2.06 (for df 25 in the active group) up to one decimal point.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Group characteristics and sensations during training sessions

Gender proportion between sham and active stimulation groups was compared using a Chisquare test. Mann-Whitney U tests were used to compare group age and experienced sensations during the training sessions. Participants' baseline performance (pre-training average of trained and untrained sequences) was compared using an independent measures ttest. Results are summarised in Table 3.1. The reported sensations for each training day are summarised in Table 3.2 and averages of all training days plotted in Figure 3.2.

	Sham (N = 24)	Active (N = 26)	Group difference (p-value)							
Demographics										
Gender (male:female)	8:16	6:20	0.623							
Age (years; M ±SD)	20.96 ±2.97	20.27 ±1.71	0.446							
Baseline performance										
Pre-test initiation time (s; M ±SD)	0.77 ±0.25	$0.89 \pm .30$	0.117							
Pre-test execution time (s; M ±SD)	1.92 ±0.57	2.02 ±0.68	0.590							
Pre-test error rate (%; M ±SD)	25 ±13	30 ±15	0.203							
Sensations										
Strongest (M ±SD)	1.23 ±0.49	1.46 ±0.79	0.478							
Affected (M ±SD)	0.16 ± 0.32	0.30 ±0.36	0.037							
Lasted (M ±SD)	1.14 ±0.48	1.79 ±0.71	0.001							
Shaded fields highlight variables that significantly differed between the sham and active stimulation										
groups. Strongest: the strongest reported	groups. Strongest: the strongest reported sensation intensity level (0-4); Affected: how much did									
sensations affect performance (0-4); Las	sted: when did the dis	scomfort stop (0-3)								

Table 3.1 Group characteristics and self-reported sensations during training sessions.

Table 3.2 Frequencies of self-reported sensations during the training sessions.

The strongest intensity of discomforting sensations																				
	Day 1 Day 2						Day 3				Day 4									
				0): no	ne, 1:	milo	1, 2: 1	mode	erate	e, 3:	consi	dera	ble, 4	4: st	rong				
	0	1	2	3	4	0	1	2	3	4	0	1	2	3	4	0	1	2	3	4
Sham	1	12	10	1	-	4	11	8	1	-	2	15	7	-	-	5	14	5	-	-
Active	2	11	8	3	2	2	18	2	3	1	2	15	4	2	3	3	16	5	2	-
How muc	h did	the s	sensa	tions	affe	ect pe	rfor	mane	ce?											
		D	ay 1				Da	y 2				Da	ay 3			Day 4				
	0: not at all, 1: slightly, 2: considerably, 3: much, 4: very much																			
	0	1	2	3	4	0	1	2	3 4	1	0	1	2	3	4	0	1	2	3	4
Sham	19	5	-	-	-	20	4	-		-	22	2	-	-	-	21	2	1	-	-
Active	18	7	-	1	-	20	6	-		-	18	7	1	-	-	20	6	-	-	-
I																				
When did	the	disco	mfor	t stop)?													_		
		Da	y 1			D	ay 2				Day 3			D	Day 4					
		ns: n	o sen	satio	ns, 1	: quic	ckly,	2: m	iddle	of	the b	lock,	3: e	nd of	f the	bloc	k			
	ns	1	2	3	ns	1	2	3	n	s	1	2	3	ns	1	L :	2 3	3		
Sham	1	15	4	4	4	14	4	2	2	2	19	3	-	5	1	8	- :	1		
Active	2	6	9	9	2	11	7	6	2	2	8	7	9	3	ç)	8 (5		
I					-															



Figure 3.2. The 4-day average values of self-reported sensations during the training sessions. Large dots: group averages; small dots: individual participant values; red: active; blue: sham; error bars: 95% CI; * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01.

There were no significant differences in gender, age, and baseline performance between the groups. All participants experienced some discomforting sensations (itching, pain, burning, heat, taste, or fatigue) during at least one of the four stimulation sessions. On average, participants reported mild to moderate sensations, with some participants from the active group reporting strong sensations. There was also no significant difference between the groups in the reported sensation intensity levels. For the active stimulation group, the sensations lasted significantly longer compared to the sham group. Seven (29%) sham and 16 (62%) active group participants reported that their performance was affected by the discomforting sensations during at least one of the sessions. A majority (91%) of them reported that their performance was only 'slightly' affected. One participant from the sham group was 'considerably' affected in one of the sessions, and one participant from the active group was 'considerably' affected in one session and 'much' affected in another session. On average, the active stimulation group reported being significantly more affected than the sham group.

There were small but significant sensation differences between the sham and active stimulation groups. The sham protocol should provide comparable sensations to the active stimulation protocol (Woods et al., 2015). However, small but significant sensation differences between the stimulation groups, using comparable protocols to ours, have been reported before (Fertonani et al., 2015), raising an issue that the widely accepted sham stimulation procedure may not be sufficiently effective.

Following the recommendation of Fertonani et al. (2015), at the end of the experiment, we asked participants whether they think they received sham or active stimulation. In total, 54% thought they received active stimulation, 32% thought they received sham stimulation, and 14% did not know. There was no significant difference between the two groups regarding which kind of stimulation they thought they received ($\chi^2 = 1.24$, p = 0.538), thus confirming the success of the blinding procedure.

3.3.2 Accuracy during training sessions

During the observational practice sessions, attention to the task was assessed by accurate responses to the error question (spotting incorrectly executed sequences). The overall accuracy was 83%, significantly (p < 0.001) higher than a 50% chance level (yes/no answers), confirming that participants paid attention to the task. The average accuracies for each group and day are plotted in Figure 3.3D. On average, across the four training days, the sham group performed better (M = 86% [82%, 90%]) than the active group (M = 81% [77%, 85%]), with a marginally significant difference between the two groups ($t_{47.27} = 1.99$, p = 0.052, d = 0.56).

The difference in the error detection accuracy between the groups was an unexpected finding. We cannot rule out that anodal tDCS of M1 had some negative effects on the error detection accuracy. However, we do not have any a priori or theoretical grounds to support this suggestion. Another possibility is that the discomforting sensations influenced the error detection accuracy during the training sessions that, as reported above, affected the stimulation group more than the sham group. This possibility is supported by a significant negative correlation between the average accuracy and the average self-report on how much performance was affected by the discomforting sensations (Kendall's tau-b = -0.296, p = 0.008; across both groups).



Figure 3.3. Performance results. Pre-, post-, and retention-test difference in initiation time (**A**), execution time (**B**), and error rate (**C**) between trained (TR) and untrained (UN) sequences for sham (blue) and active (red) stimulation groups. **D.** Error detection accuracy during observational practice sessions. **A-D.** Bars and large dots: group averages; small dots: individual participant values; error bars: 95% CI. **E.** Regression lines of pretest (predictor) and the post-test difference between trained and untrained sequence initiation times for sham (blue) and active (red) stimulation groups. Intercepts of the regression lines represent the predicted post-test difference if the pre-test difference is zero. Vertical bars represent 95% CIs of intercepts **F.** Same as E, but post-test difference corrected for error detection accuracy during training sessions.

Observational training effects depend on the attention paid to the videos and on the general ability to perceive the videos. The error detection accuracy was an indirect measure of these factors. The lower error detection accuracy for the active stimulation group raises a concern that the stimulation effect might have been confounded by the active group not being able to learn from the videos as well as the sham group (e.g., due to stimulation-related discomfort affecting attention). To account for this possibility, we complement the planned

analysis with a secondary analysis including the mean error detection accuracy as a covariate when assessing the stimulation effect.

3.3.3 Observational training effects on sequence-specific learning

The effect of observational training on sequence-specific learning was assessed as a posttraining (separately for the post-test and retention-test) difference between the trained and untrained sequence initiation time, execution time, and error rate. For the sequence initiation time and execution time, we measured a percentage difference (untrained/trained-1), but for the error rate (to avoid dividing by zero), we calculated an absolute difference (untrainedtrained) between the trained and untrained sequences (results of these measures are plotted in Figure 3.3A-C). To correct for possible pre-training differences, we performed a linear regression between the pre-training difference (predictor) and the post-training difference (outcome; see Figure 3.3E for an example plot). The intercept of the regression line was used as a measure of the post-training differences. This method reduces the noise of unwanted differences in the difficulty of trained and untrained sequences and thus allows a more accurate measurement of the training effect.

Both groups showed significant observational training effects at both post-test and retention-test on all three performance measures, with medium to large effect sizes ($d_z = 0.52 - 1.02$). Except, the active stimulation group demonstrated no effect on error rates at retention-test. Detailed results are provided in Table 3.3.

3.3.4 tDCS effects on sequence-specific learning by observation

Primary analysis

The effect of stimulation on sequence-specific learning was assessed by comparing observational training effects (the post-training ~ pre-training regression line intercepts) between the sham and active stimulation groups. The performed analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) did not reveal any significant difference between the two groups on any of the three measures either at post-test or retention-test (Figure 3.3E plots post-test initiation time results). The Bayes factor analysis returned anecdotal to substantial evidence against the stimulation effect. Detailed results are provided in Table 3.3.
Secondary analysis: accounting for error detection accuracy

Due to concern that the stimulation effect could be confounded by sensation and error detection differences (both of which were negatively correlated) between the sham and active stimulation groups, we added the mean error detection accuracy as a covariate to the previous ANCOVA model and repeated the group comparison analysis.

The corrected analysis revealed evidence for the stimulation effect on the percentage difference between trained and untrained sequence initiation times at post-test. Compared to the sham group, the active stimulation group showed a greater difference on this measure (see Figure 3.3F). The error detection accuracy significantly predicted the outcome ($\beta = 0.431$, p = 0.003; the better the accuracy during training, the faster initiation time of trained relative to untrained sequences at post-test). All other measures showed anecdotal to substantial evidence against the stimulation effect when accounting for the error detection accuracy. Detailed results are provided in Table 3.3.

		Observational (trained vs. untra Sham	training effect ined performance) Active	tDCS effect (group difference)	tDCS effect, accounted for the accuracy during training sessions
ion time	Post	t $t_{22} = 2.65, p = 0.015, B_0 = 13\%, d_z = 0.54.$ $t_{24} = 4.02, p < 0.001, B_0 = 24\%, d_z = 0.79.$ t_{47}		$t_{47} = 1.50, p = 0.141, d = 0.44,$ anecdotal evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.70/1.43).	$t_{46} = 2.48, p = 0.017, d = 0.73,$ anecdotal evidence for the effect $(BF_{10}/BF_{01} = 2.41/0.41).$
Initiat	Ret.	$ t_{22} = 3.21, p = 0.004, \\ B_0 = 21\%, d_z = 0.66. $	$\label{eq:t24} \begin{array}{l} t_{24} = 2.87, p = 0.008, \\ B_0 = 21\%, d_z = 0.56. \end{array}$	$t_{47} = 0.05, p = 0.961,$ substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.29/3.49).	$t_{46} = 0.01, p = 0.992,$ substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.29/3.45).
on time	Post	$\begin{array}{l} t_{22}=5.02,p<0.001,\\ B_{0}=15\%,d_{z}=1.02. \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{24}=4.75,p<0.001,\\ B_{0}=14\%,d_{z}=0.93. \end{array}$	$t_{47} = -0.37$, p = 0.710, substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.30/3.31).	$t_{46} = -0.49, p = 0.624,$ substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.31/3.20).
Executi	Ret.	$\label{eq:t22} \begin{split} t_{22} &= 4.02, p = 0.001, \\ B_0 &= 10\%, d_z = 0.82. \end{split}$	$\label{eq:t24} \begin{array}{l} t_{24} = 3.99, p = 0.001, \\ B_0 = 10\%, d_z = 0.78. \end{array}$	$t_{47} = -0.06, p = 0.950,$ substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.28/3.55).	$t_{46} = -0.02, p = 0.984,$ substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.29/3.43).
r rate	Post	$ t_{22} = 2.56, p = 0.018, \\ B_0 = 7\%, d_z = 0.52. $	$\begin{array}{l} t_{24}=2.89,p=0.008,\\ B_{0}=9\%,d_{z}=0.57. \end{array}$	$t_{47} = 0.47, p = 0.644,$ substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.31/3.20).	$t_{46} = 0.20, p = 0.845,$ substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.31/3.28).
Erroi	Ret.	$t_{22} = 2.99, p = 0.007,$ B ₀ = 7%, d _z = 0.61.	$t_{24} = 1.45, p = 0.161,$ B ₀ = 4%, d _z = 0.28.	$t_{47} = -0.81, p = 0.420,$ anecdotal evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.37/2.71).	$t_{46} = -1.05, p = 0.298,$ anecdotal evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.44/2.27).

Table 2.2 Obcompational	prosting offects and	tDCS offects on	cognonoo crosifio loorning
Table 5.5. Observational	bractice effects and	inco enects on	sequence-specific learning.
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

Importantly, although the active group outperformed the sham group on the initiation time of trained relative to untrained sequences at post-test, this does not mean that the active group initiated sequences faster. Here we measured the relative difference between trained and untrained sequences to assess stimulation effects on sequence-specific learning. However, it is known that general skill learning (post-training improvement of untrained sequences) occurs too (Janacsek & Nemeth, 2013; Meier & Cock, 2014). Thus, the observed group difference of the sequence-specific learning-related initiation times at post-test could be due to differences in the performance generalisation to the untrained sequences.

Indeed, the pre/post percentage difference of the untrained sequence initiation times was greater for the sham group (M = 36% [18%, 54%]) compared to the active group (M = 19% [6%, 32%]). The difference was significant when accounting for error detection accuracy during training sessions (p = 0.045). The trained sequence pre/post initiation times were not significantly different between the two groups (p = 0.749). Neither pre/retention untrained sequence initiation times, nor any other measure (pre/post or pre/retention execution times and error rates, corrected for error detection accuracy) showed group differences in performance generalisation to the untrained sequences.

3.4 Discussion

The results of this study showed no evidence that anodal tDCS over M1 facilitates motor sequence learning by observation, unlike previously reported for learning by physical practice (Ammann et al., 2016; Buch et al., 2016; Hashemirad et al., 2016; Reis & Fritsch, 2011). Learning by observation and by physical practice share common neural mechanisms, including M1 engagement during skill practice (Celnik et al., 2006; Stefan, 2005). Crucially, M1 activity during observational practice might be a critical factor for learning success (Aridan & Mukamel, 2016). Based on this evidence, we hypothesised that observational practice coupled with the anodal tDCS over M1 will have beneficial effects compared to observational practice alone. However, our results did not confirm this hypothesis.

Both active and sham stimulation groups benefited from observational practice, replicating previous findings that motor skills can be learned by observation without overt physical practice (Heyes & Foster, 2002; Lago-Rodríguez & Cheeran, 2014; Osman et al., 2005; Vogt & Thomaschke, 2007). Moreover, the learned skill in our task was retained for at least a week. However, M1 stimulation did not provide an advantage to learning the motor sequences by observation. The Bayesian analyses results revealed anecdotal to substantial evidence in favour of the null hypothesis. For example, for the tDCS effect on sequence-specific execution time at post-test, the null hypothesis was 3.39 times more likely than the

alternative hypothesis. Below we discuss some of the possible explanations for this null effect.

3.4.1 M1 may not be critically involved in motor sequence learning by observation

It is possible that M1 is not critically involved in learning keypress sequences by observation. Although there is a consensus of shared mechanisms between action observation and execution, a debate continues over their exact nature, as well as which aspects of the motor hierarchy action observation involves (Giese & Rizzolatti, 2015; Grafton & Hamilton, 2007; Rizzolatti et al., 2014). Functional magnetic resonance imaging studies consistently report premotor and parietal activation during action observation (Caspers et al., 2010; Molenberghs et al., 2012; Rizzolatti & Sinigaglia, 2010). These are the core regions of the so-called human mirror system (Iacoboni et al., 2005; Rizzolatti & Sinigaglia, 2010), and their engagement is also implicated at abstract levels of motor hierarchy, such as action understanding and planning (Grafton & Hamilton, 2007).

Although M1 is not typically considered as part of the human mirror system, there is substantial evidence of M1 involvement during action observation (Alaerts et al., 2009, 2012; de Beukelaar et al., 2016; Brown et al., 2009; Celnik et al., 2006; Fadiga et al., 1995; Koch et al., 2010; Naish et al., 2016; Palmer et al., 2016; Stefan, 2005). Nevertheless, the functional role of M1 engagement during action observation remains unclear. Several studies have questioned the notion of motor-driven learning by observation, arguing instead that perceptual and cognitive processes drive it (Lim, Larssen, & Hodges, 2014; Maslovat et al., 2010b; Vannuscorps & Caramazza, 2016). While primary motor areas might be engaged during action observation, their involvement might not be critical to influence the process of observational learning significantly.

In addition, M1 engagement during observational learning might be task dependent. For example, Aridan and Mukamel (2016) reported a positive relationship between M1 activity during action observation and the success of motor skill learning via observation only if the observed model's performance was faster than the observer's performance at baseline. In our study, the model executed sequences at an intermediate performance level (M = 2.29 s per sequence execution; see 2.2.2 Stimuli-Videos), which on average was slower than the baseline performance of active (M = 2.02 s) and sham (M = 1.92 s) stimulation groups. Perhaps the observers in our study were not sufficiently challenged by the comparatively slow model performer and consequently did not engage M1 as they might if the model performed at an

expert level. Future studies could further explore whether anodal tDCS over M1 facilitates learning by observation when the observed model is performing at an expert level that consistently exceeds the observer's baseline performance.

Importantly, tDCS is not an appropriate tool for assessing M1 involvement in learning by observation. The focality of tDCS is very limited. Due to the electrode size (7 x 5 cm), the stimulation in our study may have extended beyond M1 into nearby premotor and anterior parietal brain regions as well. Moreover, the modulation of cortical excitability under and between the electrodes is still under debate and investigation (Kuo, Polanía, & Nitsche, 2016; Nitsche et al., 2008). Therefore, the null finding in our study does not necessarily imply that the M1 is not involved in sequence learning by observation. Instead, our results imply that anodal tDCS over M1 does not facilitate observational practice effects, contrasting the reports on the M1 stimulation effects on physical practice (Ammann et al., 2016; Buch et al., 2016; Hashemirad et al., 2016; Reis & Fritsch, 2011). The discrepancy between the reported positive stimulation effects on physical practice and our null effect on observational practice may suggest that different mechanisms support the two practice types. However, our conclusions are limited by the lack of the physical practice group in our study, which permits a direct comparison of the stimulation effects of the two practice types with exactly equal stimulation parameters.

3.4.2 Inter- and intra-subject variability in cortical excitability

A possibility that M1 was not appropriately stimulated is unlikely. The location of participants' hand motor area was identified by TMS, which is a reliable method for localising the anatomical position of the hand knob (Boroojerdi et al., 1999). However, the stimulation intensity (1 mA) might be too weak to induce a sufficient effect on all participants. There is high interindividual variability in skull thickness and curvature of the hand area that affects stimulation-induced cortical excitability (Opitz et al., 2013). Unlike TMS studies where stimulator output is tailored for each participant, typical tDCS studies, including ours, use fixed stimulation intensity for all participants. A recent study shows that the effect of anodal tDCS over M1 is larger in participants with higher sensitivity to TMS (Labruna et al., 2016). Thus, it is suggested to individually tailor the tDCS parameters based on participant's sensitivity to cortical excitability as measured by TMS (Labruna et al., 2016). Several other factors can also cause high inter-subject as well as intra-subject variability in the tDCS effects. Such factors include hair thickness, skin conductivity (influenced by

sweat), circadian, metabolic, and hormonal cycles (Horvath, Carter, & Forte, 2014; Horvath, Vogrin, Carter, Cook, & Forte, 2016; Tremblay et al., 2016). Not all factors were controlled in our study and should be addressed more rigorously in future.

3.4.3 Not the right measure of effect

A previous report on motor skill learning by physical practice showed that anodal tDCS facilitated the learning rate but not the final amount of the learning (Stagg et al., 2011). In the present study, we measured only the post-training outcome of the learning. It is possible that, compared to the sham group, the active stimulation group had a steeper learning rate despite the final amount of learning being the same for both groups. Any possible stimulation effects on learning rate remained uncovered and should be addressed in future studies. It should be noted, though, that measuring the rate of motor skill learning by observation is challenging. One possible solution would be a multiple-group between subject design with a varying observational practice length between groups.

3.4.4 Not an optimal stimulation protocol

Another possibility of the observed null effect in our study is that the tDCS protocol employed was not effective in modulating M1 activity to provide behavioural benefits through observational practice. Future studies should investigate different protocols and electrode montages. For example, several reports demonstrate a powerful effect of dual-M1 stimulation (applying anodal tDCS over the trained hand motor cortex and cathodal tDCS over the untrained hand) on motor learning (Koyama, Tanaka, Tanabe, & Sadato, 2015; Waters-Metenier et al., 2014), which outperforms unilateral M1 stimulation montages (Karok & Witney, 2013; Karok, Fletcher, & Witney, 2017; Mordillo-Mateos et al., 2012; Vines, Cerruti, & Schlaug, 2008). It is suggested that the excitation of the motor performing hand is amplified by inhibiting the opposite hemisphere. Furthermore, the dual-M1 stimulation increases functional connectivity between the area under the anode and intracortical areas involved in the task (Lindenberg, Nachtigall, Meinzer, Sieg, & Flöel, 2013; Lindenberg, Sieg, Meinzer, Nachtigall, & Flöel, 2016; Sehm, Kipping, Schäfer, Villringer, & Ragert, 2013).

3.4.5 Stimulation-related sensation and perception differences

In our study, there were small stimulation-induced sensation differences between active and sham groups. A similar finding was reported by Fertonani et al. (2015) whose sensation questionnaire we adopted. Although the self-reported sensation differences were small and

did not compromise our blinding procedure, it is possible that the active stimulation group was more distracted during the training sessions. The self-report on how much performance was affected by the discomforting sensations negatively correlated with the error detection accuracy during the training sessions, adding some support to this idea. Furthermore, the overall error detection accuracy was lower (but not reaching statistical significance) for the active group compared to the sham group. While we do not have any theoretical reason to assume that the anodal tDCS of M1 could negatively affect the error detection accuracy, this possibility cannot be ruled out. Nevertheless, in tDCS studies, it should be a standard procedure not only to ensure an effective blinding but also to record and report sensation differences between active and sham stimulation groups, as we have done in the present study.

3.4.6 Stimulation-related interference on untrained sequence initiation time

To account for the possibility that the stimulation effect on observational training efficacy could be confounded by the active group not being able to learn from the videos as well as the sham group, we performed a secondary, exploratory analysis with the mean error detection accuracy as a covariate when assessing the stimulation effect. The adjusted results indicated that anodal tDCS over M1 during observational practice negatively affects skill generalisation to untrained sequences, specifically regarding the untrained sequence initiation time. This finding could be explained by practice and stimulation-related increase in sequence-specific knowledge that interferes with the general skill transfer to novel sequences (Howard et al., 2004; Müssgens & Ullén, 2015). The sequence initiation time is related to response planning and preparation, processes that are particularly shared between action observation and performance (Prinz, 1997). Although the potential strengthening in sequence-specific knowledge did not provide any performance benefits (when compared to the sham group), this is a potentially important finding supporting M1 involvement in motor sequence learning by observation. The effect should be replicated and further investigated in future studies ensuring comparable sensations and training performance between active and sham stimulation groups.

3.4.7 Conclusions

Our results do not support the hypothesis that anodal tDCS over M1 facilitates keypress sequence learning by observation. The null finding does not necessarily imply that the M1 is not involved in sequence learning by observation, but rather that M1 stimulation, with the parameters employed in our study, does not reliably enhance this function. This finding is important to inform future brain stimulation studies aimed to facilitate learning by observation. Future studies should take special care in minimising inter- and intra-subject variability of the stimulation effect and minimising stimulation-induced discomfort that may interfere with the observational practice effects.

CHAPTER 4

Fluid intelligence and working memory support learning by physical but not by observational practice

4.1 Introduction

Motor skills can be learned by physical practice and by watching another performer. People vary greatly in their ability to acquire new motor skills, but it is unclear if the same factors predict success from physical and observational practice. An extensive amount of research has examined individual differences in motor skill learning through physical practice (Ackerman & Cianciolo, 2000; Kaufman et al., 2010; Reber et al., 1991; Unsworth & Engle, 2005), but little is known about individual differences in motor skill learning through observation. Based on the premise of shared mechanisms between action observation and execution (Gentsch et al., 2016; Rizzolatti & Sinigaglia, 2010), one might expect that the same factors explain individual differences in learning through both types of practice.

In skill acquisition through physical practice, implicit and explicit modes of learning are dissociated. Implicit learning, which occurs subconsciously and unintentionally, is largely independent of effortful cognitive processes and shows little variation across individuals (Kaufman et al., 2010; Reber et al., 1991). Conversely, explicit learning involves conscious awareness of what needs to be learned, requires intentional control and attention, and individual differences in cognitive abilities become more evident (Gebauer & Mackintosh, 2007; Unsworth & Engle, 2005). For example, explicit learning abilities are related to working memory and fluid intelligence (Bo & Seidler, 2009; Christou et al., 2016; Gebauer & Mackintosh, 2007; Janacsek & Nemeth, 2013; Maxwell et al., 2003; Reber et al., 1991; Unsworth & Engle, 2005). Individuals with greater working memory are better at cognitive

control (Cowan, 1998; Unsworth & Engle, 2005), whereas individuals with greater fluid intelligence are better at reasoning in novel tasks that cannot be performed automatically or solved simply by short-term memorisation (Gebauer & Mackintosh, 2007; Wang, Ren, & Schweizer, 2017).

When learning a motor skill, working memory supports action pre-planning and goal maintenance (Bo & Seidler, 2009; Unsworth & Engle, 2005; Verwey, Shea, & Wright, 2015), while fluid intelligence supports long-term memory retrieval, reasoning and acquisition of action patterns necessary to perform the motor task (Feldman, Kerr, & Streissguth, 1995; Gebauer & Mackintosh, 2007; Wang et al., 2017). Working memory and fluid intelligence play particularly important roles at the early (cognitive) stage (Fitts & Postner, 1967) of motor skill acquisition and become less important as learning progresses from controlled to automatic processing (Ackerman, 1988; Seidler, Bo, & Anguera, 2012; Serrien, Ivry, & Swinnen, 2007).

As in explicit learning through physical practice, learning by observation relies on highorder cognitive processing, especially at early stages of skill acquisition (Hodges, Ong, Larssen, & Lim, 2011; Lim et al., 2014; Maslovat et al., 2010b; Vogt & Thomaschke, 2007). The cognitive processes that involve understanding action goals and action planning are shared between action execution and observation (Decety & Grèzes, 1999; Prinz, 1997). Furthermore, brain imaging studies show that both action observation and action execution engage common frontoparietal brain regions (Caspers et al., 2010; Gazzola & Keysers, 2009; Molenberghs et al., 2012; Oosterhof et al., 2013; Rizzolatti & Sinigaglia, 2010). Some of these regions are involved in working memory, attention, and intentions (Ikkai & Curtis, 2011; Lückmann et al., 2014). The brain activity in the frontoparietal regions often decreases following both physical and observational practice, which is interpreted as a decrease in cognitive demand as skill acquisition shifts from cognitive to automatic processing (Higuchi et al., 2012; Kelly & Garavan, 2005; Sakreida et al., 2017). The involvement of common cognitive processes in learning through physical or observational practice raises the question whether the same cognitive abilities explain individual differences in both types of skill acquisition.

Here, for the first time, we investigate whether fluid intelligence and working memory explain individual differences in learning both through physical practice and through observation. We hypothesise that higher fluid intelligence and working memory should facilitate both physical and observational practice effects on motor skill acquisition.

66

In addition to the role of high-order cognitive processes, evidence suggests activation of matching motor representations (internal motor resonance) during action observation, supporting motor skill acquisition beyond just the cognitive stage (Lago-Rodríguez & Cheeran, 2014; Mattar & Gribble, 2005; Naish et al., 2016; Vogt & Thomaschke, 2007). The notion of internal resonance, first experimentally demonstrated in the domain of action (Gallese et al., 1996; Rizzolatti et al., 1996), is thought to extend to broader notion of empathy, and includes "inner imitation" of what others do, think, or feel (Preston & de Waal, 2001). It is suggested that multiple aspects of self-other relations unify under the same basic "mirroring" mechanisms (Gallese, 2001, 2003; Iacoboni, 2009; Leslie, Johnson-Frey, & Grafton, 2004; Preston & de Waal, 2001). If the mechanisms of internal representations of what is perceived and what is experienced generalise across the multiple aspects of self-other relations, then the ability to simulate others' feelings and the ability to simulate others' actions might be interrelated. Brain imaging studies support this view, reporting a relationship between individuals' empathy scores and motor resonance even when perceiving actions with non-emotional content (Gazzola, Aziz-Zadeh, & Keysers, 2006; Kaplan & Iacoboni, 2006; Milston, Vanman, & Cunnington, 2013; Perry, Troje, & Bentin, 2010).

Following this line of reasoning, it is plausible to expect that individual differences in selfother relations might explain variability in motor skill learning by observation. To our knowledge, this question has not been studied before. Therefore, in addition to our main hypothesis, we explore whether individual differences in self-other relations could explain further variability in motor skill learning by observation and how this might compare to learning through physical practice. Finally, we also extend our exploration to broad personality characteristics (McCrae & Costa, 1987), often studied in relation to academic performance and learning (Digman, 1990; Poropat, 2009), but not yet in motor skill learning by observation.

To summarise, the aims of the present study are to (1) investigate whether fluid intelligence and working memory explain individual differences in motor skill learning both through physical practice and through observation; (2) to explore whether self-other relations and broad personality characteristics explain further variability in motor skill learning through observation and how this compares to learning through physical practice.

67

4.2 Method

4.2.1 Participants

Two hundred twenty-three Bangor University student volunteers took part in the study: 69 males and 154 females, 18 to 37 years old (M = 19.96 years, SD = 3.09). All but one participant were right-handed (based on self-report). The left-handed participant was excluded from the sample. Data of additional 38 participants were also excluded for various reasons (see *4.2.4 Analysis-Data cleaning*). The final sample comprised 184 participants. Participants were randomly assigned to physical (N = 92) or observational (N = 92) practice groups. There were no significant differences between the two groups in terms of demographics and baseline performance (summarised in **Error! Reference source not f ound.**). Participants provided their written informed consent prior to beginning all experimental procedures. Participation was rewarded with either three course credits or £10. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and all procedures were approved by the Ethics Committee of the School of Psychology at Bangor University (approval number: 2014-11824) and the UK Ministry of Defence Research Ethics Committee.

4.2.2 Measures of individual differences

Fluid intelligence and working memory

Fluid intelligence was assessed by a total score of the Analogies, the Number series and the Matrices subtests of The Intelligenz–Struktur–Test 2000R (Amthauer, Brocke, Liepmann, & Beauducel, 2001), as applied before by Beauducel, Brocke, and Liepmann (2001). A computerised version of the subtests was created in MATLAB 8.3.0 (The MathWorks, MA, USA), closely mimicking the paper version of the tests.

Working memory was assessed by a computerised version of the spatial short-term memory test, implemented and validated by Lewandowsky, Oberauer, Yang, and Ecker (2010). Participants had to remember spatial relations between dots in a 10x10 grid.

Personality questionnaires

We used multifaceted empathy, interdependence, narcissism and Big-Five personality measures to assess individuals' self-other relations and broad personality characteristics. Empathy scores were acquired using the interpersonal reactivity index questionnaire (IRI; Davis, 1980, 1983). The IRI is a 28-item measure of four empathy dimensions: perspective taking (adopting other's point of view), fantasy (self-identification with fictional characters), empathic concern (compassion and concern for others), and personal distress (distress when seeing another's negative experience). Interdependence was assessed by a 24-item Self-Construal scale (Singelis, 1994). The scale measures both interdependence and independence, but in the analysis, we focused only on the interdependence measure. Trait narcissism was measured by a 40-item Narcissistic personality inventory (NPI; Raskin & Terry, 1988). Broad personality characteristics were assessed by a 44-item Big-Five inventory (John, Donahue, & Kentle, 1991; John, Naumann, & Soto, 2008) measuring five domains of personality: openness to experience, conscientiousness, extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism. All four questionnaires were created in MATLAB and required forced-choice responses (all questions had to be answered).

4.2.3 Stimuli and procedure

The same keypress sequence learning paradigm was used as in the previous chapters with the same set of stimuli and the same sequence execution and observation trials (*see 2.2.2 Stimuli*).

On arrival, participants were randomly assigned to physical (PP) or observational (OP) practice groups. For each participant, from the set of 12 sequences, one sequence was randomly allocated to the familiarisation with the task, two other sequences to the Trained condition, and two more to the Untrained condition. The motor task required learning two keypress sequences with the left (non-dominant) hand either by a physical practice (PP group) or by watching videos of an actor executing the sequences (OP group).

Familiarisation involved three single sequence execution trials (as in previous chapters, one trial consisted of five continuous repetitions of the same sequence) to ensure participants understand the task. In the pre- and post-training sessions participants executed the two to-be-trained and two untrained sequence trials (one trial per sequence) in a random order. During training, participants practised two sequences by either performing (PP group) or watching (OP group) 36 trials of each sequence. The training session was divided into four subsessions. Each sub-session consisted of 9 trials per sequence. For the OP group, one of the 9 trials was an 'error trial' – a video showing at least one incorrect sequence execution. In each sub-session, the error question (see 2.2.2 Stimuli-Sequence observation trial) was asked randomly 5-7 times. Attention to the observed videos was assessed as a percentage of accurate responses to the 'error question'.

The whole testing procedure lasted approximately two hours and consisted of the following steps: information, consent and instructions; Matrices test; motor task familiarisation; pre-test; 9 blocks of training; Big Five inventory; 9 blocks of training; IRI questionnaire; 9 blocks of training; NPI questionnaire; 9 blocks of training; Self-Construal scale questionnaire; post-test; Analogies test; Numbers test; spatial short-term memory test; debrief.

4.2.4 Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using R (v3.3.2, 2016-10-31) in RStudio (v1.0.136, 2016-12-21, RStudio, Inc, Boston, MA). Graphs were produced in MS Excel 2016 (Microsoft, Redmond, WA, USA). The Excel files, raw data and scripts with all analysis procedures and for reproducing results are available at https://github.com/dcdace/E1_IndDiff.

The significance threshold for all statistical comparisons was p < 0.05. All sample means are reported with their 95% confidence intervals in square brackets. Confidence intervals were calculated as SE*1.99, for 91 degrees of freedom.

Measure of the training effect on sequence-specific learning

Participants' physical performance was assessed at pre- and post-test, measuring the average sequence execution time of the two trained (to-be-trained) and the two untrained sequences. The sequence execution time was measured as the duration between the first and the fifth keypresses. Incorrectly executed trials were excluded from further analysis.

The effect of training on sequence-specific learning was assessed as a post-training percentage difference between the trained and untrained sequence execution times accounting for possible pre-training percentage differences between the sequences, according to the equation below.

$$Training \ Effect = 100 * \left(\frac{post_{Untrained}ET}{post_{Trained}ET} - 1\right) - 100 * \left(\frac{pre_{Untrained}ET}{pre_{Trained}ET} - 1\right)$$

Data cleaning

One participant who reported being left-handed and 18 participants who did not correctly execute any trials in one (or more) of the four conditions (pre-Trained, pre-Untrained, post-Trained, post-Untrained) were excluded from the analysis. Twelve participants from the OP group were excluded due to the possibility of not paying enough attention to the practice videos. Specifically, the excluded participants had more than 50% error rate to the 'error

question' in the second, third or fourth training sub-session. The exclusion was based on the assumption that the first sub-session was still a familiarisation with the task, but having more than 50% error rate on the following sub-sessions would indicate a lack of attention to the observed videos, thus compromising the practice effect.

From the remaining sample, eight participants were excluded as pre-test outliers. The outliers were defined as pre-Trained or pre-Untrained execution time values being more than two times the interquartile range above the third quartile or below the first quartile.

Hypothesis testing

Our main hypothesis was that fluid intelligence and working memory predict the sequencespecific training effect for both PP and OP groups. We used multiple regression analysis to test this hypothesis. PP and OP groups were analysed separately. All variables were converted to within-group z-scores.

The regression model consisted of the training effect as the dependent measure and three predictor variables: baseline performance (an inverse of the pre-training average of trained and untrained sequence execution times; shorter execution time equals higher performance), fluid intelligence score and working memory score. The baseline performance was included as a predictor because participants who are already skilled at the task may have little benefit from the training compared to participants with poor initial skills (Alexander & Smales, 1997).

Given the sample size of 92 in each group, the test had 80% power to detect predictor effects that are conventionally considered small to medium ($f^2 = 0.12$; Cohen, 1988). The effect size was estimated with a *pwr.f2.test* function in R for a linear regression model with three predictor variables and sample size 92.

Exploratory analysis

In addition to the main hypothesis, we explored whether personality traits further explain the variance of the training effect. As in the main hypothesis testing, PP and OP groups were analysed separately, and all variables were converted to within-group z-scores.

We applied all-subsets regression analysis with 14 predictor variables: baseline performance, fluid intelligence, working memory, perspective taking, fantasy, empathic concern, personal distress, interdependence, narcissism, openness to experience, conscientiousness, extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism. All-subset regression is an alternative to stepwise regression methods for finding the "best" model. Unlike the stepwise approach, all-subsets regression does not presume that a single "best" model exists. Instead, it provides all possible "equally good best" models. Allsubsets regression avoids premature termination, which is a limitation of stepwise approaches where some combinations of variables may be missed completely (Brown, 2005; Kuk, 1984). Instead, all-subsets regression uses all possible subsets and combinations of predictor variables and compares the regression models to a chosen statistical criterion, e.g., the Schwarz's Bayesian information criterion (BIC; Schwarz, 1978). BIC is based, in part, on the likelihood function and uses penalised sum of squares criteria. A model with the lowest BIC is the model with an optimal combination of predictor variables that best explain the variance of the outcome variable.

The all-subsets regression analysis was implemented using the R *regsubsets* function in the *leaps* package, which uses a branch-and-bound algorithm (Furnival & Wilson, 1974; Miller, 2002). The predictor variable subset with the minimum BIC was chosen as the one best explaining the variance in the training effect.

Given the sample size of 92 in each group, the analysis had 80% power to detect predictor effects that are conventionally considered medium to large ($f^2 = 0.23$; Cohen, 1988). The effect size was estimated with a *pwr.f2.test* function in R for a linear regression model with 14 predictor variables and sample size 92.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Group characteristics

The PP and OP groups were compared using a Chi-square test on the proportion of males and females as well as the number of native English speakers. Participants' baseline performance, working memory and fluid intelligence scores were compared using an independent measures t-test. Personality questionnaire scores were compared using Mann-Whitney U tests. There were no significant differences between the two groups in terms of demographics, baseline performance or personality measures. Results are summarised in Table 4.1.

	Physical practice (N = 92)	Observational practice (N = 92)	Group difference (p-value)
Demographics			
Gender (male:female)	30:62	30:62	1
Age (years; M ±SD	19.68 ±2.32	19.70 ±2.62	0.976
English 1st language (yes:no)	76:16	80:12	0.538
Baseline performance (M ±S	D)		
Pre-Execution time (s)	2.16 ±0.78	2.00 ±0.57	0.113
Personality measures (M ±SI))		
Working memory	196.13 ±15.75	195.18 ±15.17	0.679
Fluid intelligence	31.03 ±8.01	31.78 ±7.22	0.506
Extraversion	3.32 ±0.78	3.2 ±0.73	0.227
Agreeableness	3.76 ± 0.67	3.77 ±0.6	0.915
Conscientiousness	3.23 ±0.55	3.29 ±0.65	0.668
Neuroticism	3.14 ± 0.8	3.24 ±0.84	0.487
Openness	3.4 ±0.6	<u>3.46 ±0.59</u>	0.359
Perspective taking	18.88 ±4.47	17.96 ±5.35	0.371
Fantasy	18.67 ±6.01	18.74 ±6.08	0.992
Emotional concern	19.03 ±4.56	19.35 ±5.34	0.426
Personal distress	12.36 ±4.8	12.7 ±5.23	0.616
Narcissism	12.41 ±6.27	11.6 ±6.88	0.261
Interdependence	43.3 ±5.83	43.03 ±6.9	0.917

Table 4.1 Group characteristics.

4.3.2 Training effect on sequence-specific learning

Both PP (M = 68% [58%, 78%], $t_{91} = 13.44$, p < 0.0001, $d_z = 1.40$) and OP (M = 10% [4%, 16%], $t_{91} = 3.32$, p = 0.0013, $d_z = 0.35$) groups showed significant training effects on sequence-specific learning (see Figure 4.1). For the PP group, the training effect was considerably larger than for the OP group (M = 58% [70%, 46%], $t_{149.31} = 9.80$, p < 0.0001, $d_z = 1.60$).



Figure 4.1 Training effect on sequence-specific learning. Error bars: 95% CI, ** p < 0.01, **** p < 0.0001; TR, trained; UN, untrained; PP, physical practice group; OP, observational practice group.

4.3.3 Fluid intelligence and working memory as predictors of the training effects Primary analysis: sequence-specific learning

We used multiple regression analysis to test whether fluid intelligence and working memory predict the sequence-specific training effect. The baseline performance (an inverse of the pre-training average of trained and untrained sequence execution times) was also included in the model to control for the baseline performance differences which may contribute to the training effect.

All three predictor variables were intercorrelated but not so highly as to suggest multicollinearity. Fluid intelligence and working memory were positively correlated (r = 0.432, p < 0.001), and both fluid intelligence (r = 0.423, p < 0.001) and working memory (r = 465, p < 0.001) were positively correlated with the baseline performance.

The model with the three predictor variables significantly explained sequence-specific training effect variance in the PP group, however, fluid intelligence was the only significant predictor. When controlling for the baseline performance and working memory, the fluid intelligence explained 14% of the training effect variance. Higher fluid intelligence predicted higher sequence-specific training effect. Contrary to our predictions, none of the variables explained variance in the OP group. Results of the regression analyses are summarised in Table 4.2 (see also Appendix 4.3 for raw scatter plots of sequence-specific learning versus fluid intelligence/working memory for OP and PP groups).

Considering the possibility of an interaction between the baseline performance and cognitive abilities, we included interactions between the variables in the regression model. However, none of the interactions for neither PP nor OP group proved to be significant.

	Physical pra	actice	Observational	practice		
Model	$F_{3,88} = 4.47$, p = 0.006, $R^2 = 0.132$		$F_{3,88} = 0.21, p = 0.886, R^2 = 0.007$			
Coefficients	β [95% CI] t p		β [95% CI]	t	р	
Intercept	0	0	1	0	0	1
Baseline performance	- 0.203 [-0.456, 0.050]	-1.601	0.112	0.076 [-0.161, 0.313]	0.637	0.526
Fluid intelligence	0.373 [0.149 0.597]	3.312	0.001	0.026 [-0.227, 0.278]	0.202	0.841
Working memory	-0.165 [-0.419, 0.089]	-1.291	0.200	-0.053 [-0.292, 0.185]	-0.446	0.657

Table 4.2. Regression analysis summary of sequence-specific training effects.

Although we were focusing on the sequence-specific training effect, a post-training improvement of untrained sequences (general skill learning) is inevitable (Janacsek & Nemeth, 2013; Meier & Cock, 2014). In our measurement, the sequence-specific learning (the post-training improvement of the trained vs. untrained sequences) was inversely related to the measure of the general skill learning (post-training improvement of the untrained

sequences). Inevitably, participants with greater general skill learning would show lower sequence-specific learning. It is also possible that fluid intelligence and working memory have different effects on general compared to sequence-specific learning. It was not the aim of this study to investigate these differences; however, to better understand the relationship between the involved measures, we performed a secondary analysis.

Secondary analysis: general skill learning

In a secondary analysis, we investigated how the baseline performance, fluid intelligence and working memory predict general skill learning. General skill learning was measured as pre/post percentage difference of the untrained sequence execution times.

The model with the three predictor variables significantly explained the general skill learning variance in both PP and OP groups. In the PP group, lower baseline performance and higher working memory significantly predicted higher training effect on general skill learning. Fluid intelligence was not a significant predictor. In the OP group, as well, lower baseline performance predicted higher general skill learning, but neither fluid intelligence nor working memory was a significant predictor. Detailed results of the regression analyses are summarised in Table 4.3.

	Physical practice			Observational practice			
Model	$F_{3,88} = 6.386$, p = 0.0006, $R^2 = 0.179$		$F_{3,88} = 6.582, p = 0.0005, R^2 = 0.183$				
Coefficients	β [95% CI] t p		β [95% CI]	t	р		
Intercept	0	0	1	0	0	1	
Baseline perf.	-0.514 [-0.760, -0.268]	-4.158	0.00007	-0.434 [-0.650, -0.219]	-4.02	0.0001	
Fluid intelligence	-0.268 [-0.245, 0.191]	-0.245	0.807	0.082 [-0.147, 0.311]	0.715	0.476	
Working memory	0.384 [0.137, 0.631]	3.089	0.003	-0.072 [-0.288, 0.144]	-0.664	0.508	

Table 4.3. Regression analysis summary of general skill learning.

An integrated visualisation of relationships among the involved measures is presented in Figure 4.2. For each group, in addition to the standardised beta estimates of the two regression models, the figure shows positive correlations among the three predictor variables and a negative correlation between the general skill learning and sequence-specific learning.

Overall, fluid intelligence and working memory were significant predictors of the physical practice effects, but none of the variables predicted observational practice effects. To further investigate what other variables could explain the variance in the physical and observational practice effects, we performed an exploratory analysis with 11 additional predictor variables.



Figure 4.2. An integrated visualisation of relationships among the involved measures. For each group (physical practice and observational practice), the figure shows standardised beta estimates of how baseline performance, fluid intelligence and working memory predict the sequence-specific and general skill learning. In addition, the figure shows the predictor intercorrelation coefficients and outcome intercorrelation coefficients. Green: positive, red: negative, fading reflects significance.

4.3.4 Personality measures as additional predictors of the training effects

In an exploratory analysis, we added 11 additional predictor variables to help further explain the variance in the training effects. As in the main hypothesis testing, PP and OP groups were analysed separately, and all variables were converted to within-group z-scores. Some of the 14 predictor variables were intercorrelated, but not so high as to suggest multicollinearity (Figure 4.3A). For transparency, simple correlations between the training effects and each predictor variable for each group are presented in Figure 4.3B.

Primary analysis: sequence-specific learning

All-subsets regression analysis with BIC for model ranking (see *4.2.4 Analysis-Exploratory analysis*) returned only one subset of predictors that best explains the variance in the training effect on sequence-specific learning. For the PP group, the winning subset included fluid intelligence, working memory and agreeableness, explaining 18.5% of the variance. The winning model and all three predictor variables were significant (see Table 4.4 for detailed results). The result shows that in addition to higher fluid intelligence and lower working memory, higher agreeableness (and not the baseline performance as was reasoned in the primary analysis) is related to better sequence-specific training effects in the PP group. For the OP group, the winning subset included only one predictor variable: openness to experience. However, the winning predictor did not significantly explain the variance of sequence-specific training effect in the OP group (see Table 4.4 for detailed results). All

rankings of the two best models for each number of predictors (1-14) for each group are presented in Appendix 4.1.

To investigate the possibility that individual differences in agreeableness might reflect gender differences (Schmitt, Realo, Allik, & Voracek, 2008), we repeated the all-subsets analyses including gender as an additional predictor variable. The repeated analyses did not change the results for either PP or OP group, indicating that there were no significant gender differences in the training effects.

Table 4.4. The winning mo	odels for sequence-	specific learning.
---------------------------	---------------------	--------------------

	Physical practice	Observational practice					
Model	$F_{3,88} = 6.635, p < 0.001, R^2 = 0.185$			Model	$F_{1,90} = 1.81, p = 0.182, R^2 = 0.020$		
Coefficients	β [95% CI]	t	р	Coefficients	β [95% CI]	t	р
Intercept	0	0	1	Intercept	0	0	1
Fluid intelligence	0.395 [0.180, 0.611]	3.641	0.0005	Openness	0.140 [-0.067, 0.348]	1.345	0.182
Working memory	-0.329 [-0.545, -0.113]	-3.037	0.003				
Agreeableness	0.286 [0.089, 0.482]	2.888	0.005				

Secondary analysis: general skill learning

For the training effects on general skill learning, none of the personality measures helped further explain the variance in the PP group. The all-subsets regression analysis with BIC for model ranking returned baseline performance and working memory as the best predictors of the physical practice effects (see Table 4.5 for detailed results).

In the OP group, baseline performance and agreeableness best explained the variance of the training effect on general skill learning. Both lower baseline performance and lower agreeableness predicted higher general skill learning, however, agreeableness did not reach statistical significance (see Table 4.5 for detailed results). Adding gender as an additional predictor variable did not change the results for either the PP or OP group.

Table 4.5. The winning models for general skill learning.

]	Physical practice		Observational practice				
Model	$F_{2,89} = 9.651, p < 0.001, R^2 = 0.160$			Model	$F_{2,89} = 11.81, p < 0.001, R^2 = 0.192$		
Coefficients	β [95% CI]	t	р	Coefficients	β [95% CI]	t	р
Intercept	0	0	1	Intercept	0	0	1
Baseline perf.	-0.521	-4.341	0.00004	Baseline perf.	-0.431	-4.569	0.00002
	[-0.711 -0.331]				[-0.619, -0.243]		
Working memory	0.377	3.139	0.002	Agreeableness	-0.182	-1.929	0.057
	[0.138, 0.615]				[-0.370, 0.006]		



Figure 4.3. Simple correlations between the variables. The figure shows correlation coefficient values and their representations as squares. Positive correlations are displayed in red and negative correlations in blue colour. Colour intensity and size of the squares are proportional to the magnitude of the correlation. Crossed squares represent non-significant (p < 0.05) correlations. **bPerf**, baseline performance; **IQsum**, fluid intelligence; **WM**, working memory; **PT**, perspective taking; **FS**, fantasy; **EC**, empathic concern; **PD**, personal distress; **InterD**, interdependence; **Extrov**, extraversion; **Agr**, agreeableness; **Consc**, conscientiousness; **Neur**, neuroticism; **Open**, openness to experience; **NPI**, narcissism. **A.** Correlations between all 14 predictor variables. **B.** Correlations between the training effects and predictor variables.

4.3.5 Working memory predicts general skill learning but not sequence-specific learning in the PP group

In the PP group, the observed negative relationship between working memory and sequence-specific learning is likely due to individuals with higher working memory being better at general skill learning, and the general skill learning measure being inversely related to the sequence-specific learning measure. To examine this possibility, we included the post-training performance of untrained sequences as an additional regressor to the winning model of the sequence-specific learning and repeated the regression analysis. As before, the model significantly explained the variance of the sequence-specific training effect in the PP group ($F_{4,87} = 6.555$, p = 0.0001, R² = 0.232). Fluid intelligence ($\beta = 0.441$, p = 0.0001) and agreeableness ($\beta = 0.280$, p =0.005) were still significant positive predictors; the post-training performance of untrained sequences was a significant negative predictor ($\beta = 0.262$, p = 0.023; higher sequence-specific learning was related to poorer performance of the untrained sequences post-training); but working memory was not a significant predictor anymore ($\beta = -0.201$, p = 0.080).

Accordingly, the overall results indicate that working memory does not play a significant role in physical practice effects on sequence-specific learning, but is a significant predictor of general skill learning.

4.3.6 Fluid intelligence and working memory as predictors of perceptual improvements

It is important to emphasise that during the practice sessions the OP group had to engage in two parallel tasks: learning the motor sequence and detecting errors in the observed model's performance. Because error detection was an explicit task that the OP group was asked to perform, we were interested to see whether fluid intelligence and working memory are related to the perceptual improvements.

Across the four observational practice sub-sessions (runs), the mean error detection accuracy in the OP group was 89% [87%, 91%]. There was a significant improvement from run 1 to run 2 ($t_{91} = 3.99$, p = 0.0001) with no significant improvements in the following runs (p > 0.380; see Figure 4.4A).

We excluded run 1 from the subsequent analysis assuming that during the first sub-session error detection accuracy reflected not only participants' perceptual abilities but largely also a general unfamiliarity with the task. Therefore, observational practice-related perceptual improvement was measured as error detection accuracy difference between run 4 and run 2 (results of run 4 vs. run 1 instead are included in Appendix 4.2.). Although on average there was no significant difference between the two runs, it was still worth investigating individual differences in participants' perceptual improvements. Importantly, we were able to measure only the general (pre- to post- training improvement) not the sequence-specific perceptual improvement as participants were never asked to watch the untrained sequences. An investigation of sequence-specific perceptual improvements should be carried out in future studies.

The error detection accuracy at run 2 (as a baseline performance), fluid intelligence, and working memory measures were z-scored and included in a multiple regression analysis to test whether they predict the error detection accuracy improvement from run 2 to run 4. The regression model significantly explained the variance in the perceptual improvement measure, with lower baseline performance and higher working memory as significant predictors (see Table 4.6 and Figure 4.4B). Note that a similar result was found for the general motor skill learning in the PP group (Table 4.3). Overall, in the OP group, working memory was a significant predictor for general perceptual improvements but not for the motor skill learning.

Further, we investigated whether the error detection accuracy would help explain motor skill learning in the OP group. To do so, we repeated the all-subsets analyses (as in section 4.3.4) including the mean error detection accuracy (the mean across all four runs and the mean of runs 2 to 4) as an additional predictor variable. The repeated analyses did not change the results for either the sequence-specific nor general skill learning in the OP group, implying that error detection ability did not significantly influence motor skill acquisition through observation.

	Run4 – Run2 accuracy							
Model	$F_{3,88} = 16.56, p < 0.0$	$F_{3,88} = 16.56, p < 0.0001, R^2 = 0.334$						
Coefficients	β [95% CI] t p							
Intercept	0	0	1					
Run2 accuracy	-0.588 [-0.765, -0.411]	-6.618	< 0.0001					
Fluid intelligence	0.144 [-0.052, 0.341]	1.463	0.147					
Working memory	0.203 [0.014, 0.393]	2.133	0.036					

 Table 4.6. OP group perceptual improvement (from run 2 to run 4) regression analysis summary.



Figure 4.4. Error detection accuracy and perceptual improvement predictors. A. Group-averaged accuracy in response to the error question during observational training. Error bars represent within-subject (Cousineau, 2005) 95% CI. **B.** Perceptual improvement predictor variables. The figure shows standardised beta estimates of how error detection accuracy in run 2, fluid intelligence, and working memory predict the perceptual improvement from run 2 to run 4. In addition, the figure shows the predictor intercorrelation coefficients. Green: positive, red: negative, fading reflects significance.

4.4 Discussion

Based on the premise of shared mechanisms between action observation and execution (Gentsch et al., 2016; Rizzolatti & Sinigaglia, 2010), we examined whether the same factors explain individual differences in learning through physical and observational practice. We hypothesised that individuals' cognitive abilities, specifically fluid intelligence and working memory, would positively predict both physical and observational practice effects (Aim 1, see *4.1 Introduction*), as both types of learning involve high-order cognitive processes. In addition, we explored whether individuals' self-other relations and broad personality characteristics further explain the variance in observational practice effects and how this compares to physical practice (Aim 2). In general, we found that both physical and observational practice facilitated motor skill acquisition. Fluid intelligence, working memory, and agreeableness were significant predictors of the physical practice effects. However, contrary to our predictions, none of our measures of interest explained variance for the observational practice effects.

4.4.1 Individual differences in physical practice effects on skill acquisition

In line with previous reports (Bo & Seidler, 2009; Christou et al., 2016; Gebauer & Mackintosh, 2007; Janacsek & Nemeth, 2013; Maxwell et al., 2003; Reber et al., 1991; Unsworth & Engle, 2005), we found that both higher working memory and fluid intelligence support learning through physical practice. Furthermore, although working memory and fluid intelligence were correlated, they also supported different processes, as reported previously

(Ackerman, Beier, & Boyle, 2005; Kane, Hambrick, & Conway, 2005; Shipstead, Harrison, & Engle, 2016; Wang et al., 2017). Specifically, working memory contributed to general skill learning, while fluid intelligence contributed to sequence-specific learning.

General skill learning refers to an overall faster execution of both trained and untrained sequences due to familiarity with the task and increased tapping speed. Sequence-specific learning refers to acquiring knowledge of the sequence structure, enabling fast and smooth sequence execution. Our aim was not to compare the two types of learning, *per se.* Instead, we were primarily interested in sequence-specific learning, as it better reflects the actual sequence skill learning over general performance improvements (Janacsek & Nemeth, 2013; Wong, Lindquist, Haith, & Krakauer, 2015). However, in our measurement, the sequence-specific learning was inversely related to the measure of the general skill learning. Inevitably, participants with greater general skill learning would show lower sequence-specific learning. Furthermore, it is possible that fluid intelligence and working memory have different effects on general compared to sequence-specific learning. Therefore, to better understand the relationship between the involved measures, we examined individual differences in both general skill and sequence-specific learning.

Participants' baseline performance and working memory (but not their interaction or fluid intelligence) significantly predicted physical practice effects on general skill learning. Individuals who performed well already at the beginning of the experiment benefited less from physical practice than individuals with poor initial performance. However, even though individuals with higher working memory performed better at the baseline measure, they also exhibited greater general skill learning than individuals with lower working memory. Contrary, higher fluid intelligence and agreeableness predicted beneficial effects of physical practice on sequence-specific learning. However, neither working memory, nor baseline performance, nor their interaction played a significant role in sequence-specific learning.

It has been suggested before that working memory might be more related to general skill learning rather than sequence-specific learning (Janacsek & Nemeth, 2013; Rhodes et al., 2004). Working memory is important in supporting attention and maintaining task goals (Unsworth & Engle, 2005). These abilities are essential for general task performance, which relies on short-term memorisation of the cued sequence and fast execution of discrete keypresses. By contrast, sequence-specific skills, in addition to general task performance, involve long-term memory retrieval of the trained sequence and integration of its discrete keypresses into a unified sequence representation (Abrahamse et al., 2013; Verwey, 1996).

Long-term memory retrieval has been linked to intelligence (Alexander & Smales, 1997), and, consistent with our findings, previous reports show that fluid intelligence predicts learning and retrieval processes beyond the influence of working memory (Wang et al., 2017).

Besides fluid intelligence, agreeableness explained an additional 8% of the variance in sequence-specific learning by physical practice. Individuals who score highly on agreeableness are characterised as being cooperative and exhibiting high self-control to comply with external demands (McCrae & Löckenhoff, 2010). In the context of learning, agreeable individuals are more motivated and willing to make an effort at performing the task at hand (Bidjerano & Dai, 2007; Vermetten, Lodewijks, & Vermunt, 2001). Thus, it is plausible to suggest that the higher motivation and engagement with the task, as demonstrated by agreeable individuals, can facilitate motor skill acquisition through physical practice.

4.4.2 Individual differences in observational practice effects on skill acquisition

As in learning through physical practice, learning through observation involves high-order cognitive processes (Hodges et al., 2011; Lim et al., 2014; Maslovat et al., 2010b; Vogt & Thomaschke, 2007). Therefore, we hypothesised that the same cognitive abilities (fluid intelligence and working memory) should explain individual differences in both types of skill acquisition. However, our results did not support this hypothesis.

Previous research shows that fluid intelligence and working memory are significant predictors for explicit, but not implicit, learning. Under explicit conditions, individuals engage in intentional cognitive processes of attention and executive control. It is suggested that intentional control processes facilitate learning through hypothesis-testing strategies (Maxwell et al., 2003; Norman, Price, & Duff, 2006; Unsworth & Engle, 2005). Namely, the performer is constantly establishing and monitoring how their motor output matches the desired outcome (e.g., through internal inverse and forward models of motor control; Wolpert & Ghahramani, 2000). Such hypothesis-testing is not possible in implicit (unintentional) learning, as the performer is not consciously aware of what the desired outcome is. When learning by observation, although the desired outcome is known, direct monitoring of the motor output is not possible, making the hypothesis-testing impossible as well. Perhaps although deliberate cognitive processes are involved in observational learning, the limited aspect of hypothesis-testing makes observational learning itself more implicit than explicit in its nature. The experimental procedure employed in our study might have further contributed to the implicit nature of sequence learning in the OP group. During the practice sessions the OP group had to engage in two parallel tasks: watch and learn the motor sequence, and watch and detect errors in the model's performance. The error detection was an explicit task that the OP group was asked to perform, making the sequence learning itself a rather secondary task. In contrast, the main task for the PP group was a fast and accurate execution of the cued sequences, receiving constant feedback, thus encouraging performance improvement. In retrospect, we acknowledge that physical practice *without* feedback would have been more appropriate for comparing the effects of learning by physical and observational practice. This adjustment should be considered in future studies, as has been advocated by Kirsch and Cross (2015). Furthermore, follow-up research efforts may wish to exclude the attention (error detection) task during observational practice, to avoid sequence learning becoming a secondary task. For example, eye tracking could be applied instead to assess participants' attention during observational practice.

Our results support the notion of the explicit/implicit nature of the two parallel tasks the OP group was performing. Specifically, we found that working memory was a significant predictor of the error detection accuracy improvement (the explicit task), but not for the motor skill learning through observation (the implicit task). We speculate that in the present study, sequence-learning by observation was indeed rather implicit in nature, explaining why cognitive abilities and personality measures did not emerge as reliable predictors of practice effects. Previous research shows that implicit learning has little variation across individuals¹ (Kaufman et al., 2010; Reber et al., 1991). To our knowledge, only age (Howard & Howard, 1997; Howard et al., 2004) and self-report measures of openness (Kaufman et al., 2010) relate to individual differences in implicit learning. We did not include age as a predictor variable because our participant sample was rather homogeneous regarding age². Perhaps of most interest, among all 14 predictor variables, openness was the one that best explained the variance in observational practice effects on sequence-specific learning (even though it did not reach statistical significance).

¹ Noteworthy, in our study too the OP group overall had less variation in the training effects across participants than in the PP group (smaller CI range; see Figure 4.1 and Appendix 4.3).

 $^{^2}$ In fact, out of curiosity, we checked the results with age included as an additional predictor variable in our exploratory all-subsets regression analyses (as in section 4.3.4). Indeed, despite our homogenous sample, age explained the sequence-specific learning variance in the OP group slightly better than openness, however it was still not significant. Age was not related to any other measure, neither baseline performance nor PP effects on skill acquisition.

We reasoned that the existence of motor resonance during action observation and possible common mechanisms between motor resonance and affective resonance (encompassing a broader notion of empathy that includes "inner imitation" of what others do, think, or feel), would support a link between self-other relations and motor learning through observation. However, our results did not support this reasoning. Although some evidence exists of a relationship between individuals' empathy scores and motor resonance during action observation (Gazzola et al., 2006; Kaplan & Iacoboni, 2006; Milston et al., 2013; Perry et al., 2010), the effects might be too small to contribute to behavioural differences discernible in a task like that used in the present study. For example, Gazzola et al. (2006) showed higher motor resonance for individuals with higher perspective taking scores, but behavioural differences were not observed. In addition, reports of positive (Gazzola et al., 2006; Kaplan & Iacoboni, 2006), negative (Milston et al., 2013; Perry et al., 2010), and nonexistent (for a review, see Baird, Scheffer, & Wilson, 2011) relationships between empathy and motor resonance exist. While the link between self-other relations and motor resonance might exist, its direction and contribution to observational learning success is likely context-dependent and possibly depends on other factors that we did not measure in the present study.

4.4.3 Conclusions

Our results do not support the hypothesis that fluid intelligence and working memory explain individual differences in motor skill acquisition through both physical and observational practice. Although consistent with previous reports, higher working memory and fluid intelligence predicted physical practice effects, they did not play a significant role in learning by observation. Furthermore, neither self-other relations nor broad personality characteristics explained variance in observational practice effects. We speculate that the limited aspect of hypothesis-testing makes observational learning more implicit than explicit in nature. Unlike explicit learning, implicit learning has little variation across individuals. Besides, possibly the rather homogeneous sample of college students contributed to the null findings of personality differences in motor skill acquisition in our study.

CHAPTER 5

General discussion

Previous research suggests that mechanisms that underlie the ability to learn by observation are similar to the mechanisms of learning through physical practice (for a review, see Chapter 1). However, it remains poorly understood to what extent observational practice changes the neural representations of the acquired skill, and whether observational learning is influenced by the same factors as learning by doing. Employing a keypress sequence learning paradigm and brain imaging, brain stimulation, and behavioural methods we investigated three parallel questions to help to provide a more comprehensive and integrative perspective on motor skill learning through observation and how it compares to previous findings on learning by doing.

5.1 A summary of the main findings

5.1.1 Specificity of internal action representations

In Study 1 (Chapter 2) we investigated whether action observation establishes movementsequence-specific neural representations that become more distinct with observational practice like reported in the physical practice study by Wiestler and Diedrichsen (2013). We found that, indeed, action observation evoked sequence-specific neural representations in multiple frontoparietal brain areas. However the representations were not more distinct for the observationally trained compared to the untrained sequences.

Nevertheless, for the first time, we show that mere observation of kinematically matched keypress sequences establishes sequence-specific representations (brain activity patterns) in the observer's parietal and premotor brain regions. The finding suggests that the observed keypresses were encoded as unified actions at an abstract level of motor hierarchy which is likely shared with planning one's own actions (Prinz, 1997). Furthermore, we found decreased activity in the frontoparietal brain regions and their increased coupling with the

secondary somatosensory area (parietal operculum) when watching the sequences again after four days of observational practice. The brain activity and connectivity changes likely indicate reduced cognitive demand and greater neural efficiency following practice (Kelly & Garavan, 2005). Similar brain activity changes have been linked to more established neural representations of physically trained sequences (Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013). However, our results did not show more distinct representations for the observation of trained compared to untrained sequences. Possibly, internal representations of observed, compared to executed sequences, are less distinct. Consequently, the differences between trained and untrained sequence representations of observed actions might be subtler and more difficult to detect than representations of executed actions. In addition, brain areas with more specialised representations of the trained sequences might not be covered with our analysis, for example, cerebellum and basal ganglia.

5.1.2 Feasibility of non-invasive brain stimulation to facilitate observational practice effects

In Study 2 (Chapter 3) we investigated whether non-invasive brain stimulation could facilitate observational practice effects, as reported for learning through physical practice. We found no beneficial effects of the brain stimulation on motor skill acquisition through observation.

Previous reports show that anodal transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) of the primary motor cortex (M1) facilitates motor skill learning through physical practice (for reviews, see Ammann et al., 2016; Buch et al., 2016; Hashemirad et al., 2016; Reis & Fritsch, 2011). We too chose to stimulate M1, although M1 is not typically considered a part of the human mirror system. We decided based on the growing evidence that M1 plays an important role in observational learning and that M1 activity during observational practice might be critical for the learning success (Aridan & Mukamel, 2016). However, our results did not support the hypothesis that observational practice coupled with the anodal tDCS over M1 would have beneficial effects compared to observational practice alone. The null finding does not necessarily imply that M1 is not critically involved in motor skill learning by observation, although this possibility cannot be ruled out.

Our brain imaging results from Study 1 revealed potential target areas for future investigations of brain stimulation effects on observational practice. For example, the parietal operculum (secondary somatosensory area) might be of special interest. Our results showed

88

that the frontoparietal brain areas that exhibited observational practice-related activity decreases were stronger coupled with the contralateral parietal operculum when watching trained compared to untrained sequences. The parietal operculum has been implicated in the memory storage and retrieval of movement sequence representations and planned actions (Jubault et al., 2007; Valyear & Frey, 2015). The parietal operculum also emerged as an area that showed sequence-specific neural representations following observational practice. Observational practice-related increase in coupling with the frontoparietal brain areas and formation of sequence-specific action representations indicate that parietal operculum plays an important role in motor skill acquisition through observation.

5.1.3 Individual differences in learning through observation

In Study 3 (Chapter 4) we investigated whether individual differences in learning through observation are explained by the same cognitive abilities and personality characteristics as in learning by physical practice. In line with previous reports (Bo & Seidler, 2009; Christou et al., 2016; Gebauer & Mackintosh, 2007; Janacsek & Nemeth, 2013; Maxwell et al., 2003; Reber et al., 1991; Unsworth & Engle, 2005), we found that fluid intelligence and working memory were significant predictors of the physical practice effects on the motor skill acquisition. However, neither fluid intelligence or working memory, nor any of the personality measures helped explain the variance of motor skill learning through observation. We speculate that the limited aspect of hypothesis-testing strategies for motor control makes observational learning more implicit than explicit in nature.

5.2 Observational practice facilitates motor skill acquisition

Behavioural results from all three studies contribute to the evidence (Bird & Heyes, 2005; Heyes & Foster, 2002; Lago-Rodríguez & Cheeran, 2014; Vogt & Thomaschke, 2007) that motor skills can be learned by observation without overt physical practice. In our behavioural measures, we controlled for various aspects to ensure that the reported motor skill improvements reflect observational practice effects as closely as possible.

In all three studies, before undergoing observational training, participants physically performed both observationally trained and untrained sequences. Consequently, the post-training performance improvement, at least partly, could be driven by the consolidation of the initial physical performance (Censor et al., 2012). To account for this factor and to capture the observational practice effects as accurately as possible, we focused our analyses on

sequence-specific learning, measuring the post-training difference between trained and untrained sequences. In addition, we accounted for unwanted differences in the difficulty of trained and untrained sequences. Hence, it is plausible to assume that the sequence-specific performance improvement reported in our studies was achieved merely through the observational practice. Furthermore, we posit that the observational practice-related motor skill improvement in our studies cannot be explained solely by memorising the digit sequence or by the familiarity with the spatiotemporal pattern of the sequence obtained by stimulus observation. Although we did not control for it in our studies, previous reports show that observing the actual action performed by an actor contributes to performance improvement (Boutin et al., 2010; Van Der Werf et al., 2009).

Our results across the three studies indicate that multiple days of observational practice have no advantage over a single practice day. In Study 1 and Study 2 participants underwent four days of training and practised four sequences, while in Study 3, they only had a single day of training and practised two sequences. To see whether multiple days of observational training provide larger effect than a single day of training, we compared the results across all three studies¹. We found no significant difference among the three studies in terms of the observational practice effects on sequence-specific learning ($F_{1,157} = 0.544$, p = 0.582; see Figure 5.1). The finding may imply that multiple day training, compared to a single day training, has no advantage on skill acquisition through observation. Such conclusion would contradict previous findings showing that as with physical practice, a longer period of observational practice leads to better skill acquisition (Andrieux & Proteau, 2013). Although this possibility cannot be ruled out, it is more likely that learning four sequences in Study 1 and Study 2 was more demanding than learning only two sequences in Study 3. Thus, unfortunately, we cannot reliably compare the training effects across the three studies. The question about the multiple versus single day training effects on observational learning should be investigated in more detail in future studies.

¹ Originally, the training effects in each study were calculated in slightly different ways. Here for simplicity we calculated the observational training effects on sequence-specific learning as an absolute difference between trained and untrained sequence execution times post-training, not accounting for possible per-training differences. In this comparison, from Study 2 both sham and active stimulation group participants were included, but from Study 3 only participants from the observational practice group were included.



Figure 5.1 Observational training effect on sequence-specific learning across the three studies. In Study 1 and Study 2 participants practised four sequences for four days, while in Study 3, two sequences in a single day. Error bars: 95% CI. ET, Execution time.

5.3 Role of cognitive processes in learning through observation

In Study 1 we found that activity in the frontoparietal brain regions reduced when participants watched trained compared to untrained sequences. These regions are part of a frontoparietal network involved in a wide range of processes, including working memory, attention, and mental imagery (Ikkai & Curtis, 2011; Lückmann et al., 2014; Rottschy et al., 2012), as well as action observation and execution (Caspers et al., 2010; Gazzola & Keysers, 2009; Molenberghs et al., 2012; Oosterhof et al., 2013; Rizzolatti & Sinigaglia, 2010). Reduced activity in the frontoparietal brain regions has been reported both following physical as well as observational practice implying a decrease in cognitive demand as skill acquisition shifts from cognitive to automatic processing (Higuchi et al., 2012; Kelly & Garavan, 2005; Sakreida et al., 2017).

Observing the sequences was a cognitively demanding task. According to the task instructions, participants had to engage in multiple parallel tasks: holding in memory the cued sequence, paying attention to the videos to detect errors in the model's performance, and to learn the observed motor sequences. Decreased brain activity in the frontoparietal areas following observational practice may indicate lower cognitive demand when watching the trained sequences. We wonder, which aspect of the task would became less cognitively demanding? Was the lower cognitive demand reflecting less effort in memorising the cued sequence, less effort in detecting the model's errors, or less effort due to the acquired motor skill?

In Study 3 we hypothesised that due to the high-order cognitive processing in learning by observation, individuals' cognitive abilities, such as working memory and fluid intelligence, would be related to the motor skill acquisition through observation. However, our results did not confirm this hypothesis. Motor skill acquisition through observation was not related to either working memory nor fluid intelligence. Instead, we found that working memory was a significant predictor of improved ability to detect the model's errors. Improved action discrimination, following observational practice, has been reported before (Black & Wright, 2000; Lago-Rodriguez et al., 2013; Maslovat et al., 2010b), and it is acknowledged that observational practice facilitates both action discrimination and motor learning (for a review, see Lago-Rodríguez & Cheeran, 2014).

The relationship between working memory and improved perceptual abilities reported in Study 3, indicate that the brain activity decrease in Study 1 was likely more related to the attention task (the error detection) and not to the motor skill acquisition. We speculate that motor skill acquisition was rather an implicit process running in parallel to the explicit and cognitively demanding error detection task. The implicit nature of the motor skill acquisition through observation could explain why cognitive abilities and personality measures did not emerge as reliable predictors of practice effects as previous research shows that implicit learning has little variation across individuals (Kaufman et al., 2010; Reber et al., 1991).

We speculate that cognitive processes involved in learning through physical practice are directed towards hypothesis-testing strategies (Maxwell et al., 2003; Norman et al., 2006; Unsworth & Engle, 2005). Explicitly, establishing and monitoring how the motor output matches the desired outcome (e.g., through internal inverse and forward models of motor control; Wolpert & Ghahramani, 2000). Contrary, the cognitive processes involved in learning through observation might be directed towards explicit perceptual processing and attention, but may not be critical for motor skill acquisition. Although both physical practice and observational practice may engage in the internal feedforward models of motor control (Flanagan et al., 2003; Friston et al., 2011; Iacoboni, 2005; Oztop et al., 2006), perhaps observational practice is more about hypothesis building while physical practice is more about hypothesis testing. Future studies should investigate these possibilities.

5.4 Limitations

5.4.1 Lack of physical practice groups/conditions in Study 1 and Study 2

A weakness of the thesis is the lack of physical practice groups in Study 1 and Study 2 limiting our conclusions on how learning by observation compares to learning by doing. Consequently, we could only refer to the previously published reports on learning by physical practice and provide an indirect comparison of the two learning types.

We decided to only have an observational practice group and observational practice condition in the Study 1 and Study 2 due to both practical and methodological considerations. Introducing a second, physical practice group, would have doubled the sample size. Because in both studies each participant had to attend six sessions, doubling the sample size was not feasible due to the time constraints of the thesis.

A possible solution could have been to have participants practice one set of sequences by observation and another set by physical practice in a within-subjects design. Such an approach was used, for example, by Higuchi et al. (2012). However, we decided against a within-subject design due to the high likelihood of skill transfer between physical and observational practice conditions. Possibly transfer effects are less concerning for different types of guitar chords used by Higuchi and colleagues. However, for the continuous multifinger sequences used in our study, significant transfer effects are inevitable because the 12 sequences used in the paradigm shared a substantial proportion of movement transitions between specific finger pairs (Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013). In the original study of the paradigm, Wiestler and Diedrichsen (2012; also Wiestler et al., 2014) acknowledged considerable transfer effects (general skill learning) from trained to untrained sequences. All three studies of the present thesis also showed post-training improvement of untrained sequences. As with the skill transfer from trained to untrained sequences, similarly, there would be some skill transfer from physically to observationally practised sequences and vice versa. Consequently, a clear separation of physical practice and observational practice effects in the post-training performance measurements would not be possible.

For the same reason, we did not use novel sequences at the post-training test of untrained sequence performance in our studies. Instead, we used the same set of untrained sequences at the pre-training and post-training tests. In this context, it is useful to recall that in our studies, to assess the baseline performance, participants physically performed all trained and untrained sequences prior to the observational practice phase. Accordingly, post-training

93
performance improvement of the trained sequences could be both a result of the observational practice and the consolidation of the initial physical performance (Censor et al., 2012). However, because untrained sequences were also physically performed before the training phase, we could separate the physical performance and observational practice effects by assessing the post-training performance difference of trained and untrained sequences. Moreover, this approach allowed us to also separate the observational practice effects of sequence-specific skill learning from the general skill learning (transfer of the observational practice effects to the untrained sequences).

We argue that our approach is a more robust way to assess observational practice effects on motor skill learning compared to within-subjects designs of physical and observational practice conditions. For future studies, we advocate for independent physical practice and observational practice groups (as in our Study 3) because within-subject physical practice and observational practice conditions would not allow clear separation of physical and observational practice effects.

5.4.2 Differences between physical and observational practice conditions

The physical performance (pre-test and post-test phases in all studies) and physical practice (in Study 3) phases in our studies corresponded closely to the original Wiestler and Diedrichsen (2012) paradigm. However, the observational practice phase (in all studies) differed not only in the mode of practice (watching instead of doing) but in two additional essential aspects: lack of continuous performance feedback and the secondary task to detect the model's errors.

Performance feedback during physical practice

In the physical practice trials, participants continuously received feedback on their performance speed and accuracy. The feedback may motivate participants to continuously improve their performance and facilitate skill acquisition (Wulf & Prinz, 2001). Such feedback on how well a participant has learned the practised sequence and the feedback-based performance updating is not possible during observational practice. Certainly, performance feedback and feedback-based performance updating are distinguishing learning by doing and learning by observation in natural learning environments. However, in experimental settings, comparing rather basic mechanisms of physical versus observational practice, physical practice without feedback would have been more appropriate. This

adjustment should be considered in future studies, as has been advocated by Kirsch and Cross (2015).

An additional task during observational practice

During the observational practice phases participants had to engage in two parallel tasks: watch and learn the motor sequence, and watch and detect errors in the model's performance. The error detection task was introduced to keep participants focused on the videos and to monitor participants' attention. However, the error detection task possibly made the sequence learning itself rather an implicit secondary task. In other words, participants were likely more focused on detecting the model's errors instead of fully concentrating on sequence learning. Follow-up research efforts may wish to exclude the attention (error detection) task during observational practice, to avoid sequence learning becoming a secondary task. For example, eye tracking could be applied instead to assess participants' attention during observational practice. A drawback of such a passive assessment method would be that it would no longer provide an incentive for the participants to keep their attention on the videos.

5.4.3 Model's performance speed

Another potential limitation of our work is the model's performance speed. The choice of a model is an essential methodological consideration. Previous reports show that a model's characteristics are a critical factor for the achievement of favourable training effects (for a review, see Maslovat et al., 2010a).

We decided for an intermediate beginner speed of the model's performance with the primary concern that faster performance might be too difficult to process visually. We determined the intermediate beginner's performance level from behavioural pilot test results, where the average correct sequence execution time at the baseline was 2.29 seconds (N = 17, M = 2.29 s, SE = 0.14). In fact, this performance was on average significantly slower (t_{249} = 5.65, p < 0.001) than the baseline performance of our participants across all three studies (N = 250, M = 2.05 s, SE = 0.04) with 68% of participants performing faster at the baseline than the model on average. Perhaps the observational practice participants in our study were not sufficiently challenged by the comparatively slow model performer. For example, Aridan and Mukamel (2016) reported better motor skill learning via observation if the observed model's performance was faster than the observer's performance at baseline.

Future studies, using our paradigm, should adjust the model's sequence execution speed at least to the average of 2.05 seconds (determined by the large sample size of 250 across our studies). Moreover, it would be beneficial to test the observational practice effects with a more advanced model's performance. For example, a model could perform at a level in between of a beginner and expert. Based on our results, the average sequence execution time at this level would be 1.76 seconds¹. Visual processing of the model's behaviour might be challenging at this speed and would require prior assessment via pilot tests. However, in our experience, participants' ability to follow and discriminate the model's keypresses improves over time and should not be an issue if a model performs 23% faster than in our paradigm.

5.5 Conclusions

Previous research suggests that learning through observation and physical practice involve similar mechanisms and processes. Across the three studies, we found some similarities and some differences in learning by observation and how it compares to previously published reports on learning by doing. Specifically, we found that same as physical practice, observational practice provides behavioural benefits on motor skill acquisition. Furthermore, same as physical performance (Wiestler & Diedrichsen, 2013), action observation establishes distinguishable sequence-specific activity patterns in premotor and parietal brain areas. However, unlike following physical practice, the sequence-specific activity patterns did not become more specialised following observational practice provided no benefits for motor skill acquisition by observation. In addition, it appears that cognitive processes play a different role in learning by observation than in learning by doing. Perhaps although deliberate cognitive processes are involved in observational learning, the limited aspect of hypothesis-testing makes observational learning itself more implicit than explicit in its nature.

And finally, punting is indeed not as easy as it looks, but the more you watch, the easier it gets! Watching with a brain stimulation cap on, might not be very feasible, though.

¹ Determined as an average of the mean sequence execution time at the baseline (N = 250, M = 2.05 s, SE = 0.04) and the mean sequence execution time following observational practice (N = 158, M = 1.48 s, SE = 0.04).

References

- Abrahamse, E. L., Ruitenberg, M. F. L., de Kleine, E., & Verwey, W. B. (2013). Control of automated behavior: insights from the discrete sequence production task. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7, 82. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00082
- Ackerman, P. L. (1988). Determinants of individual differences during skill acquisition:
 Cognitive abilities and information processing. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 117(3), 288–318. doi:10.1037/0096-3445.117.3.288
- Ackerman, P. L., Beier, M. E., & Boyle, M. O. (2005). Working memory and intelligence: the same or different constructs? *Psychological Bulletin*, 131(1), 30–60. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.131.1.30
- Ackerman, P. L., & Cianciolo, A. T. (2000). Cognitive, perceptual-speed, and psychomotor determinants of individual differences during skill acquisition. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 6(4), 259–90.
- Al-Abood, S. A., Davids, K. F., & Bennett, S. J. (2001). Specificity of task constraints and effects of visual demonstrations and verbal instructions in directing learners' search during skill acquisition. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, 33(3), 295–305. doi:10.1080/00222890109601915
- Alaerts, K., de Beukelaar, T. T., Swinnen, S. P., & Wenderoth, N. (2012). Observing how others lift light or heavy objects: time-dependent encoding of grip force in the primary motor cortex. *Psychological Research*, 76(4), 503–513. doi:10.1007/s00426-011-0380-1
- Alaerts, K., Swinnen, S. P., & Wenderoth, N. (2009). Is the human primary motor cortex activated by muscular or direction-dependent features of observed movements? *Cortex*, 45(10), 1148–1155. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2008.10.005
- Alamia, A., Solopchuk, O., D'Ausilio, A., Van Bever, V., Fadiga, L., Olivier, E., & Zénon,A. (2016). Disruption of Broca's area alters higher-order chunking processing during

perceptual sequence learning. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 28(3), 402–17. doi:10.1162/jocn_a_00911

- Alexander, J. R. M., & Smales, S. (1997). Intelligence, learning and long-term memory. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 23(5), 815–825. doi:10.1016/S0191-8869(97)00054-8
- Alonzo, A., Brassil, J., Taylor, J. L., Martin, D., & Loo, C. K. (2012). Daily transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) leads to greater increases in cortical excitability than second daily transcranial direct current stimulation. *Brain Stimulation*, 5(3), 208–213. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2011.04.006
- Ammann, C., Spampinato, D., & Márquez-Ruiz, J. (2016). Modulating motor learning through transcranial direct-current stimulation: an integrative view. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7(8), 3–6. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01981
- Amthauer, R., Brocke, B., Liepmann, D., & Beauducel, A. (2001). *Intelligenz-Struktur-Test* 2000 R. Göttingen: Hogrefe 2.
- Andrieux, M., & Proteau, L. (2013). Observation learning of a motor task: who and when? *Experimental Brain Research*, 229(1), 125–37. doi:10.1007/s00221-013-3598-x
- Annett, J. (1996). On knowing how to do things: a theory of motor imagery. *Cognitive Brain Research*, *3*(2), 65–69. doi:10.1016/0926-6410(95)00030-5
- Aridan, N., & Mukamel, R. (2016). Activity in primary motor cortex during action observation covaries with subsequent behavioral changes in execution. *Brain and Behavior*, 6(11), e00550. doi:10.1002/brb3.550
- Ashford, D., Bennett, S. J., & Davids, K. (2006). Observational modeling effects for movement dynamics and movement outcome measures across differing task constraints: a meta-analysis. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, *38*(3), 185–205. doi:10.3200/JMBR.38.3.185-205
- Averbeck, B. B., Chafee, M. V, Crowe, D. A., & Georgopoulos, A. P. (2002). Parallel processing of serial movements in prefrontal cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(20), 13172–13177. doi:10.1073/pnas.162485599
- Baird, A. D., Scheffer, I. E., & Wilson, S. J. (2011). Mirror neuron system involvement in empathy: A critical look at the evidence. *Social Neuroscience*, 6(4), 327–335. doi:10.1080/17470919.2010.547085
- Baldauf, D. (2011). Chunking movements into sequence: The visual pre-selection of subsequent goals. *Neuropsychologia*, 49(5), 1383–1387.
 doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2011.01.041

- Baldauf, D., Cui, H., & Andersen, R. A. (2008). The posterior parietal cortex encodes in parallel both goals for double-reach sequences. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(40), 10081– 10089. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3423-08.2008
- Baldauf, D., Wolf, M., & Deubel, H. (2006). Deployment of visual attention before sequences of goal-directed hand movements. *Vision Research*, 46(26), 4355–4374. doi:10.1016/j.visres.2006.08.021
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191–215. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. B. T.-L. and M. (2004). Observational Learning. In J. H. Byrne (Ed.) (2nd ed., pp. 482–484). New York: Macmillan Reference USA.
- Bassett, D. S., Yang, M., Wymbs, N. F., & Grafton, S. T. (2015). Learning-induced autonomy of sensorimotor systems. *Nature Neuroscience*, 18(5), 744–751. doi:10.1038/nn.3993
- Beauducel, A., Brocke, B., & Liepmann, D. (2001). Perspectives on fluid and crystallized intelligence: Facets for verbal, numerical, and figural intelligence. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 30(6), 977–994. doi:10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00087-8
- de Beukelaar, T. T., Alaerts, K., Swinnen, S. P., & Wenderoth, N. (2016). Motor facilitation during action observation: The role of M1 and PMv in grasp predictions. *Cortex*, 75(December), 180–192. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2015.11.009
- Bidjerano, T., & Dai, D. Y. (2007). The relationship between the big-five model of personality and self-regulated learning strategies. *Learning and Individual Differences*, *17*(1), 69–81. doi:10.1016/j.lindif.2007.02.001
- Bieńkiewicz, M. M. N., Brandi, M.-L., Goldenberg, G., Hughes, C. M. L., & Hermsdörfer, J. (2014). The tool in the brain: apraxia in ADL. Behavioral and neurological correlates of apraxia in daily living. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5(APR), 28–40. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00353
- Bird, G., & Heyes, C. (2005). Effector-dependent learning by observation of a finger movement sequence. *Journal of Experimental Psychology. Human Perception and Performance*, 31(2), 262–75. doi:10.1037/0096-1523.31.2.262
- Black, C. B., & Wright, D. L. (2000). Can observational practice facilitate error recognition and movement production? *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 71(4), 331–9. doi:10.1080/02701367.2000.10608916

- Blandin, Y., Lhuisset, L., & Proteau, L. (1999). Cognitive processes underlying observational learning of motor skills. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology Section A*, 52(4), 957–979. doi:10.1080/713755856
- Blandin, Y., & Proteau, L. (2000). On the cognitive basis of observational learning:
 development of mechanisms for the detection and correction of errors. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology. A, Human Experimental Psychology*, 53(3), 846– 67. doi:10.1080/713755917
- Bo, J., & Seidler, R. D. (2009). Visuospatial working memory capacity predicts the organization of acquired explicit motor sequences. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 101(6), 3116–3125. doi:10.1152/jn.00006.2009
- Bonini, L., Serventi, F. U., Simone, L., Rozzi, S., Ferrari, P. F., & Fogassi, L. (2011).
 Grasping neurons of monkey parietal and premotor cortices encode action goals at distinct levels of abstraction during complex action sequences. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *31*(15), 5876–86. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5186-10.2011
- Boroojerdi, B., Foltys, H., Krings, T., Spetzger, U., Thron, A., & Töpper, R. (1999).
 Localization of the motor hand area using transcranial magnetic stimulation and functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *110*(4), 699–704. doi:10.1016/S1388-2457(98)00027-3
- Boutin, A., Fries, U., Panzer, S., Shea, C. H., & Blandin, Y. (2010). Role of action observation and action in sequence learning and coding. *Acta Psychologica*, 135(2), 240–251. doi:10.1016/j.actpsy.2010.07.005
- Brainard, D. H. (1997). The Psychophysics Toolbox. Spatial Vision, 10(4), 433-6.
- Brass, M., & Heyes, C. (2005). Imitation: is cognitive neuroscience solving the correspondence problem? *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 9(10), 489–95. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2005.08.007
- Brown, L. E., Wilson, E. T., & Gribble, P. L. (2009). Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation to the primary motor cortex interferes with motor learning by observing. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 21(5), 1013–22. doi:10.1162/jocn.2009.21079
- Brown, P. J. (2005). Variable Selection. In *Encyclopedia of Biostatistics* (pp. 205–232). Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. doi:10.1002/0470011815.b2a09055
- Buccino, G. (2014). Action observation treatment: a novel tool in neurorehabilitation. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 369(1644), 20130185–20130185. doi:10.1098/rstb.2013.0185

- Buccino, G., Lui, F., Canessa, N., Patteri, I., Lagravinese, G., Benuzzi, F., ... Rizzolatti, G. (2004). Neural circuits involved in the recognition of actions performed by nonconspecifics: an FMRI study. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *16*(1), 114–26. doi:10.1162/089892904322755601
- Buch, E. R., Santarnecchi, E., Antal, A., Born, J., Celnik, P. A., Classen, J., ... Cohen, L. G. (2016). Effects of tDCS on motor learning and memory formation: a consensus and critical position paper. bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/064204
- Büchel, C., Coull, J. T., & Friston, K. J. (1999). The predictive value of changes in effective connectivity for human learning. *Science*, 283(5407), 1538–41. doi:10.1126/science.283.5407.1538
- Burgess, J. D., Lum, J. A. G., Hohwy, J., & Enticott, P. G. (2017). Echoes on the motor network: how internal motor control structures afford sensory experience. *Brain Structure and Function*, 1–24. doi:10.1007/s00429-017-1484-1
- Buxbaum, L. J., Kyle, K. M., & Menon, R. (2005). On beyond mirror neurons: Internal representations subserving imitation and recognition of skilled object-related actions in humans. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 25(1), 226–239. doi:10.1016/j.cogbrainres.2005.05.014
- Caligiore, D., Mustile, M., Spalletta, G., & Baldassarre, G. (2017). Action observation and motor imagery for rehabilitation in Parkinson's disease: A systematic review and an integrative hypothesis. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 72, 210–222. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.11.005
- Calvo-Merino, B., Glaser, D. E., Grèzes, J., Passingham, R. E., & Haggard, P. (2005). Action observation and acquired motor skills: an FMRI study with expert dancers. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*, 15(8), 1243–9. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhi007
- Carroll, W. R., & Bandura, A. (1982). The role of visual monitoring in observational learning of action patterns: making the unobservable observable. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, *14*(2), 153–67. doi:10.1080/00222895.1982.10735270
- Caspers, S., Zilles, K., Laird, A. R., & Eickhoff, S. B. (2010). ALE meta-analysis of action observation and imitation in the human brain. *NeuroImage*, 50(3), 1148–67. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.12.112
- Catmur, C., Press, C., & Heyes, C. (2016). Mirror Neurons from Associative Learning. In R.
 A. Murphy & R. C. Hone (Eds.), *The Wiley Handbook on the Cognitive Neuroscience of Learning* (pp. 515–537). Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
 doi:10.1002/9781118650813.ch20

- Cattaneo, L., Maule, F., Tabarelli, D., Brochier, T., & Barchiesi, G. (2015). Online repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) to the parietal operculum disrupts haptic memory for grasping. *Human Brain Mapping*, *36*(11), 4262–4271. doi:10.1002/hbm.22915
- Celnik, P., Stefan, K., Hummel, F., Duque, J., Classen, J., & Cohen, L. G. (2006). Encoding a motor memory in the older adult by action observation. *NeuroImage*, 29(2), 677–684. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.07.039
- Censor, N., Sagi, D., & Cohen, L. G. (2012). Common mechanisms of human perceptual and motor learning. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, 13(September), 658–64. doi:10.1038/nrn3315
- Christou, A. I., Miall, R. C., McNab, F., & Galea, J. M. (2016). Individual differences in explicit and implicit visuomotor learning and working memory capacity. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 36633. doi:10.1038/srep36633
- Cisek, P., Crammond, D. J., & Kalaska, J. F. (2003). Neural activity in primary motor and dorsal premotor cortex in reaching tasks with the contralateral versus ipsilateral arm. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 89(2), 922–42. doi:10.1152/jn.00607.2002
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, N.J. : L. Erlbaum Associates.
- Cook, R., & Bird, G. (2013). Do mirror neurons really mirror and do they really code for action goals? *Cortex*, 49(10), 2944–2945. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2013.05.006
- Cook, R., Bird, G., Catmur, C., Press, C., & Heyes, C. (2014). Mirror neurons: From origin to function. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 37(2), 177–192. doi:10.1017/S0140525X13000903
- Cordovani, L., & Cordovani, D. (2015). A literature review on observational learning for medical motor skills and anesthesia teaching. *Advances in Health Sciences Education*. doi:10.1007/s10459-015-9646-5
- Cousineau, D. (2005). Confidence intervals in within-subject designs: A simpler solution to Loftus and Masson's method. *Tutorials in Quantitative Methods for Psychology*, 1(1), 42–45.
- Cowan, N. (1998). Attention and Memory: An Integrated Framework. Oxford University Press. doi:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195119107.001.0001
- Cross, E. S., Hamilton, A. F. D. C., & Grafton, S. T. (2006). Building a motor simulation de novo: observation of dance by dancers. *NeuroImage*, *31*(3), 1257–67. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.01.033

- Cross, E. S., Kraemer, D. J. M., Hamilton, A. F. D. C., Kelley, W. M., & Grafton, S. T. (2009). Sensitivity of the action observation network to physical and observational learning. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*, *19*(2), 315–26. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhn083
- Culham, J. C., Cavanagh, P., & Kanwisher, N. G. (2001). Attention response functions: characterizing brain areas using fMRI activation during parametric variations of attentional load. *Neuron*, 32(4), 737–45. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00499-8
- Culham, J. C., Cavina-Pratesi, C., & Singhal, A. (2006). The role of parietal cortex in visuomotor control: What have we learned from neuroimaging? *Neuropsychologia*, 44(13), 2668–2684. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2005.11.003
- Dale, A. M., Fischl, B., & Sereno, M. I. (1999). Cortical surface-based analysis. I.
 Segmentation and surface reconstruction. *NeuroImage*, 9(2), 179–94.
 doi:10.1006/nimg.1998.0395
- Davis, M. H. (1980). A multidimensional approach to individual differences in empathy. JSAS Catalogue of Selected Documents in Psycholog, 10(85).
- Davis, M. H. (1983). Measuring individual differences in empathy: Evidence for a multidimensional approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 44(1), 113– 126. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.44.1.113
- Dayan, E., & Cohen, L. G. (2011). Neuroplasticity subserving motor skill learning. *Neuron*, 72(3), 443–454. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.10.008
- Decety, & Grèzes. (1999). Neural mechanisms subserving the perception of human actions. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *3*(5), 172–178. doi:10.1016/S1364-6613(99)01312-1
- Dehaene, S., Meyniel, F., Wacongne, C., Wang, L., & Pallier, C. (2015). The neural representation of sequences: From transition probabilities to algebraic patterns and linguistic trees. *Neuron*, 88(1), 2–19. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.09.019
- Diedrichsen, J., & Kornysheva, K. (2015). Motor skill learning between selection and execution. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 1–7. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2015.02.003
- Diedrichsen, J., Provost, S., & Zareamoghaddam, H. (2016). On the distribution of crossvalidated Mahalanobis distances. *arXiv Preprint arXiv:1607.01371*, 1–24.
- Diedrichsen, J., Wiestler, T., & Ejaz, N. (2013). A multivariate method to determine the dimensionality of neural representation from population activity. *NeuroImage*, 76, 225– 235. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.02.062
- Digman, J. M. (1990). Personality Structure: Emergence of the Five-Factor Model. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *41*(1), 417–440. doi:10.1146/annurev.ps.41.020190.002221

- Dijkerman, H. C., & de Haan, E. H. F. (2007). Somatosensory processes subserving perception and action. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 30(2), 189. doi:10.1017/S0140525X07001392
- Dinstein, I., Gardner, J. L., Jazayeri, M., & Heeger, D. J. (2008). Executed and observed movements have different distributed representations in human aIPS. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 28(44), 11231–9. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3585-08.2008
- Doyon, J., Bellec, P., Amsel, R., Penhune, V., Monchi, O., Carrier, J., ... Benali, H. (2009).
 Contributions of the basal ganglia and functionally related brain structures to motor learning. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *199*(1), 61–75. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2008.11.012
- Dushanova, J., & Donoghue, J. (2010). Neurons in primary motor cortex engaged during action observation. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(2), 386–398. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.07067.x
- Eickhoff, S. B., Jbabdi, S., Caspers, S., Laird, A. R., Fox, P. T., Zilles, K., & Behrens, T. E. J. (2010). Anatomical and functional connectivity of cytoarchitectonic areas within the human parietal operculum. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 30(18), 6409–21. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5664-09.2010
- Eickhoff, S. B., Stephan, K. E., Mohlberg, H., Grefkes, C., Fink, G. R., Amunts, K., & Zilles, K. (2005). A new SPM toolbox for combining probabilistic cytoarchitectonic maps and functional imaging data. NeuroImage (Vol. 25). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.12.034
- Fadiga, L., Fogassi, L., Pavesi, G., & Rizzolatti, G. (1995). Motor facilitation during action observation: a magnetic stimulation study. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 73(6), 2608–11.
- Feldman, J., Kerr, B., & Streissguth, A. P. (1995). Correlational analyses of procedural and declarative learning performance. *Intelligence*, 20(1), 87–114. doi:10.1016/0160-2896(95)90007-1
- Fernandino, L., & Iacoboni, M. (2010). Are cortical motor maps based on body parts or coordinated actions? Implications for embodied semantics. *Brain and Language*, 112(1), 44–53. doi:10.1016/j.bandl.2009.02.003
- Fertonani, A., Ferrari, C., & Miniussi, C. (2015). What do you feel if I apply transcranial electric stimulation? Safety, sensations and secondary induced effects. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *126*(11), 2181–2188. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2015.03.015
- Fiehler, K., Engel, A., & Rösler, F. (2007). Where are somatosensory representations stored and reactivated? *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *30*(2), 206.

doi:10.1017/S0140525X07001458

Fitts, P. M., & Postner, M. I. (1967). Human performance. Oxford: Brooks/Cole.

- Flanagan, J. R., & Johansson, R. S. (2003). Action plans used in action observation. *Nature*, 424(6950), 769–771. doi:10.1038/nature01861
- Flanagan, J. R., Vetter, P., Johansson, R. S., & Wolpert, D. M. (2003). Prediction precedes control in motor learning. *Current Biology : CB*, 13(2), 146–50. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(03)00007-1
- Floyer-Lea, A., & Matthews, P. M. (2004). Changing brain networks for visuomotor control with increased movement automaticity. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 92(4), 2405–12. doi:10.1152/jn.01092.2003
- Foerster, Á., Rocha, S., Wiesiolek, C., Chagas, A. P., Machado, G., Silva, E., ... Monte-Silva, K. (2013). Site-specific effects of mental practice combined with transcranial direct current stimulation on motor learning. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 37(5), 786–794. doi:10.1111/ejn.12079
- Fogassi, L., Ferrari, P. F., Gesierich, B., Rozzi, S., Chersi, F., & Rizzolatti, G. (2005).
 Parietal lobe: from action organization to intention understanding. *Science*, *308*(5722), 662–7. doi:10.1126/science.1106138
- Fogassi, L., & Luppino, G. (2005). Motor functions of the parietal lobe. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, *15*(6), 626–631. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2005.10.015
- Frey, S. H., & Gerry, V. E. (2006). Modulation of neural activity during observational learning of actions and their sequential orders. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 26(51), 13194–201. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3914-06.2006
- Friston, K. J., Buechel, C., Fink, G. R., Morris, J., Rolls, E., & Dolan, R. J. (1997).
 Psychophysiological and modulatory interactions in neuroimaging. *NeuroImage*, 6(3), 218–29. doi:10.1006/nimg.1997.0291
- Friston, K., Mattout, J., & Kilner, J. (2011). Action understanding and active inference. *Biological Cybernetics*, 104(1–2), 137–160. doi:10.1007/s00422-011-0424-z
- Furnival, G. M., & Wilson, R. W. (1974). Regressions by Leaps and Bounds. *Technometrics*, *16*(4), 499–511. doi:10.1080/00401706.1974.10489231
- Gallese, V. (2001). The "Shared Manifold" Hypothesis. *Journal of Consciousness Studies*, 8(5–7), 33–50.
- Gallese, V. (2003). The roots of empathy: The shared manifold hypothesis and the neural basis of intersubjectivity. *Psychopathology*, *36*(4), 171–180. doi:10.1159/000072786

- Gallese, V., Fadiga, L., Fogassi, L., & Rizzolatti, G. (1996). Action recognition in the premotor cortex. *Brain*, *119*(2), 593–609. doi:10.1093/brain/119.2.593
- Gallese, V., Keysers, C., & Rizzolatti, G. (2004). A unifying view of the basis of social cognition. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 8(9), 396–403. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2004.07.002
- Gallivan, J. P., & Culham, J. C. (2015). Neural coding within human brain areas involved in actions. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *33*, 141–149. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2015.03.012
- Gallivan, J. P., Johnsrude, I. S., & Flanagan, J. R. (2016). Planning ahead: Object-directed sequential actions decoded from human frontoparietal and occipitotemporal networks. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*, 26(2), 708–30. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhu302
- Gallivan, J. P., McLean, D. A., Valyear, K. F., & Culham, J. C. (2013). Decoding the neural mechanisms of human tool use. *eLife*, 2(2), e00425. doi:10.7554/eLife.00425
- Gardner, T., Aglinskas, A., & Cross, E. S. (2017). Using guitar learning to probe the Action Observation Network's response to visuomotor familiarity. *NeuroImage*, 156(May), 174–189. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.04.060
- Gardner, T., Goulden, N., & Cross, E. S. (2015). Dynamic modulation of the action observation network by movement familiarity. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 35(4), 1561–72. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2942-14.2015
- Gazzola, V., Aziz-Zadeh, L., & Keysers, C. (2006). Empathy and the somatotopic auditory mirror system in humans. *Current Biology : CB*, 16(18), 1824–9. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2006.07.072
- Gazzola, V., & Keysers, C. (2009). The observation and execution of actions share motor and somatosensory voxels in all tested subjects: single-subject analyses of unsmoothed fMRI data. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*, *19*(6), 1239–55. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhn181
- Gebauer, G. F., & Mackintosh, N. J. (2007). Psychometric intelligence dissociates implicit and explicit learning. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 33(1), 34–54. doi:10.1037/0278-7393.33.1.34
- Gentsch, A., Weber, A., Synofzik, M., Vosgerau, G., & Schütz-Bosbach, S. (2016). Towards a common framework of grounded action cognition: Relating motor control, perception and cognition. *Cognition*, 146, 81–89. doi:10.1016/j.cognition.2015.09.010
- Giese, M. A., & Rizzolatti, G. (2015). Neural and computational mechanisms of action processing: Interaction between visual and motor representations. *Neuron*, 88(1), 167–

80. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.09.040

- Gitelman, D. R., Penny, W. D., Ashburner, J., & Friston, K. J. (2003). Modeling regional and psychophysiologic interactions in fMRI: The importance of hemodynamic deconvolution. *NeuroImage*, 19(1), 200–207. doi:10.1016/S1053-8119(03)00058-2
- Gog, T., Paas, F., Marcus, N., Ayres, P., & Sweller, J. (2008). The mirror neuron system and observational learning: Implications for the effectiveness of dynamic visualizations. *Educational Psychology Review*, 21(1), 21–30. doi:10.1007/s10648-008-9094-3
- Grafton, S. T., & Hamilton, A. F. de C. (2007). Evidence for a distributed hierarchy of action representation in the brain. *Human Movement Science*, 26(4), 590–616. doi:10.1016/j.humov.2007.05.009
- Grafton, S. T., Hazeltine, E., & Ivry, R. B. (1998). Abstract and effector-specific representations of motor sequences identified with PET. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *18*(22), 9420–8. doi:10.1.1.689.1885
- Halford, G. S., Wilson, W. H., & Phillips, S. (1998). Processing capacity defined by relational complexity: implications for comparative, developmental, and cognitive psychology. *The Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 21(6), 803-31-64.
- Hamilton, A. F. de C. (2015). The neurocognitive mechanisms of imitation. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, *3*, 63–67. doi:10.1016/j.cobeha.2015.01.011
- Hamilton, A. F. de C., & Grafton, S. T. (2006). Goal representation in human anterior intraparietal sulcus. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(4), 1133–7. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4551-05.2006
- Hardwick, R. M., Caspers, S., Eickhoff, S. B., & Swinnen, S. P. (2017). Neural Correlates of Motor Imagery, Action Observation, and Movement Execution: A Comparison Across Quantitative Meta-Analyses. *bioRxiv*. doi:10.1101/198432
- Hardwick, R. M., Rottschy, C., Miall, R. C., & Eickhoff, S. B. (2013). A quantitative metaanalysis and review of motor learning in the human brain. *NeuroImage*, 67, 283–297. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.11.020
- Hashemirad, F., Zoghi, M., Fitzgerald, P. B., & Jaberzadeh, S. (2016). The effect of anodal transcranial direct current stimulation on motor sequence learning in healthy individuals: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Brain and Cognition*, *102*, 1–12. doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2015.11.005
- Hayes, S. J., Hodges, N. J., Scott, M. a, Horn, R. R., & Williams, a M. (2006). Scaling a motor skill through observation and practice. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, 38(5), 357–66. doi:10.3200/JMBR.38.5.357-366

- van der Helden, J., van Schie, H. T., & Rombouts, C. (2010). Observational learning of new movement sequences is reflected in fronto-parietal coherence. *PloS One*, 5(12), e14482. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0014482
- Heyes, C. (2010). Where do mirror neurons come from? *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, *34*(4), 575–83. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.11.007
- Heyes, C. M., & Foster, C. L. (2002). Motor learning by observation: evidence from a serial reaction time task. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*. A, Human Experimental Psychology, 55(2), 593–607. doi:10.1080/02724980143000389
- Higuchi, S., Holle, H., Roberts, N., Eickhoff, S. B., & Vogt, S. (2012). Imitation and observational learning of hand actions: prefrontal involvement and connectivity. *NeuroImage*, 59(2), 1668–83. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.09.021
- Hikosaka, O., Nakamura, K., Sakai, K., & Nakahara, H. (2002). Central mechanisms of motor skill learning. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 12(2), 217–222. doi:10.1016/S0959-4388(02)00307-0
- Hodges, N. J. (2017). Observations on action-observation research: An autobiographical retrospective across the past two decades. *Kinesiology Review*, 6(3), 240–260. doi:10.1123/kr.2017-0016
- Hodges, N. J., Ong, N. T., Larssen, B. C., & Lim, S. B. (2011). What observation of motor skills does and does not teach us. *BIO Web of Conferences*, 1, 34. doi:10.1051/bioconf/20110100034
- Horvath, J. C., Carter, O., & Forte, J. D. (2014). Transcranial direct current stimulation: five important issues we aren't discussing (but probably should be). *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 8(January), 2. doi:10.3389/fnsys.2014.00002
- Horvath, J. C., Vogrin, S. J., Carter, O., Cook, M. J., & Forte, J. D. (2016). Effects of a common transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) protocol on motor evoked potentials found to be highly variable within individuals over 9 testing sessions. *Experimental Brain Research*, 234(9), 2629–2642. doi:10.1007/s00221-016-4667-8
- Howard, D. V, Howard, J. H., Japikse, K., DiYanni, C., Thompson, A., & Somberg, R.
 (2004). Implicit sequence learning: effects of level of structure, adult age, and extended practice. *Psychology and Aging*, *19*(1), 79–92. doi:10.1037/0882-7974.19.1.79
- Howard, J. H., & Howard, D. V. (1997). Age differences in implicit learning of higher order dependencies in serial patterns. *Psychology and Aging*, 12(4), 634–656. doi:10.1037/0882-7974.12.4.634

Iacoboni, M. (2005). Neural mechanisms of imitation. Current Opinion in Neurobiology,

15(6), 632-637. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2005.10.010

- Iacoboni, M. (2009). Imitation, empathy, and mirror neurons. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 60(1), 653–70. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.60.110707.163604
- Iacoboni, M., & Dapretto, M. (2006). The mirror neuron system and the consequences of its dysfunction. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 7(12), 942–951. doi:10.1038/nrn2024
- Iacoboni, M., Molnar-Szakacs, I., Gallese, V., Buccino, G., & Mazziotta, J. C. (2005).
 Grasping the intentions of others with one's own mirror neuron system. *PLoS Biology*, 3(3), 0529–0535. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0030079
- Iacoboni, M., Woods, R. P., Brass, M., Bekkering, H., Mazziotta, J. C., & Rizzolatti, G. (1999). Cortical mechanisms of human imitation. *Science*, 286(5449), 2526–8. doi:10.1126/science.286.5449.2526
- Ikkai, A., & Curtis, C. E. (2011). Common neural mechanisms supporting spatial working memory, attention and motor intention. *Neuropsychologia*, 49(6), 1428–1434. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.12.020
- James, W. (1890). Principles of psychology. New York: Holt.
- Janacsek, K., & Nemeth, D. (2013). Implicit sequence learning and working memory: Correlated or complicated? *Cortex*, 49(8), 2001–2006. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2013.02.012
- Jasper, H. H. (1958). The Ten-Twenty Electrode System of the International Federation. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, *10*, 371–375.
- Jastorff, J., Begliomini, C., Fabbri-Destro, M., Rizzolatti, G., & Orban, G. a. (2010). Coding observed motor acts: different organizational principles in the parietal and premotor cortex of humans. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 104(1), 128–40. doi:10.1152/jn.00254.2010
- Jeannerod, M. (1994). The representing brain: Neural correlates of motor intention and imagery. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *17*(2), 187. doi:10.1017/S0140525X00034026
- Jeannerod, M. (2001). Neural simulation of action: a unifying mechanism for motor cognition. *NeuroImage*, *14*(1 Pt 2), S103-9. doi:10.1006/nimg.2001.0832
- Jeffreys, H. (1961). Theory of probability (3rd ed.). Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- John, O. P., Donahue, E. M., & Kentle, R. L. (1991). The Big Five Inventory--Versions 4a and 54. Berkeley, CA: University of California, Berkeley, Institute of Personality and Social Research.
- John, O. P., Naumann, L. P., & Soto, C. J. (2008). Paradigm shift to the integrative Big Five trait taxonomy: History, measurement, and conceptual issues. In O. P. John, R. W. Robbins, & L. A. Pervin (Eds.), *Handbook of Personality: Theory and Research* (pp.

114–156). New York: Guilford.

- Jubault, T., Ody, C., & Koechlin, E. (2007). Serial organization of human behavior in the inferior parietal cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 27(41), 11028–36. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1986-07.2007
- Kane, M. J., Hambrick, D. Z., & Conway, A. R. A. (2005). Working memory capacity and fluid intelligence are strongly related constructs: Comment on Ackerman, Beier, and Boyle (2005). *Psychological Bulletin*, 131(1), 66–71. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.131.1.66
- Kaplan, J. T., & Iacoboni, M. (2006). Getting a grip on other minds: Mirror neurons, intention understanding, and cognitive empathy. *Social Neuroscience*, 1(3–4), 175–183. doi:10.1080/17470910600985605
- Karok, S., Fletcher, D., & Witney, A. G. (2017). Task-specificity of unilateral anodal and dual-M1 tDCS effects on motor learning. *Neuropsychologia*, 94(October 2016), 84–95. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.12.002
- Karok, S., & Witney, A. G. (2013). Enhanced motor learning following task-concurrent dual transcranial direct current stimulation. *PLoS ONE*, 8(12), 1–10. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0085693
- Kaufman, S. B., Deyoung, C. G., Gray, J. R., Jiménez, L., Brown, J., & Mackintosh, N. (2010). Implicit learning as an ability. *Cognition*, 116(3), 321–40. doi:10.1016/j.cognition.2010.05.011
- Keele, S. W., Jennings, P., Jones, S., Caulton, D., & Cohen, A. (1995). On the modularity of sequence representation. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, 27(1), 17–30. doi:10.1080/00222895.1995.9941696
- Keller, T. A., & Just, M. A. (2016). Structural and functional neuroplasticity in human learning of spatial routes. *NeuroImage*, *125*, 256–266. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.10.015
- Kelly, A. M. C., & Garavan, H. (2005). Human functional neuroimaging of brain changes associated with practice. *Cerebral Cortex*, 15(8), 1089–1102. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhi005
- Keysers, C., & Gazzola, V. (2014). Hebbian learning and predictive mirror neurons for actions, sensations and emotions. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *369*(1644), 20130175–20130175. doi:10.1098/rstb.2013.0175
- Keysers, C., & Perrett, D. I. (2004). Demystifying social cognition: a Hebbian perspective. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 8(11), 501–507. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2004.09.005
- Kilner, J. M., Friston, K. J., & Frith, C. D. (2007). Predictive coding: an account of the mirror neuron system. *Cognitive Processing*, 8(3), 159–166. doi:10.1007/s10339-007-0170-2

- Kilner, J. M., & Lemon, R. N. (2013). What we know currently about mirror neurons. *Current Biology* : *CB*, 23(23), R1057-62. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2013.10.051
- Kimmel, H. D. (1957). Three criteria for the use of one-tailed tests. *Psychological Bulletin*, 54(4), 351–353. doi:10.1037/h0046737
- Kirsch, L. P., & Cross, E. S. (2015). Additive routes to action learning: Layering experience shapes engagement of the action observation network. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y.* : 1991), 25(12), 4799–811. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhv167
- Kirsch, L. P., Drommelschmidt, K. A., & Cross, E. S. (2013). The impact of sensorimotor experience on affective evaluation of dance. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00521
- Koch, G., Versace, V., Bonnì, S., Lupo, F., Gerfo, E. Lo, Oliveri, M., & Caltagirone, C. (2010). Resonance of cortico-cortical connections of the motor system with the observation of goal directed grasping movements. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(12), 3513–3520. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.07.037
- Koechlin, E., & Jubault, T. (2006). Broca's area and the hierarchical organization of human behavior. *Neuron*, *50*(6), 963–74. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2006.05.017
- Kornysheva, K., & Diedrichsen, J. (2014). Human premotor areas parse sequences into their spatial and temporal features. *eLife*, *3*, e03043. doi:10.7554/eLife.03043
- Koyama, S., Tanaka, S., Tanabe, S., & Sadato, N. (2015). Dual-hemisphere transcranial direct current stimulation over primary motor cortex enhances consolidation of a ballistic thumb movement. *Neuroscience Letters*, 588, 49–53. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2014.11.043
- Kriegeskorte, N., Goebel, R., & Bandettini, P. (2006). Information-based functional brain mapping. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 103, 3863–3868. doi:10.1073/pnas.0600244103
- Kriegeskorte, N., Mur, M., & Bandettini, P. (2008). Representational similarity analysis connecting the branches of systems neuroscience. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 2(November), 4. doi:10.3389/neuro.06.004.2008
- Kriegeskorte, N., Simmons, W. K., Bellgowan, P. S. F., & Baker, C. I. (2009). Circular analysis in systems neuroscience: the dangers of double dipping. *Nature Neuroscience*, 12(5), 535–540. doi:10.1167/8.6.88
- Króliczak, G., Piper, B. J., & Frey, S. H. (2016). Specialization of the left supramarginal gyrus for hand-independent praxis representation is not related to hand dominance. *Neuropsychologia*, 1–12. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.03.023

- Kuk, A. Y. C. (1984). All subsets regression in a proportional hazards model. *Biometrika*, 71(3), 587–592. doi:10.1093/biomet/71.3.587
- Kuo, M., Polanía, R., & Nitsche, M. (2016). Physiology of Transcranial Direct and Alternating Current Stimulation. In A. Brunoni, M. Nitsche, & C. Loo (Eds.), *Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in Neuropsychiatric Disorders* (pp. 29–46). Cham: Springer International Publishing. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-33967-2_3
- Labruna, L., Jamil, A., Fresnoza, S., Batsikadze, G., Kuo, M.-F., Vanderschelden, B., ... Nitsche, M. A. (2016). Efficacy of anodal transcranial direct current stimulation is related to sensitivity to transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Brain Stimulation*, 9(1), 8–15. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2015.08.014
- Lago-Rodríguez, A., & Cheeran, B. (2014). The role of mirror neurons in observational motor learning: an integrative review. *European Journal of Human Movement*, 32, 82– 103.
- Lago-Rodriguez, A., Lopez-Alonso, V., & Fernández-del-Olmo, M. (2013). Mirror neuron system and observational learning: behavioral and neurophysiological evidence. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 248, 104–13. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2013.03.033
- Lashley, K. S. (1951). The problem of serial order in behavior. In L. A. Jeffress (Ed.), *Cerebral mechanisms in behavior; the Hixon Symposium* (pp. 112–146). Oxford, England: Wiley.
- Leslie, K. R., Johnson-Frey, S. H., & Grafton, S. T. (2004). Functional imaging of face and hand imitation: Towards a motor theory of empathy. *NeuroImage*, 21(2), 601–607. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.09.038
- Lewandowsky, S., Oberauer, K., Yang, L.-X., & Ecker, U. K. H. (2010). A working memory test battery for MATLAB. *Behavior Research Methods*, 42(2), 571–85. doi:10.3758/BRM.42.2.571
- Lim, S. B., Larssen, B. C., & Hodges, N. J. (2014). Manipulating visual-motor experience to probe for observation-induced after-effects in adaptation learning. *Experimental Brain Research*, 232(3), 789–802. doi:10.1007/s00221-013-3788-6
- Lindenberg, R., Nachtigall, L., Meinzer, M., Sieg, M. M., & Flöel, A. (2013). Differential effects of dual and unihemispheric motor cortex stimulation in older adults. *The Journal* of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 33(21), 9176–83. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0055-13.2013
- Lindenberg, R., Sieg, M. M., Meinzer, M., Nachtigall, L., & Flöel, A. (2016). Neural correlates of unihemispheric and bihemispheric motor cortex stimulation in healthy

young adults. NeuroImage, 140, 141-149. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.01.057

- Lombardi, C. M., & Hurlbert, S. H. (2009). Misprescription and misuse of one-tailed tests. *Austral Ecology*, *34*(4), 447–468. doi:10.1111/j.1442-9993.2009.01946.x
- Lu, X., Huang, J., Yi, Y., Shen, M., Weng, X., & Gao, Z. (2016). Holding biological motion in working memory: An fMRI study. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10(June), 251. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2016.00251
- Lückmann, H. C., Jacobs, H. I. L., & Sack, A. T. (2014). The cross-functional role of frontoparietal regions in cognition: internal attention as the overarching mechanism. *Progress in Neurobiology*, *116*, 66–86. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2014.02.002
- Maslovat, D., Hayes, S. J., Horn, R. R., & Hodges, N. J. (2010a). Motor learning through observation. In D. Elliott & M. Khan (Eds.), *Vision and Goal-Directed Movement: Neurobehavioural Perspectives* (pp. 315–340). Champaign, II: Human Kinetics.
- Maslovat, D., Hodges, N. J., Krigolson, O. E., & Handy, T. C. (2010b). Observational practice benefits are limited to perceptual improvements in the acquisition of a novel coordination skill. *Experimental Brain Research*, 204(1), 119–130. doi:10.1007/s00221-010-2302-7
- Mattar, A. A. G., & Gribble, P. L. (2005). Motor learning by observing. *Neuron*, 46(1), 153–60. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2005.02.009
- Maule, F., Barchiesi, G., Brochier, T., & Cattaneo, L. (2015). Haptic working memory for grasping: The role of the parietal operculum. *Cerebral Cortex*, 25(2), 528–537. doi:10.1093/cercor/bht252
- Maximo, J. O., Neupane, A., Saxena, N., Joseph, R. M., & Kana, R. K. (2016). Taskdependent changes in frontal-parietal activation and connectivity during visual search. *Brain Connectivity*, 6(4), 335–44. doi:10.1089/brain.2015.0343
- Maxwell, J. P., Masters, R. S. W., & Eves, F. F. (2003). The role of working memory in motor learning and performance. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 12(3), 376–402. doi:10.1016/S1053-8100(03)00005-9
- McCrae, R. R., & Costa, P. T. (1987). Validation of the five-factor model of personality across instruments and observers. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52(1), 81–90. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.52.1.81
- McCrae, R. R., & Löckenhoff, C. E. (2010). Self-regulation and the five-factor model of personality traits. In E. H. Hoyle (Ed.), *Handbook of Personality and Self-Regulation* (pp. 145–168). Oxford, UK: Wiley-Blackwell. doi:10.1002/9781444318111.ch7
- McIntosh, A. R. (1998). Understanding neural interactions in learning and memory using

functional neuroimaging. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 855(1), 556–571. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1998.tb10625.x

- McIntosh, A. R., Rajah, M. N., & Lobaugh, N. J. (1999). Interactions of prefrontal cortex in relation to awareness in sensory learning. *Science*, 284(5419), 1531–3. doi:10.1126/science.284.5419.1531
- McLaren, D. G., Ries, M. L., Xu, G., & Johnson, S. C. (2012). A generalized form of context-dependent psychophysiological interactions (gPPI): A comparison to standard approaches. *NeuroImage*, 61(4), 1277–1286. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.03.068
- Meier, B., & Cock, J. (2014). Offline consolidation in implicit sequence learning. *Cortex*, 57, 156–166. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2014.03.009
- van Merriënboer, J. J. G., & Sweller, J. (2005). Cognitive load theory and complex learning: Recent developments and future directions. *Educational Psychology Review*, 17(2), 147–177. doi:10.1007/s10648-005-3951-0
- Miller, A. (2002). Subset Selection in Regression. Chapman and Hall/CRC.
- Milston, S. I., Vanman, E. J., & Cunnington, R. (2013). Cognitive empathy and motor activity during observed actions. *Neuropsychologia*, 51(6), 1103–8. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2013.02.020
- Molenberghs, P., Cunnington, R., & Mattingley, J. B. (2012). Brain regions with mirror properties: a meta-analysis of 125 human fMRI studies. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 36(1), 341–9. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.07.004
- Mordillo-Mateos, L., Turpin-Fenoll, L., Millán-Pascual, J., Núñez-Pérez, N., Panyavin, I., Gómez-Argüelles, J. M., ... Oliviero, A. (2012). Effects of simultaneous bilateral tDCS of the human motor cortex. *Brain Stimulation*, 5(3), 214–222. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2011.05.001
- Morey, R., Rouder, J., Love, J., & Marwick, B. (2015). BayesFactor: 0.9.12-2 CRAN. doi:10.5281/zenodo.31202
- Mukamel, R., Ekstrom, A. D., Kaplan, J., Iacoboni, M., & Fried, I. (2010). Single-neuron responses in humans during execution and observation of actions. *Current Biology : CB*, 20(8), 750–6. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2010.02.045
- Müssgens, D. M., & Ullén, F. (2015). Transfer in motor sequence learning: Effects of practice schedule and sequence context. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 9(November), 642. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2015.00642
- Naish, K. R., Barnes, B., & Obhi, S. S. (2016). Stimulation over primary motor cortex during action observation impairs effector recognition. *Cognition*, 149, 84–94.

doi:10.1016/j.cognition.2016.01.008

- Nakano, H., & Kodama, T. (2017). Motor imagery and action observation as effective tools for physical therapy. In *Neurological Physical Therapy*. InTech. doi:10.5772/67519
- Nili, H., Wingfield, C., Walther, A., Su, L., Marslen-Wilson, W., & Kriegeskorte, N. (2014). A toolbox for representational similarity analysis. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 10(4), e1003553. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1003553
- Nitsche, M. A., Cohen, L. G., Wassermann, E. M., Priori, A., Lang, N., Antal, A., ... Pascual-Leone, A. (2008). Transcranial direct current stimulation: State of the art 2008. *Brain Stimulation*, 1(3), 206–23. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2008.06.004
- Nitsche, M. A., & Paulus, W. (2000). Excitability changes induced in the human motor cortex by weak transcranial direct current stimulation. *The Journal of Physiology*, 527 Pt 3, 633–9. doi:PHY_1055 [pii]
- Nitsche, M. A., & Paulus, W. (2001). Sustained excitability elevations induced by transcranial DC motor cortex stimulation in humans. *Neurology*, 57(10), 1899–901. doi:10.1212/WNL.57.10.1899
- Norman, E., Price, M. C., & Duff, S. C. (2006). Fringe consciousness in sequence learning: the influence of individual differences. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 15(4), 723–60. doi:10.1016/j.concog.2005.06.003
- Ogawa, S., Tank, D. W., Menon, R., Ellermann, J. M., Kim, S. G., Merkle, H., & Ugurbil, K. (1992). Intrinsic signal changes accompanying sensory stimulation: functional brain mapping with magnetic resonance imaging. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 89(13), 5951–5955. doi:10.1073/pnas.89.13.5951
- Oosterhof, N. N., Tipper, S. P., & Downing, P. E. (2012). Viewpoint (in)dependence of action representations: an MVPA study. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 24(4), 975–89. doi:10.1162/jocn_a_00195
- Oosterhof, N. N., Tipper, S. P., & Downing, P. E. (2013). Crossmodal and action-specific: neuroimaging the human mirror neuron system. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 17(7), 311–8. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2013.04.012
- Oosterhof, N. N., Wiestler, T., Downing, P. E., & Diedrichsen, J. (2011). A comparison of volume-based and surface-based multi-voxel pattern analysis. *NeuroImage*, 56(2), 593– 600. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.04.270
- Oosterhof, N. N., Wiggett, A. J., Diedrichsen, J., Tipper, S. P., & Downing, P. E. (2010). Surface-based information mapping reveals crossmodal vision-action representations in

human parietal and occipitotemporal cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *104*(2), 1077–1089. doi:10.1152/jn.00326.2010

- Opitz, A., Legon, W., Rowlands, A., Bickel, W. K., Paulus, W., & Tyler, W. J. (2013).
 Physiological observations validate finite element models for estimating subject-specific electric field distributions induced by transcranial magnetic stimulation of the human motor cortex. *NeuroImage*, *81*, 253–264. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.04.067
- Osman, M., Bird, G., & Heyes, C. (2005). Action observation supports effector-dependent learning of finger movement sequences. *Experimental Brain Research*, *165*(1), 19–27. doi:10.1007/s00221-005-2275-0
- Oztop, E., Kawato, M., & Arbib, M. (2006). Mirror neurons and imitation: a computationally guided review. *Neural Networks : The Official Journal of the International Neural Network Society*, *19*(3), 254–71. doi:10.1016/j.neunet.2006.02.002
- Paas, F., Renkl, A., & Sweller, J. (2003). Cognitive load theory and instructional design: Recent developments. *Educational Psychologist*, 38(1), 1–4. doi:10.1207/S15326985EP3801_1
- Palmer, C. E., Bunday, K. L., Davare, M., & Kilner, J. M. (2016). A causal role for primary motor cortex in perception of observed actions. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 28(12), 2021–2029. doi:10.1162/jocn_a_01015
- Patel, R., Spreng, R. N., & Turner, G. R. (2013). Functional brain changes following cognitive and motor skills training: a quantitative meta-analysis. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 27(3), 187–99. doi:10.1177/1545968312461718
- Peeters, R., Simone, L., Nelissen, K., Fabbri-Destro, M., Vanduffel, W., Rizzolatti, G., & Orban, G. A. (2009). The representation of tool use in humans and monkeys: common and uniquely human features. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 29(37), 11523–39. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2040-09.2009
- di Pellegrino, G., Fadiga, L., Fogassi, L., Gallese, V., & Rizzolatti, G. (1992). Understanding motor events: a neurophysiological study. *Experimental Brain Research*, 91(1), 176–180. doi:10.1007/BF00230027
- Penhune, V. B., & Steele, C. J. (2012). Parallel contributions of cerebellar, striatal and M1 mechanisms to motor sequence learning. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 226(2), 579–91. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2011.09.044
- Perry, A., Troje, N. F., & Bentin, S. (2010). Exploring motor system contributions to the perception of social information: Evidence from EEG activity in the mu/alpha frequency range. *Social Neuroscience*, 5(3), 272–84. doi:10.1080/17470910903395767

- Poldrack, R. A. (2000). Imaging Brain Plasticity: Conceptual and Methodological Issues— A Theoretical Review. *NeuroImage*, *12*(1), 1–13. doi:10.1006/nimg.2000.0596
- Poldrack, R. A., Sabb, F. W., Foerde, K., Tom, S. M., Asarnow, R. F., Bookheimer, S. Y., & Knowlton, B. J. (2005). The neural correlates of motor skill automaticity. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(22), 5356–64. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3880-04.2005
- Poropat, A. E. (2009). A meta-analysis of the five-factor model of personality and academic performance. *Psychological Bulletin*, 135(2), 322–338. doi:10.1037/a0014996
- Press, C., Heyes, C., & Kilner, J. M. (2011). Learning to understand others' actions. *Biology Letters*, 7(3), 457–60. doi:10.1098/rsbl.2010.0850
- Preston, S. D., & de Waal, F. B. M. (2001). Empathy: Its ultimate and proximate bases. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 25(1), 1–71. doi:10.1017/S0140525X02000018
- Prinz, W. (1997). Perception and action planning. *European Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 9(2), 129–154. doi:10.1080/713752551
- Pulvermüller, F., Moseley, R. L., Egorova, N., Shebani, Z., & Boulenger, V. (2013). Motor cognition-motor semantics: Action perception theory of cognition and communication. *Neuropsychologia*, 55, 71–84. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2013.12.002
- Ramsey, R., & Hamilton, A. F. de C. (2010). Triangles have goals too: Understanding action representation in left aIPS. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(9), 2773–2776. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.04.028
- Raskin, R., & Terry, H. (1988). A principal-components analysis of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory and further evidence of its construct validity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54(5), 890–902.
- Reber, A. S., Walkenfeld, F. F., & Hernstadt, R. (1991). Implicit and explicit learning: Individual differences and IQ. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 17(5), 888–896. doi:10.1037/0278-7393.17.5.888
- Reis, J., & Fritsch, B. (2011). Modulation of motor performance and motor learning by transcranial direct current stimulation. *Current Opinion in Neurology*, 24(6), 590–596. doi:10.1097/WCO.0b013e32834c3db0
- Reis, J., Schambra, H. M., Cohen, L. G., Buch, E. R., Fritsch, B., Zarahn, E., ... Krakauer, J. W. (2009). Noninvasive cortical stimulation enhances motor skill acquisition over multiple days through an effect on consolidation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(5), 1590–1595. doi:10.1073/pnas.0805413106

Rhodes, B. J., Bullock, D., Verwey, W. B., Averbeck, B. B., & Page, M. P. a. (2004).

Learning and production of movement sequences: Behavioral, neurophysiological, and modeling perspectives. *Human Movement Science*, *23*(5), 699–746. doi:10.1016/j.humov.2004.10.008

- Rioult-Pedotti, M. S., Friedman, D., & Donoghue, J. P. (2000). Learning-induced LTP in neocortex. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 290(5491), 533–536. doi:10.1126/science.290.5491.533
- Rizzolatti, G., Cattaneo, L., Fabbri-Destro, M., & Rozzi, S. (2014). Cortical mechanisms underlying the organization of goal-directed actions and mirror neuron-based action understanding. *Physiological Reviews*, 94(2), 655–706. doi:10.1152/physrev.00009.2013
- Rizzolatti, G., & Craighero, L. (2004). The mirror-neuron system. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 27, 169–92. doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.27.070203.144230
- Rizzolatti, G., Fadiga, L., Gallese, V., & Fogassi, L. (1996). Premotor cortex and the recognition of motor actions. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 3(2), 131–141. doi:10.1016/0926-6410(95)00038-0
- Rizzolatti, G., & Sinigaglia, C. (2010). The functional role of the parieto-frontal mirror circuit: interpretations and misinterpretations. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 11(4), 264–274. doi:10.1038/nrn2805
- Rohbanfard, H., & Proteau, L. (2013). Live vs. video presentation techniques in the observational learning of motor skills. *Trends in Neuroscience and Education*, 2(1), 27–32. doi:10.1016/j.tine.2012.11.001
- Rosenbaum, D. A., Cohen, R. G., Jax, S. A., Weiss, D. J., & van der Wel, R. (2007). The problem of serial order in behavior: Lashley's legacy. *Human Movement Science*, 26(4), 525–554. doi:10.1016/j.humov.2007.04.001
- Rothi, L. J., Heilman, K. M., & Watson, R. T. (1985). Pantomime comprehension and ideomotor apraxia. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 48(3), 207–210. doi:10.1136/jnnp.48.3.207
- Rottschy, C., Langner, R., Dogan, I., Reetz, K., Laird, a. R., Schulz, J. B., ... Eickhoff, S. B. (2012). Modelling neural correlates of working memory: A coordinate-based meta-analysis. *NeuroImage*, 60(1), 830–846. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.11.050
- Ruben, J., Schwiemann, J., Deuchert, M., Meyer, R., Krause, T., Curio, G., ... Villringer, A. (2001). Somatotopic organization of human secondary somatosensory cortex. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*, 11(5), 463–73. doi:10.1093/cercor/11.5.463
- Ruxton, G. D., & Neuhäuser, M. (2010). When should we use one-tailed hypothesis testing? *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 1(2), 114–117. doi:10.1111/j.2041-

210X.2010.00014.x

- Saimpont, A., Mercier, C., Malouin, F., Guillot, A., Collet, C., Doyon, J., & Jackson, P. L. (2016). Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation enhances the effects of motor imagery training in a finger tapping task. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 43(1), 113–119. doi:10.1111/ejn.13122
- Sakai, K., Hikosaka, O., & Nakamura, K. (2004). Emergence of rhythm during motor learning. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 8(12), 547–553. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2004.10.005
- Sakreida, K., Higuchi, S., Di Dio, C., Ziessler, M., Turgeon, M., Roberts, N., & Vogt, S. (2017). Cognitive control structures in the imitation learning of spatial sequences and rhythms-An fMRI study. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*, (January), 1–17. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhw414
- Sanes, J. N., & Donoghue, J. P. (2000). Plasticity and primary motor cortex. *Annual Review* of *Neuroscience*, 23, 393–415. doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.23.1.393
- Saucedo Marquez, C. M., Zhang, X., Swinnen, S. P., Meesen, R., & Wenderoth, N. (2013). Task-specific effect of transcranial direct current stimulation on motor learning. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7(July), 333. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00333
- Schmidt, R. A., & Lee, T. D. (2011). Methodology for Studying Motor Performance. In *Motor Control and Learning: A Behavioral Emphasis* (5th ed., pp. 21–56). Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Schmitt, D. P., Realo, A., Allik, J., & Voracek, M. (2008). Why can't a man be more like a woman? Sex differences in Big Five personality traits across 55 cultures. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 94(1), 168–82. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.94.1.168
- Schwarz, G. (1978). Estimating the dimension of a model. *The Annals of Statistics*, 6(2), 461–464. doi:10.1214/aos/1176344136
- Sehm, B., Kipping, J., Schäfer, A., Villringer, A., & Ragert, P. (2013). A comparison between uni- and bilateral tDCS effects on functional connectivity of the human motor cortex. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7, 183. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00183
- Seidler, R. D., Bo, J., & Anguera, J. A. (2012). Neurocognitive contributions to motor skill learning: the role of working memory. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, 44(6), 445–53. doi:10.1080/00222895.2012.672348
- Serrien, D. J., Ivry, R. B., & Swinnen, S. P. (2007). The missing link between action and cognition. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 82(2), 95–107. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2007.02.003

Sheffield, F. D. (1961). Theoretical considerations in the learning of complex sequential tasks

from demonstration and practice. In A. A. Lumsdaine (Ed.), *Student response in programmed instruction* (pp. 13–32). Washington, DC: National Academy of Science.

- Shen, L., & Alexander, G. E. (1997). Preferential representation of instructed target location versus limb trajectory in dorsal premotor area. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 77(3), 1195–212.
- Shipstead, Z., Harrison, T. L., & Engle, R. W. (2016). Working memory capacity and fluid intelligence: Maintenance and disengagement. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *11*(6), 771–799. doi:10.1177/1745691616650647
- Singelis, T. M. (1994). The measurement of independent and interdependent self-construals. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 20(5), 580–591. doi:10.1177/0146167294205014
- Sirigu, A., Duhamel, J. R., Cohen, L., Pillon, B., Dubois, B., & Agid, Y. (1996). The mental representation of hand movements after parietal cortex damage. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 273(5281), 1564–8. doi:10.1126/science.273.5281.1564
- Solopchuk, O., Alamia, A., Olivier, E., & Zénon, A. (2016). Chunking improves symbolic sequence processing and relies on working memory gating mechanisms. *Learning & Memory*, 23(3), 108–112. doi:10.1101/lm.041277.115
- Spampinato, D., & Celnik, P. (2017). Temporal dynamics of cerebellar and motor cortex physiological processes during motor skill learning. *Scientific Reports*, 7(December 2016), 40715. doi:10.1038/srep40715
- Stagg, C. J., Jayaram, G., Pastor, D., Kincses, Z. T., Matthews, P. M., & Johansen-Berg, H. (2011). Polarity and timing-dependent effects of transcranial direct current stimulation in explicit motor learning. *Neuropsychologia*, 49(5), 800–804. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2011.02.009
- Stagg, C. J., & Nitsche, M. A. (2011). Physiological basis of transcranial direct current stimulation. *Neuroscientist*, 17(1), 37–53. doi:10.1177/1073858410386614
- Stefan, K. (2005). Formation of a motor memory by action observation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *25*(41), 9339–9346. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2282-05.2005
- Taoka, M., Tanaka, M., Hihara, S., Ojima, H., & Iriki, A. (2013). Neural response to movement of the hand and mouth in the secondary somatosensory cortex of Japanese monkeys during a simple feeding task. *Somatosensory & Motor Research*, 30(3), 140– 152. doi:10.3109/08990220.2013.779246
- Tkach, D., Reimer, J., & Hatsopoulos, N. G. (2007). Congruent activity during action and action observation in motor cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(48), 13241–13250.

doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2895-07.2007

- Torriero, S., Oliveri, M., Koch, G., Lo Gerfo, E., Salerno, S., Ferlazzo, F., ... Petrosini, L. (2011). Changes in cerebello-motor connectivity during procedural learning by actual execution and observation. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 23(2), 338–48. doi:10.1162/jocn.2010.21471
- Tremblay, S., Larochelle-Brunet, F., Lafleur, L.-P., El Mouderrib, S., Lepage, J.-F., & Théoret, H. (2016). Systematic assessment of duration and intensity of anodal transcranial direct current stimulation on primary motor cortex excitability. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 44(5), 2184–2190. doi:10.1111/ejn.13321
- Unsworth, N., & Engle, R. W. (2005). Individual differences in working memory capacity and learning: evidence from the serial reaction time task. *Memory & Cognition*, *33*(2), 213–220. doi:10.3758/BF03195310
- Valyear, K. F., & Frey, S. H. (2015). Human posterior parietal cortex mediates hand-specific planning. *NeuroImage*, 114, 226–238. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.03.058
- Vannuscorps, G., & Caramazza, A. (2016). Typical action perception and interpretation without motor simulation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(1), 86–91. doi:10.1073/pnas.1516978112
- Vermetten, Y. J., Lodewijks, H. G., & Vermunt, J. D. (2001). The role of personality traits and goal orientations in strategy use. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 26(2), 149–170. doi:10.1006/ceps.1999.1042
- Verwey, W. B. (1996). Buffer loading and chunking in sequential keypressing. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 22(3), 544–562. doi:10.1037/0096-1523.22.3.544
- Verwey, W. B., & Abrahamse, E. L. (2012). Distinct modes of executing movement sequences: reacting, associating, and chunking. *Acta Psychologica*, 140(3), 274–82. doi:10.1016/j.actpsy.2012.05.007
- Verwey, W. B., Shea, C. H., & Wright, D. L. (2015). A cognitive framework for explaining serial processing and sequence execution strategies. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 22(1), 54–77. doi:10.3758/s13423-014-0773-4
- Vines, B. W., Cerruti, C., & Schlaug, G. (2008). Dual-hemisphere tDCS facilitates greater improvements for healthy subjects' non-dominant hand compared to uni-hemisphere stimulation. *BMC Neuroscience*, 9, 103. doi:10.1186/1471-2202-9-103
- Vogt, S. (1995). On relations between perceiving, imagining and performing in the learning of cyclical movement sequences. *British Journal of Psychology (London, England :*

1953), 86 (Pt 2), 191–216.

- Vogt, S. (1996). Imagery and perception-action mediation in imitative actions. *Cognitive Brain Research*, *3*(2), 79–86. doi:10.1016/0926-6410(95)00032-1
- Vogt, S., Rienzo, F. Di, Collet, C., Collins, A., & Guillot, A. (2013). Multiple roles of motor imagery during action observation. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7(November), 807. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00807
- Vogt, S., & Thomaschke, R. (2007). From visuo-motor interactions to imitation learning: behavioural and brain imaging studies. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 25(5), 497–517. doi:10.1080/02640410600946779
- Wahnoun, R., He, J., & Tillery, S. I. H. (2006). Selection and parameterization of cortical neurons for neuroprosthetic control. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 3(2), 162–171. doi:10.1088/1741-2560/3/2/010
- Walther, A., Nili, H., Ejaz, N., Alink, A., Kriegeskorte, N., & Diedrichsen, J. (2016).
 Reliability of dissimilarity measures for multi-voxel pattern analysis. *NeuroImage*, *137*, 188–200. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.12.012
- Wang, T., Ren, X., & Schweizer, K. (2017). Learning and retrieval processes predict fluid intelligence over and above working memory. *Intelligence*, 61, 29–36. doi:10.1016/j.intell.2016.12.005
- Waters-Metenier, S., Husain, M., Wiestler, T., & Diedrichsen, J. (2014). Bihemispheric transcranial direct current stimulation enhances effector-independent representations of motor synergy and sequence learning. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 34(3), 1037–50. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2282-13.2014
- Van Der Werf, Y. D., Van Der Helm, E., Schoonheim, M. M., Ridderikhoff, A., & Van Someren, E. J. W. (2009). Learning by observation requires an early sleep window. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(45), 18926–18930. doi:10.1073/pnas.0901320106
- Wiestler, T., & Diedrichsen, J. (2013). Skill learning strengthens cortical representations of motor sequences. *eLife*, 2, e00801. doi:10.7554/eLife.00801
- Wiestler, T., Waters-Metenier, S., & Diedrichsen, J. (2014). Effector-independent motor sequence representations exist in extrinsic and intrinsic reference frames. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 34(14), 5054–64. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5363-13.2014

Wolpert, D. M., & Ghahramani, Z. (2000). Computational principles of movement

neuroscience. Nature Neuroscience, 3 Suppl(Supp), 1212-7. doi:10.1038/81497

- Wolpert, D. M., Ghahramani, Z., & Flanagan, J. R. (2001). Perspectives and problems in motor learning. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 5(11), 487–494. doi:10.1016/S1364-6613(00)01773-3
- Wolpert, D. M., Ghahramani, Z., & Jordan, M. I. (1995). An internal model for sensorimotor integration. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 269(5232), 1880–2.
- Wong, A. L., Lindquist, M. A., Haith, A. M., & Krakauer, J. W. (2015). Explicit knowledge enhances motor vigor and performance: motivation versus practice in sequence tasks. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 114(1), 219–232. doi:10.1152/jn.00218.2015
- Woods, A. J., Antal, A., Bikson, M., Boggio, P. S., Brunoni, A. R., Celnik, P., ... Nitsche, M.
 A. (2015). A technical guide to tDCS, and related non-invasive brain stimulation tools. *Clinical Neurophysiology*. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2015.11.012
- Wu, T., Chan, P., & Hallett, M. (2008). Modifications of the interactions in the motor networks when a movement becomes automatic. *The Journal of Physiology*, 586(17), 4295–4304. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2008.153445
- Wulf, G., & Prinz, W. (2001). Directing attention to movement effects enhances learning: a review. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 8(4), 648–60. doi:10.3758/BF03196201
- Wurm, M. F., & Lingnau, A. (2015). Decoding actions at different levels of abstraction. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 35(20), 7727–35. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0188-15.2015
- Wymbs, N. F., Bassett, D. S., Mucha, P. J., Porter, M. A., & Grafton, S. T. (2012).
 Differential recruitment of the sensorimotor putamen and frontoparietal cortex during motor chunking in humans. *Neuron*, 74(5), 936–46. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2012.03.038
- Yousry, T. A., Schmid, U. D., Alkadhi, H., Schmidt, D., Peraud, A., Buettner, A., & Winkler,
 P. (1997). Localization of the motor hand area to a knob on the precentral gyrus. A new landmark. *Brain*, *120*(1), 141–157. doi:10.1093/brain/120.1.141
- Yutaka, O. (2013). Applications of observational learning in neurorehabilitation. International Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation, 1(5), 1–6. doi:10.4172/2329-9096.1000146

Appendices

Appendix 3.1 Experimental procedure

Day 1

- Meeting and greeting
- Brief verbal information about the study and procedures
- Participant
 - reads Information Sheet
 - signs Consent Form
 - fills TMS screening

Right M1 localising with TMS on the 4th floor

• Participant fills the tES screening

Disconnect the 'normal' keyboard! Leave only the red-key keyboard before starting MATLAB. Start MATLAB. Command: Day1

- enter participant's PSU code and other details. If participant does not have a psu code, then first part of
 the email. Some participants already have their details from a previous study. Check whether they are
 correct.
- Explain the finger tapping task
 - participant does the familiarisation and Pre-Test of 8 sequences
- Explain the watching task
 - participant sees an example

tDCS setup

Press any key on the keyboard to start the 20min watching task and start the stimulation
 Participant does the task and receives stimulation

At the end

• Participant fills Sensations Questionnaire

Day 2 - Day 4

Participant fills tES screening

Disconnect the 'normal' keyboard! Leave only the red-key keyboard before starting MATLAB. Start MATLAB. Command: TR

· Enter psu code (or email part) and check if details are correct

tDCS setup

Press any key on the keyboard to start the 20min watching task and start the stimulation

 Participant does the task and receives stimulation

At the end

• Participant fills Sensations Questionnaire

Day 5

Disconnect the 'normal' keyboard! Leave only the red-key keyboard before starting MATLAB. Start MATLAB. Command: Post

Enter psu code (or email part) and check if details are correct

 participant does Post-Test of 8 sequences

A week later (Day 12)

Disconnect the 'normal' keyboard! Leave only the red-key keyboard before starting MATLAB. Start MATLAB. Command: Retention

- Enter psu code (or email part) and check if details are correct
 - participant does Retention-Test of 8 sequences
- Debrief

Appendix 3.2 Results without and with the nine non-TMS localised participants

Observational practice effects and tDCS effects on sequence-specific learning with nine non-TMS
localised participants excluded. For comparison of results with all 50 participants, see the table below (a
copy of the Table 3 from the main text).

•		Observational training effect (trained vs. untrained performance)		tDCS effect	tDCS effect, accounted for the accuracy		
		Sham (N = 15)	Active (N = 26)	(group difference)	during training sessions		
Initiation time	Post	$\begin{array}{l} t_{13}=1.95,p=0.073,\\ B_{0}=11\%,d_{z}=0.50. \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{24}=4.02,p<0.001,\\ B_{0}=24\%,d_{z}=0.79. \end{array}$	$t_{38} = 1.50, p = 0.141, d = 0.49,$ anecdotal evidence against the effect $(BF_{10}/BF_{01} = 0.76/1.31).$	$t_{37} = 2.69, p = 0.011, d = 0.89,$ substantial evidence for the effect $(BF_{10}/BF_{01} = 3.44/0.29).$		
	Ret.	$\begin{array}{l} t_{13}=2.67,p=0.019,\\ B_{0}=25\%,d_{z}=0.69. \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{24}=2.87,p=0.008,\\ B_{0}=21\%,d_{z}=0.56. \end{array}$	$t_{38} = -0.35, p = 0.729,$ substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.33/3.00).	$\label{eq:t37} \begin{split} t_{37} &= -0.29, p = 0.773, anecdotal \\ evidence against the effect \\ (BF_{10}/BF_{01} = 0.34/2.97). \end{split}$		
on time	Post	$\begin{array}{l} t_{13}=2.42,p=0.031,\\ B_{0}=10\%,d_{z}=0.62. \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{24}=4.75,p<0.001,\\ B_{0}=14\%,d_{z}=0.93. \end{array}$	$t_{38} = 0.16, p = 0.876,$ substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.31/3.18).	$t_{37} = -0.07, p = 0.943, substantial evidence against the effect (BF_{10}/BF_{01} = 0.32/3.16).$		
Executio	Ret.	$\begin{array}{l} t_{13}=2.40,p=0.032,\\ B_{0}=9\%,d_{z}=0.62. \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{24}=3.99,p=0.001,\\ B_{0}=10\%,d_{z}=0.78. \end{array}$	$t_{38} = -0.47, p = 0.64,$ anecdotal evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.35/2.84).	$\label{eq:t37} \begin{split} t_{37} &= -0.42, p = 0.678, anecdotal \\ evidence against the effect \\ (BF_{10}/BF_{01} = 0.35/2.82). \end{split}$		
Error rate	Post	$\begin{split} t_{13} &= 1.90, p = 0.079, \\ B_0 &= 6\%, d_z = 0.49. \end{split}$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{24}=2.89,p=0.008,\\ B_{0}=9\%,d_{z}=0.57. \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{38}=0.69,p=0.497,\\ \text{anecdotal evidence against the}\\ \text{effect}\\ (BF_{10}/BF_{01}=0.38/2.63). \end{array}$	$t_{37} = 0.43, p = 0.667,$ anecdotal evidence against the effect $(BF_{10}/BF_{01} = 0.36/2.82).$		
	Ret.	$\label{eq:t13} \begin{split} t_{13} &= 2.13, p = 0.053, \\ B_0 &= 8\%, d_z = 0.55. \end{split}$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{24}=1.45,p=0.161,\\ B_{0}=4\%,d_{z}=0.28. \end{array}$	$t_{38} = -0.72, p = 0.476,$ anecdotal evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.38/2.61).	$t_{37} = -1.00, p = 0.322, anecdotal evidence against the effect (BF_{10}/BF_{01} = 0.46/2.20).$		
Shaded fields highlight non-significant effects.							

Observational practice effects and tDCS effects on sequence-specific learning with all 50 participants

		Observational training effect (trained vs. untrained performance)		tDCS effect	tDCS effect, accounted for the accuracy		
		Sham (N = 24)	Active (N = 26)	(group unterence)	during training sessions		
on time	Post	$\begin{array}{l} t_{22}=2.65,p=0.015,\\ B_{0}=13\%,d_{z}=0.54. \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{24}=4.02,p<0.001,\\ B_{0}=24\%,d_{z}=0.79. \end{array}$	$t_{47} = 1.50, p = 0.141, d = 0.44,$ anecdotal evidence against the effect $(BF_{10}/BF_{01} = 0.70/1.43).$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{46} = 2.48, p = 0.017, d = 0.73, \\ \text{anecdotal evidence for the effect} \\ (BF_{10}/BF_{01} = 2.41/0.41). \end{array}$		
Initiati	Ret.	$\begin{array}{l} t_{22}=3.21,p=0.004,\\ B_{0}=21\%,d_{z}=0.66. \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{24}=2.87,p=0.008,\\ B_{0}=21\%,d_{z}=0.56. \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{47}=0.05,p=0.961,\\ \text{substantial evidence against the}\\ \text{effect}\\ (BF_{10}/BF_{01}=0.29/3.49). \end{array}$	$t_{46} = 0.01, p = 0.992,$ substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.29/3.45).		
Error rate Execution time	Post	$\begin{array}{l} t_{22}=5.02,p<0.001,\\ B_{0}=15\%,d_{z}=1.02. \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{24} = 4.75, p < 0.001, \\ B_0 = 14\%, d_z = 0.93. \end{array}$	$t_{47} = -0.37$, p = 0.710, substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.30/3.31).	$t_{46} = -0.49, p = 0.624,$ substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.31/3.20).		
	Ret.	$\label{eq:t22} \begin{split} t_{22} &= 4.02, p = 0.001, \\ B_0 &= 10\%, d_z = 0.82. \end{split}$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{24}=3.99,p=0.001,\\ B_{0}=10\%,d_{z}=0.78. \end{array}$	$t_{47} = -0.06, p = 0.950,$ substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.28/3.55).	$t_{46} = -0.02, p = 0.984,$ substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.29/3.43).		
	Post	$\begin{array}{l} t_{22}=2.56,p=0.018,\\ B_{0}=7\%,d_{z}=0.52. \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{24}=2.89,p=0.008,\\ B_{0}=9\%,d_{z}=0.57. \end{array}$	$t_{47} = 0.47, p = 0.644,$ substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.31/3.20).	$t_{46} = 0.20, p = 0.845,$ substantial evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.31/3.28).		
	Ret.	$\begin{array}{l} t_{22}=2.99,p=0.007,\\ B_{0}=7\%,d_{z}=0.61. \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} t_{24}=1.45,p=0.161,\\ B_{0}=4\%,d_{z}=0.28. \end{array}$	$\label{eq:t47} \begin{array}{l} t_{47} = -0.81, \ p = 0.420, \\ \text{anecdotal evidence against the} \\ \text{effect} \\ (BF_{10}/BF_{01} = 0.37/2.71). \end{array}$	$t_{46} = -1.05, p = 0.298,$ anecdotal evidence against the effect (BF ₁₀ /BF ₀₁ = 0.44/2.27).		
Shaded fields highlight non-significant effects.							

TO BE ADMINISTERED DURING/FOLLOWING EACH TES STIMULATION SESSION tES Sensations Questionnaire – Part A							
Subject Code:	Researcher:		Dat	e:			
Experiment:			Ses	sion No:			
Did you experience any discon questions regarding the differe following scale:	nfort or annoyance during ent sensations and indicate	the electrical the degree	l stimulation? P of intensity of y	lease answer the fol our discomfort acco	llowing ording to the		
 <u>None</u> = I did not feel the described sensation (0) <u>Mild</u> = I mildly felt the described sensation (1) <u>Moderate</u> = I felt the described sensation (2) <u>Considerable</u> = I felt the described sensation to a considerable degree (3) <u>Strong</u> = I strongly felt the described sensation (4) 							
Itching: Pain: Burning: Warmth/Heat: Pinching: Metallic/Iron Taste: Fatigue: Other:	 None 	Mild Mild Mild Mild Mild Mild Mild Mild	 Moderate 	 Considerable Considerable Considerable Considerable Considerable Considerable Considerable Considerable Considerable 	 Strong Strong Strong Strong Strong Strong Strong Strong Strong 		
When did the discomfort begi	n?						
□ At the beginning of the blo	At the beginning of the block At approximately the middle of the Towards the end of the block block			f the			
How long did the discomfort last? It stopped quickly It stopped in the middle of the block It stopped quickly It stopped in the middle of the block					nd of the		
How much did these sensation	ns affect your performanc ghtly	e? iderably	Much	🗌 Very m	nuch		
Identify if these sensations we On the head:	ere located over the head	or in a differ	ent location:				
□ Other:							

If you like to provide more details, please briefly describe the sensation in relation to 'Fatigue' or 'Other':

Adapted from: A. Fertonani, C. Ferrari & C. Miniussi. (2015). What do you feel if I apply transcranial electric stimulation? Safety, Sensations and Secondary Induced Effects. *Clinical Neurophysiology, 126,* 2181-2188. doi: 10.1016.j.clinph.2015.03.015



Appendix 4.1 Model rankings





129
Appendix 4.2 Fluid intelligence and working memory as predictors of perceptual improvements (from run 1 to run 4)



Perceptual improvement predictors

Perceptual improvement regression analysis summary

	Run4 – Run1 accuracy		
Model	$F_{3,88} = 51.03, p < 0.0001, R^2 = 0.623$		
Coefficients	β [95% CI]	t	р
Intercept	0	0	1
Run1 accuracy	-0.842 [-0.979, -0.706]	-12.269	< 0.0001
Fluid intelligence	0.124 [-0.024, 0.273]	1.670	0.098
Working memory	0.131 [-0.013, 0.275]	1.815	0.073



